## THE GENETICS OF OSTEOLYSIS AND HETEROTOPIC OSSIFICATION AFTER TOTAL HIP ARTHROPLASTY

ΒY

### SCOTT JOHN MACINNES

### THESIS

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

### Doctor of Philosophy

October 2016

Registration Number: 090268289

University of Sheffield

School of Medicine

Sheffield, United Kingdom

## STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge, the content of this thesis is my own work. This thesis has not previously been submitted for any degree or other purposes.

I declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work and that all the assistance received in preparing this thesis and sources have been acknowledged.

### STATEMENT OF ATTRIBUTION

Subject recruitment and DNA extraction had been carried out for the candidate gene study described in chapter 4 prior to the commencement of my PhD candidature, my contribution to this study involved: 1. Processing of the stored DNA samples for genotyping; 2. Use of haploview software and HapMap to establish tagging SNP lists; 3. Generation of FASTA files; 4. Association analyses and meta-analyses.

My contribution to the HO GWAS described in chapter 5 included: 1. Subject recruitment; 2. DNA extraction and processing for genotyping; 3. Radiographic evaluation for case/control characterisation and HO grading in the cases; 4 Post-genotyping quality control measures and association analyses which involved learning to write UNIX command lines and shell scripts; 5. Filtering of analyses output files and identification and collation of signals.

Recruitment for the whole genome replication cohort described in chapter 6 commenced prior to starting my PhD candidature, however I was involved in the recruitment process. This involved visiting the Norwegian Arthroplasty Registry on several occasions. I was personally involved in the mailing out of invites and saliva samples/documentation to those agreeing to participate. I also helped co-ordinate the recruitment at various time points throughout the recruitment process. I was involved in the extraction of DNA from saliva samples however three-quarters of the samples were extracted and quantitated by a colleague who I trained in these processes and supervised throughout. All data analysis was carried out myself.

My contribution to the osteolysis GWAS described in chapter 7 included: 1. Subject recruitment in both discovery and replication cohorts; 2. DNA extraction and processing for genotyping; 3. Radiographic evaluation for case/control characterisation and polyethylene wear measurements using EBRA software; 4. Post-genotyping quality control measures and whole genome association analyses using UNIX command lines and shell scripts; 5. Filtering of analyses output files and identification and collation of signals; 6. Replication SNP selection; 7. Replication association analyses and meta-analyses.

3

## DEDICATION

To my wife Chloe and to my children Alexander, William and Anna who I now promise to spend more time with.

To my mother, Jacqueline MacInnes, who passed away this year and would have been so pleased and proud that I have completed this thesis "I'm hoping that these next 20 years will show what we did 20 years ago in sequencing the first human genome, was the beginning of the health revolution that will have more positive impact on people's lives than any other health event in history"

J. Craig Venter, Human Genome Project, 2015.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge and give my sincerest thanks to the following people for their contributions towards this thesis:

- First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Mark Wilkinson for his continued support and guidance but above all his patience throughout my PhD candidature.
- The NIHR Bone Biomedical Research Unit and Academic Unit of Bone Metabolism for affording me the opportunity to carry out this research and providing funding.
- Professor Richard Eastell, Dr Jenny Walsh, Dr Nicky Peel, Professor Eugene McCloskey for their teaching in bone metabolism.
- Professor Ove Furness, Anne Marie Fenstad and the staff at the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register for all their expertise, funding and hard work in Norwegian subject recruitment.
- Staff at the Academic Unit of Bone Metabolism for their help in local subject recruitment (mail outs of invites and saliva kits).
- Fatma Gossiel for her help and advice in the use and ordering of laboratory equipment and Dr Kim Naylor for her help with sample storage in the Sheffield musculoskeletal biobank.

- Centre for Integrated Genomic Medical Research, University of Manchester for providing me with training in DNA extraction.
- Alexander Michael and Karan Shah who undertook the majority of the DNA extraction and quantitation for the osteolysis and HO GWAS.
- Dr Ele Zeggini, Kallia Panoutsopoulou, Lorraine Southam and Kostas Hatzikotoulas for their extensive guidance with UNIX command lines and shell script writing while I was undertaking the genomic analyses.
- Mr Andrew Gordon for his training in the use of HapMap, Haploview and the generation of FASTA files
- Finally, I would like to give my sincerest gratitude to all the patients who were kind enough to give up their time to participate in these studies

## PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

### **Publications**

MacInnes SJ, Del Vescovo E, Kiss-Toth E, Ollier WE, Kay PR, Gordon A, Greenfield EM, Wilkinson MJ. Genetic variation in inflammatory and bone turnover pathways and risk of osteolytic responses to prosthetic materials. J Orthop Res. 2015 Feb;33(2):193-8. (This paper was awarded Editor's pick).

S.J. MacInnes, A. Gordon, J.M. Wilkinson (January 2012). *Risk Factors for Aseptic Loosening Following Total Hip Arthroplasty*. Recent Advances in Arthroplasty. Intech. 275 – 294. ISBN 978-953-307-990-

#### Presentations

#### International

MacInnes, SJ; Fenstad, AM; Panoutsopoulou, K; Southam, L; Hallan, G; Dale, H; Furnes, O; Zeggini, E; Wilkinson, JM. *A Genome-Wide Association Study of Osteolysis Following Total Hip Arthroplasty.* Late Breaking Poster presentation at the Orthopaedic Research Society meeting, Las Vegas, 2015.

MacInnes, SJ; Panoutsopoulou, K; Southam, L; Zeggini, E; Wilkinson, JM. *A Whole Genome Association Study of Heterotopic Ossification Following Total Hip Arthroplasty.* Late Breaking Poster presentation at the Orthopaedic Research Society meeting, Las Vegas, 2015.

MacInnes SJ. *Current concepts in the genetic association of implant failure*. This was an invited podium presentation at the EFORT meeting, London, June 2014.

MacInnes, SJ; Fenstad, AM; Michael, A; Buckle, C; Furnes, O; Hallan, G; Havelin, L; Fevang, BT; Dale, H; Høl, PJ; Wilkinson, JM. *Using a National Joint Register Dataset and Postal Methodology to Develop a Large DNA Archive for Musculoskeletal Disease.* Poster presentation at the Orthopaedic Research Society Meeting, New Orleans, March 2014.

Scott J. MacInnes, Alexander Michael, Anne M. Fenstad, Ove Furnes, Geir Hallan, Leif I. Havelin, Bjørg-Tilde Fevang, Håvard Dale, Paul Johan Høl ,J Mark Wilkinson. *Quality and Quantity of DNA Obtained by Postal Collection from Participants in the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register.* Poster presented at the International Congress of Arthroplasty Registries, June 2013.

Anne M. Fenstad, Ove Furnes, Geir Hallan, Leif I. Havelin, Bjørg-Tilde Fevang, Håvard Dale, Paul Johan Hø<sup>2</sup>, Scott J. Macinnes, J. Mark Wilkinson. *Using the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register to Generate a DNA Biobank.* Podium presentation to the International Congress of Arthroplasty Registries, June 2013.

MacInnes SJ, Del Vescovo E, Gordon A, Wilkinson JM. *Genetic Variation in Inflammasome and Bone Turnover Pathways and Risk of Heterotopic Ossification following Total Hip Arthroplasty.* Poster presented at the Orthopaedic Research Society meeting, San Francisco, Feb 2012.

Del Vescovo E, MacInnes SJ, Ollier WER, Kay P, Gordon A, Greenfield EM, Wilkinson JM. *Genetic Variation in Inflammasome and Bone Turnover Pathways and Risk of Osteolysis following Total Hip Arthroplasty*. Poster presented at the Orthopaedic Research Society meeting, San Francisco, Feb 2012.

#### National

MacInnes, SJ; Fenstad, AM; Panoutsopoulou, K; Southam, L; Hallan, G; Dale, H; Furnes, O; Zeggini, E; Wilkinson, JM. *A Genome-Wide Association Study of Osteolysis Following Total Hip Arthroplasty.* Podium presentation at BORS session at British Hip Society Annual meeting, London, 2015.

9

MacInnes, SJ; Panoutsopoulou, K; Southam, L; Zeggini, E; Wilkinson, JM. A Whole Genome Association Study of Heterotopic Ossification Following Total Hip Arthroplasty. Poster presentation at British Hip Society Meeting, London, 2015.

MacInnes SJ, Del Vescovo E, Gordon A, Wilkinson JM. *Genetic Variation in Inflammasome and Bone Turnover Pathways and Risk of Heterotopic Ossification following Total Hip Arthroplasty.* Presented at the British Hip Society Meeting, Manchester, March 2012.

### Prizes

Journal of Orthopaedic Research Editor's pick: MacInnes SJ, Del Vescovo E, Kiss-Toth E, Ollier WE, Kay PR, Gordon A, Greenfield EM, Wilkinson MJ*Genetic Variation in Inflammatory and Bone Turnover Pathway and Risk of Osteolytic Responses to Prosthetic Materials, J Orthop Res* 2015 Feb;33(2):193-8

Poster Presentations Highlight: *A Whole Genome Study of Heterotopic Ossification Following Total Hip Arthroplasty,* British Hip Society Annual Meeting, London, March 2015

Getty Plate for 1<sup>st</sup> prize oral presentation: *A Whole Genome Study of Heterotopic Ossification Following Total Hip Arthroplasty,* South Yorkshire Orthopaedic Registrars day, July 2015

3<sup>rd</sup> Prize Winner 3rd Year Oral Presentations: *A Genome Wide Association Study of Osteolysis Following Total Hip Arthroplasty*, University of Sheffield 13 July, 2015

## ABSTRACT

Aseptic loosening, the clinical end point of osteolysis, is the most common complication resulting in revision surgery of total hip arthroplasty (THA). It is the result of focal peri-prosthetic inflammatory bone loss at the prosthesis-host interface, and is driven by particulate wear debris generated primarily at the articular bearing surface. There is variation between individuals in their inflammatory response to wear debris suggesting a genetic component. Candidate gene studies have shown that susceptibility to osteolysis associates with polymorphic variation in genes encoding several inflammatory cytokines and bone regulatory molecules. Better understanding of the genetic component is required to address the pathogenesis of aseptic loosening. Advances in high throughput genotyping and mapping of genomic variation has made it possible to examine common genetic variation or quantitative traits as possible risk factors of disease through genome wide association studies (GWAS).

This thesis which forms my PhD candidature, describes several studies undertaken to understand the biological processes contributing to osteolysis. We have followed the advances in genotyping and bioinformatics progressing from a candidate gene study to undertaking whole genome analysis.

We describe the largest candidate gene study to date looking at tagging SNPs in genes thought to play important roles in bone turnover and inflammatory pathways. We have undertaken the first GWAS for osteolysis susceptibility and time to prosthesis failure following THA in over 3,700 patients. During the recruitment process of the replication cohort from the Norwegian arthroplasty register we have proved the feasibility of using such registries for recruitment to answer research questions and establish linked biobanks for the study of musculoskeletal disease.

Heterotopic ossification is also a common complication following THA and similarly its pathogenesis is poorly understood. We also describe a GWAS looking for variants associated with the development of HO and its severity following THA.

11

## CONTENTS

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY	2	
STATEMENT OF ATTRIBUTION	3	
DEDICATION		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6	
PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS	8	
Publications	8	
Presentations	8	
International	8	
National	9	
Prizes		
ABSTRACT		
CONTENTS		
FIGURES		
TABLES		
ABBREVIATIONS		
CHAPTER 1		
INTRODUCTION	27	
1.1 Overview	27	
1.2 Bone		
1.2.1 Function		
1.2.2 Cells and Matrix		
The osteoblast		
The osteocyte		
The osteoclast		
Bone extracellular matrix		

1.3	Bor	ne modelling and remodelling	31
1.	3.1	Molecular control of bone remodelling	34
1.	3.2	Biomechanical control of bone remodelling	37
1.	3.3	Bone loss after THA	38
1.4	Ost	eolysis	40
1.	4.1	Impact of osteolysis	40
•••			42
1.	4.2	Pathophysiology of Osteolysis	42
1.	4.3	The Biology of Osteolysis	43
	The F	ibrous membrane	43
	Moleo	cular signalling pathways involved in osteolysis	43
	The ir	nflammasome	44
	The ir	nflammasome in osteolysis	44
	Ostec	oclast activation	45
	The ir	ndirect pathway	45
	The d	lirect pathway	46
	Varia	bility in subject responses to wear debris	47
1.5	Het	erotopic ossification	48
1.	5.1	The clinical impact of heterotopic ossification	48
1.	5.2	Aetiopathogenesis of heterotopic ossification	51
1.	5.3	Classification of HO following THA	53
1.6	The	e Genetic Basis of Disease	55
	1.6.1	The structure of DNA	55
1.	6.2	Genetic variation	57
	Турез	s of variation	58
	Implic	cations of genetic variation	59
1.	6.3	Genetic epidemiology	61

1	.6.4	Linkage analysis studies	63
1	.6.5	Association analysis studies	64
1	.6.6	Genome wide association studies (GWAS)	65
1	.6.7	The genetic association with osteolysis	65
1	.6.8	The genetic association with HO	67
1.7	Stu	dy Hypotheses	68
1.8	Stu	dy Aims	69
1	.8.1	Primary Aims	69
1	.8.2	Secondary Aims	69
СН	APTEI	א 2	70
ME	THOD	S	70
2.1	Ove	erview	70
2.2	Phe	enotype Definition	71
2	.2.1	Osteolysis case definition	71
2	.2.2	Prosthesis survival time	72
2	.2.3	HO Identification and grading	72
2.3	Ein	Bild Roentgen Analyse (EBRA) measurement of wear	73
2	.3.1	Principles of EBRA	73
2	.3.2	Discovery cohort wear measurements	74
2.4	DN	A Sampling	75
	2.4.1	Sources of DNA	75
2	.4.2	DNA collection	75
2	.4.3	Sample collection	76
2	.4.4	DNA extraction	77
	Equip	ment and reagents required:	77
	DNA	extraction procedure (CIGMR SOP and Oragene DNA laboratory protoc	:ol)
			77

2	2.4.5	Sample storage	80
2.5	DN	A quality control measures	80
2	2.5.1	Summary of control process	80
2	2.5.2	Visual inspection	81
2	2.5.3	Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay quality control	82
2	2.5.4	Visualisation by electrophoresis on an agarose gel	
	Princ	iples of DNA gel electrophoresis	82
	Agar	ose gel electrophoresis method:	83
	Elect	rophoresis for DNA extraction technique validation	83
2	2.5.5	DNA Quantitation	
	Princ	iples of PicoGreen quantitation	85
	Picog	preen quantitation as part of Sanger quality control measures	85
	Princ	iples of Qubit Fluorometry	85
	Qubit	<sup>™</sup> 2.0 Flourometric Quantitation method:	86
2.6	DN	A Genotyping	
2	2.6.1	Candidate gene approach	88
	SNP	Tagging	88
	FAST	A file configuration	88
	Princ	iples of KASPar assay genotyping	89
2	2.6.2	Principles of high throughput genotyping	89
2	2.6.3	Microarray chip selection	
2	2.6.4	Discovery cohort GWAS genotyping	91
	2.6.5	Replication cohort GWAS genotyping	91
2.7	Ge	enome data analysis	
2	2.7.1	PLINK	
	PED	Files	
	MAP	Files	

	PLIN	IK quality control measures	93
	Asso	ciation analyses	94
2.	7.2	GWAS Power calculation	94
2.	7.3	SNPTEST whole genome association analyses	95
	SNP	TEST	95
	Sam	ple and SNP Quality Control	95
	1000	Genome Imputation	96
	Whol	le genome association analyses	97
2.	7.4	Osteolysis replication analyses	
	Geno	ome Wide Association Meta-Analysis (GWAMA)	
CH	APTE	R 3	100
STL	JDY F	POPULATIONS	100
3.1	Ov	verview	100
3.2	Dis	scovery Population	101
3.	2.1	Inclusion criteria	101
3.	2.2	Exclusion criteria	101
3.	2.3	Case definition	102
	Oste	olysis	102
	Hete	rotopic ossification	102
3.	2.4	Control definition	102
	Oste	olysis	102
	Hete	rotopic ossification	103
3.	2.5	Subject recruitment	103
	Sheft	field Musculoskeletal Biobank Samples	103
	Sheft	field Genetic Hip Study Cohort	104
	Wrig	htington Genetic Hip Study Cohort	104
	Newl	ly recruited Subjects	105

3.2	.6	arcOGEN study population109
S	Sheffi	eld109
C	Other	centres
3.2	.7	Total recruitment for discovery cohort
3.2	.8	Post genotyping sample QC exclusions111
3.2	.9	Discussion
CHA	PTEF	R 4
GEN AND	ETIC RISH	VARIATION IN INFLAMMATORY AND BONE TURNOVER PATHWAYS
4.1	Ove	erview
4.2	Intro	oduction114
4.3	Met	hods115
4.3	.1	Discovery Cohort 115
4.3	.2	Replication Cohort 115
4.3	.3	Genotyping116
4.3	.4	Association Analysis 118
4.4	Res	sults
4.4	.1	Osteolysis Susceptibility
4.4	.2	Time to Failure
4.5	Disc	cussion
CHA	PTEF	R 5
A V Hete	VHOI ERO <sup>-</sup>	LE GENOME ASSOCIATION STUDY OF SUSCEPTIBILITY TO TOPIC OSSIFICATION FOLLOWING TOTAL HIP ARTHROPLASTY 127
5.1	Ove	erview
5.2	Intro	oduction
5.3	Sub	jects and Methods128
5.3	.1	Subject Recruitment and Phenotype Characterisation
5.3	.2	Genotyping and Association Analysis 129

5.4	Res	sults
5.4	.1	Patient characteristics
5.4	.2	HO Susceptibility Analysis130
5.4	.3	HO Severity Analysis 135
5.5	Dis	cussion
CHAI	PTEI	R 6141
USIN	G A	NATIONAL JOINT REGISTER DATASET AND POSTAL METHODOLOGY
TO D	EVE	LOP A LARGE DNA ARCHIVE FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASE 141
6.1	Ove	erview
6.2	Intr	oduction142
6.3	Met	thods143
6.3	.1	Recruitment environment143
6.3	.2	Inclusion and exclusion criteria143
6.3	.4	Case and control definition and matching143
6.3	.6	Subject recruitment
6.3	.7	Revision Recruitment145
6.3	.8	Control Recruitment
6.3	.9	Subject Recruitment and saliva collection
6.3	.10	Laboratory methods148
6.3	.11	Data Linkage148
6.4	Res	sults
6.4	.1	Subject recruitment and response rates
6.4	.2	Saliva sample characteristics150
6.4	.3	DNA Quantitation
6.5	Dis	cussion
CHAI	PTEI	R 7
A GE		ME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDY OF OSTEOLYSIS FOLLOWING TOTAL
HIP A	ARTH	HROPLASTY

7.1	Ove	erview	157
7.2	Intr	oduction	158
7.3	Me	thods	158
7.3	8.1	Study Populations	158
7.3	8.2	Phenotype Characterisation	159
7.3	8.3	Genotyping and Association Analyses	160
7.3	8.4	Sensitivity analyses	161
7.4	Res	sults	161
7.4	l.1	Osteolysis Susceptibility	163
7.4	l.2 Ti	ime to Prosthesis Failure	168
7.4	.3	Sensitivity analyses	172
7.5	Dis	cussion	178
CHA	PTEI	R 8	182
THE	SIS [	DISCUSSION	182
8.1	Ove	erview	182
8.2	Sur	mmary	183
8.3	Fut	ure work	187
8.4	Cor	nclusion	189
REF	EREI	NCES	190
APP	END	IX A	221
APP	END	IX B	225
APPI	END	IX C	232
APP	END	IX D	236
APP	END	IX E	237
APPI	END	IX F	239

## FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Hormonal control of osteoblast activity	29
Figure 1.2 Osteoclast function	30
Figure 1.3 Structure of extracellular matrix in lamellar bone	31
Figure 1.4 The basic molecular unit for bone	33
Figure 1.5 Bone remodelling cycle	34
Figure 1.6 Molecular control of osteoclast differentiation	35
Figure 1.7 The WnT signalling pathway	36
Figure 1.8 Cellular and molecular coupling in bone remodelling	38
Figure 1.9 Radiograph of aseptic loosening	42
Figure 1.10 Summary of biological response to wear debris	46
Figure 1.11 Patients exhibit variable osteolytic responses to wear debris	48
Figure 1.12 HO following cemented Charnley THA	50
Figure 1.13 HO pathogenesis	50
Figure 1.14 The Brooker grading of HO around the hip	54
Figure 1.15 Structure of DNA	56
Figure 1.16 Traditional framework for identification of causative genetic variants.	62
Figure 1.17 Genetic architecture of variants	63
Figure 2.1 Reference lines of the EBRA	73
Figure 2.2 Schematic representation of the wear vector as measured by EBRA.	74
Figure 2.3 Collection instructions	76
Figure 2.4 Turbid impurities	78
Figure 2.5 Impurity pellet	78
Figure 2.6 Visible DNA	79
Figure 2.7 Quality control process used in these studies	81
Figure 2.8 Agarose electrophoretic gel of 14 test samples of showing extracted	high
molecular weight DNA	84
Figure 2.9 Principle of microarrays	90
Figure 3.1 Response rates of Sheffield recruitment	. 106
Figure 3.2 Bar chart outlining response rates (%) for each age group	. 106
Figure 3.3 Scatter plot comparing saliva volume with DNA yield	. 108
Figure 3.4 Stage 1 recruitment summary flowchart	. 110

Figure 4.1 Meta-analysis discovery and replication cohorts of susceptibility loci	for
development of osteolysis	122
Figure 4.2 Meta-analysis discovery and replication cohorts of quantitative trait	loci
associated with time to prosthesis failure	124
Figure 5.1 Regional association plot for rs11699612 (that lies downstream	of
ARHGAP18) from the HO susceptibility analysis	132
Figure 5.2 Regional association plot for rs59084763 (that lies upstream of BMP2) for	om
the HO susceptibility analysis	133
Figure 5.3 Regional association plot for rs10882328 (that lies within LGI1) from	the
HO susceptibility analysis	134
Figure 5.4 Regional association plot for rs35338958 (that lies within KIF26B) from	the
HO severity analysis	138
Figure 6.1 Schematic diagram outlining the recruitmant strategy	147
Figure 6.2 Overview of subjects recruited	149
Figure 6.3 Overview of sample processing	151
Figure 6.4 Histogram outlining the Stock DNA Yield by Qubit	152
Figure 6.5 Gel Electrophoresis	153
Figure 6.6 Box plot outlining saliva sample volume vs DNA yield	153
Figure 7.1A Manhattan Plot for osteolysis susceptibility discovery analysis	164
Figure 7.1B QQ plot for osteolysis susceptibility discovery analysis	165
Figure 7. 2 Regional association plot for rs306105 (that lies within CAMK4) from	the
osteolysis susceptibility discovery analysis.	167
Figure 7.3A Manhattan Plot for QTL time to prosthesis failure discovery analysis	169
Figure 7.3B QQ plot for QTL time to prosthesis failure discovery analysis	170
Figure 7.4 Regional association plot for rs6105394 (that lies within DEFB129) fi	om
discovery QTL analysis time to prosthesis failure	172

## TABLES

Table 1.1 Summary of hip surgery data from 13 <sup>th</sup> Annual Report National Joint Registry
for England and Wales)
Table 3.1 Characteristics of stage 1 study subjects 110
Table 4.1. Tagging SNPs used incandidate gene study117
Table 4.2. Characteristics of study subjects 120
Table 4.3. Discovery cohort osteolysis susceptibility loci meeting the replication
threshold 121
Table 4.4. Discovery cohort quantitative trait loci associated with time to prosthesis
failure in cases meeting replication threshold123
Table 5.1. Results of the HO susceptibility analysis 131
Table 5.2. Results of the HO severity analysis 135
Table 6.1. Completing subject's demographic characteristics      150
Table 7.1 Patient characteristics for discovery and replication cohorts      162
Table 7.2 Distribution of fully cemented and hybrid prostheses      163
Table 7.3 Results of the osteolysis susceptibility discovery analysis for all independent
signals with p<9.9x10 <sup>-5</sup> taken forward for replication
Table 7.4 Results of the osteolysis susceptibility meta-analysis showing signals with
concordant direction of effect and p<9.9x10 <sup>-4</sup>
Table 7.5 Results of the QTL time to prosthesis failure discovery analysis
Table 7.6 SNPs identified in the case-control analysis with $p < 9.9 \times 10^{-5}$ comparing
results when analysis with versus without wear rate as a covariate
Table 7.7 SNPs identified (p<9.9x10 $^{-5}$ ) in the case-control analysis without wear as a
covariate comparing results with analysis with wear rate included as a covariate . 175
Table 7.8 SNPs identified in the time to failure QTL analysis with $p{<}9.9x10^{-5}$ and
comparing results with analysis with versus without wear rate as a covariate 176
Table 7.9 SNPs identified ( $p < 9.9 \times 10^{-5}$ ) in the time to failure QTL analysis without wear
as a covariate and comparing results with analysis with wear rate included as a
covariate177
Table 7.10 Sample size required for osteolysis GWAS at 80% power

### ABBREVIATIONS

- А Adenine AP Antero-posterior regression coefficient BETA: Bone Mineral Density BMD BMP Bone Morphogenetic Protein BMU Basic Multicellular Unit Bp: base pairs С Cytosine CATK Cathepsin K CEU: Caucasian European in Utah CHR: Chromosome CI: Confidence interval Copy Number Variant CNV CRP C Reactive Protein C-telopeptides of type-I collagen CTX-1 Danger associated molecular patterns DAMP: dbSNP: SNP database Dickkopf 1 DKK-1 Deoxyribonucleic acid DNA:
- dsDNA: double stranded deoxyribonucleic acid

EA	Effect Allele
EAF	Effect allele frequency
EBRA	Ein Build Roentgen Analyse
EDTA:	Ethylene Diamine Tetraacetic Acid
FOP	Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva
G	Guanine
GWAS	Genome Wide Association Study
НО	Heterotopic Ossification
HWE:	Hardy Weinberg equilibrium
IFN:	Interferon
IL:	Interleukin
kB:	kilo bases
LD:	Linkage disequilibrium
LOD	Logarithm of the Odds
LPS:	Lipopolysaccharide
LRP5/6	low density lipoprotein receptor related protein 5/6
MAF:	Minor allele frequency
M-CSF	Macrophage Colony Stimulating Hormone
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
mRNA:	messenger RNA
MSC	Mesenchymal Stem Cell
MW:	Molecular weight
MyD88:	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene (88)

NALP3:	NACHT, LRR and PYD domains-containing protein 3
NEA	Non Effect Allele
NFkB:	Nuclear factor kappa Beta
NLR	NOD-like Receptor
NOD:	nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
OA:	Osteoarthritis
OPG:	Osteoprotegerin
OPPG	Osteoporosis Pseudoglioma syndome
OR:	Odds ratio
PAMP:	Pathogen associated molecular patterns
PCR:	Polymerase chain reaction
PINP	N-terminal propeptide of type –I collagen
РОН	Progressive osseous Heteroplasia
PRR:	Pattern recognition receptor
PTH	Parathyroid Hormone
QC:	Quality control
QQ:	Quantitative-quantitative
QTL:	Quantitative trait locus
<b>r</b> <sup>2</sup> :	squared correlation coefficient of determination for recombination
RANK:	Receptor activator of nuclear factor k B
RANKL:	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kB ligand
RAP:	Regional association plot
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species

RNA:	Ribonucleic acid
rs	Reference SNP
RT-PCR:	Real time-Polymerase chain reaction
SD:	Standard deviation
SE:	Standard error
sFRP	Secreted Frizzled Related Protein
SNP:	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SOST	Sclerostin
Т	Thymine
TE:	Tris EDTA
THA:	Total hip arthroplasty
TIRAP:	TIR domain-containing adapter molecule
TLR:	Toll like receptor
TNF:	Tumour necrosis factor
TRAM:	TRIF-related adaptor molecule
TRAP	Tartrate Resistant Acid Phosphatase
TRIF:	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- $\beta$
UHMWPE	Ultra-High Molecular Weight Polyethylene
UTR:	Untranslated region
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
WnT:	wingless signalling pathway

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

### 1.1 Overview

Aseptic loosening following total hip arthroplasty (THA) describes mechanical failure of the prosthesis-host interface that arises as a result of periprosthetic inflammatory bone loss. This inflammatory bone loss, termed osteolysis, is caused by the host response to wear debris generated from the prosthetic surfaces. There is variation in individual's response to wear debris and a number of environmental factors have been implicated. Our group have previously shown that genetic variation contributes to the development of osteolysis and this work aims to explore this further. In order to understand the content of this thesis this chapter outlines the impact of aseptic loosening following THA. The pathophysiological manifestation of osteolysis will be described including the biological and molecular pathways responsible for normal and pathological bone turnover. The genetic basis for osteolysis will also be discussed, outlining the justification for the methods in this study. The secondary aim of this thesis is to investigate the genetic contribution to heterotopic ossification formation following THA. The impact, pathogenesis and genetic basis will also be discussed.

### 1.2 Bone

#### 1.2.1 Function

Bone is a highly active tissue which has both mechanical and metabolic functions. It forms the skeleton which provides support, protects viscera and provides the framework required for body movement and locomotion. As the principal reservoir of calcium in the body, bone plays a vital role in calcium homeostasis. Tight regulation of calcium metabolism relies on hormonal interaction with bone, kidneys and the small intestine. Undifferentiated pluripotent stem cells in bone marrow are the precursors of all blood cell types with the exception of lymphocytes.

#### 1.2.2 Cells and Matrix

#### The osteoblast

Osteoblasts are highly active mononuclear cells which are derived from the mesenchymal cell lineage (Heino and Hentunen, 2008). Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to preosteoblasts and subsequently mature osteoblasts relies on a number of transcription and growth factors (Ducy et al., 2000). Mature osteoblasts acquire the ability to secrete non-mineralized extracellular matrix composed of type I collagen and known as osteoid, which they subsequently mineralize. Osteoblasts respond to a number of hormones (fig 1.12). The life span of the osteoblast has been estimated at three months, after which it has one of three fates. It can either become embedded in its own matrix as an osteocyte, undergo apoptosis or become an inactive lining cell (Franz-Odendaal et al., 2006).



Figure 1.1 Hormonal control of osteoblast activity

### The osteocyte

The osteocyte is the most abundant cell in bone accounting for 95% of all bone cells (Franz-Odendaal et al., 2006). The differentiation of the osteocyte from the osteoblast takes 3 days and involves a decrease in cell size and increase in size of cell processes (pseudopodia) (Knothe Tate et al., 2004). This transforms the large round bodied osteoblast into a more stellate shaped cell. The nascent osteocyte has thick elongating pseudopodia which radiate and are believed to be involved in the extrusion of the deposited matrix (Knothe Tate et al., 2004). Mature osteocytes have much thinner and longer processes which connect to other osteocytes and osteoblasts via gap junctions. These connections are important for intercellular communication.

The osteocyte is thought to be the key regulator of adult bone remodelling, through RANKL and sclerostin signalling (Xiong, 2011) (Nakashima, 2011). The mechanosensory role of osteocytes is necessary for the maintenance of the bony matrix and will be discussed in a later section.

### The osteoclast

Osteoclasts are large multinucleated cells that resorb bone. They are derived from haemopoeitic stem cells and follow the same cell lineage as macrophages (Suda et al., 1992). There are a number of processes adopted by osteoclasts which lead to the efficient resorption of bone mineral and matrix. The area immediately surrounding the finger like projections of the ruffled border are known as Howship's lacunae. The plasma membrane of the osteoclast binds tightly to the bone matrix creating a sealing zone. The underside of the plasma membrane forms the ruffled border which creates a large surface area for optimal bone resorption. Secretion of hydrochloric acid through the ruffled border then dissolves the hydroxyapatite crystals. The subsequent secretion of the proteolytic enzymes tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) and cathepsin K (CATK) lead to the degradation of the collagen matrices. Degradation products are removed from the resorption lacunae through a vesicular transport system within the osteoclast (Vaananen et al., 2000).



Figure 1.2 Osteoclast function (Adapted from Vaananen et al, 2000)

#### Bone extracellular matrix

The extracellular matrix comprises organic and non- organic components. The majority of the matrix is formed by bundles of type I collagen fibrils. These fibrils run in parallel creating lamellae. Between the fibrils are pores containing the inorganic components. The inorganic constituent is mostly calcium hydroxyapatite with lesser amounts of carbonate, magnesium and phosphate (Clarke, 2008). A smaller proportion of the non- collagenous proteins including osteocalcin are also present and are involved in calcium binding, mineral stabilisation and bone regulation (Ducy et al., 1996).



**Figure 1.3** Structure of extracellular matrix in lamellar bone (Adapted from Miller, Review of Orthopaedics, 4<sup>th</sup> edition, 2004)

### **1.3 Bone modelling and remodelling**

Bone is a remarkable, specialised connective tissue. By undergoing constant resorption and formation it is able to adapt to a host of physiological and environmental

circumstances. Bone loss occurs during periods of prolonged immobility (Bauman et al., 1999) and also during long term microgravity (Vico et al., 2000). In contrast, excessive loading of bone results in net bone formation (Souminen, 1993). This functional adaption was first recognised by Wolff in 1892 (Wolff, 1892). Almost a century later, Frost described two distinct mechanisms for bone adaption to mechanical loading (Frost, 1990a) (Frost, 1990b):

Modelling: involves osteoclast activation resulting bone resorption or osteoblast activation leading to bone formation, crucially, not at the same location. An obvious example of this is skeletal growth and development during childhood. In adulthood, this may occur in various disease states and in altered mechanical loading.

Remodelling: involves coupled bone resorption and formation occurring at the same location in a defined temporal sequence of resorption followed by formation.

Due to a large surface to volume ratio, 20% of cancellous bone is undergoing remodelling at any one time (Hill, 1998) compared to only 2 – 5% of cortical bone each year (Hadjidakis, 2006). Bone remodelling is carried out by a team of cells known collectively as a "Basic Multicellular Unit" (BMU). The leading region of the BMU contains around ten osteoclasts which create a resorption tunnel in the dominant loading direction (Petrtyl, 1996). As the BMU moves across the surface of bone the thousands of osteoblasts residing in the tail deposit osteoid filling the tunnel (Parfitt, 1994).

32



**Figure 1.4** The basic molecular unit for bone. Adapted from (Seeman and Delmas, 2006)

The resorption phase lasts around 3 weeks, whereas the osteoblastic refilling takes around 3 - 4 months (Martin TJ, 2008). The remodelling process always follows the same cyclic sequence of quiescence, activation, resorption, reversal and again returning to quiescence (Hill, 1998).



**Figure 1.5** Bone remodelling cycle. Resorptive phase: activated osteoclasts resorb bone matrix. Reversal phase: osteoblast precursors migrate to resorption lacuna. Formation phase: Osteoblasts lay down new matrix. Resting phase: osteoblasts mature into lining cells and osteocytes. Adapted from (Hill, 1998).

### 1.3.1 Molecular control of bone remodelling

The cellular coupling involved in bone remodelling was first proposed by Frost in 1964 (Frost, 1964). Our understanding of the cellular and molecular aspects of bone remodelling has improved greatly over the last ten years with the discovery of RANKL and WnT signalling.

Osteoclasts are derived from haematopoietic stem cells. Their differentiation into mature polykaryons relies on macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and activation of receptor activator of nuclear factor  $\kappa$  B (RANK) by its ligand (RANKL), a member of the tumour-necrosis factor superfamily. (Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6 Molecular control of osteoclast differentiation (adapted from Boyle W Nature 2003)

The discovery of the importance of these mediators in osteoclastogenesis was due to a number of breakthroughs and provided a molecular mechanism for coupling. Rodan and Martin first proposed that osteoblasts may play an important role in osteoclast regulations due to their reaction to the bone resorbing hormones PTH, vitamin D3 and prostaglandins (Rodan GA, 1981). A study by Takahashi noted that a culture of both haemopoeitic and stromal cells lead to the production of osteoclasts, whereas these cells cultured separately did not (Takahashi et al., 1988). The discovery of osteoprotegerin (OPG), a TNF receptor-related protein, was vital in our understanding (Simonet et al., 1997). It was found to block osteoclast formation in vitro (Yasuda et al., 1998). The relation of OPG to the TNFR family identified RANKL as the key cytokine regulating osteoclastogenesis. The bone resorbing hormones induce RANKL expression in (Boyle WJ, 2003) osteoblasts which regulates adjacent osteoclasts in the BMU (Udagawa et al., 2000). Recent evidence now suggests that osteocytes embedded in the bone matrix express a much higher amount of RANKL than osteoblasts implicating them as the leading source of RANKL contributing to bone remodelling (Nakashima, 2011) (Xiong, 2011).

The differentiation of osteoblasts relies on expression of Runx2, osterix (Osx) and the wingless (WnT) signalling pathway (Robling et al., 2006) (Figure1.18). The WnTs are a family of glycoproteins now known to play a pivotal role in the regulation of bone formation, remodelling and development (Goldring and Goldring, 2007). WnT proteins exert their effects through two signalling pathways known as the canonical and non-canonical pathways. Canonical WnT signalling promotes osteoblast proliferation, mineralisation and inhibits apoptosis. It also increases the OPG/RANKL ratio, thereby inhibiting osteoclastogenesis (Martin 2008 Ost Int). In canonical signalling the binding of WnT ligands, such as WnT3a, to the LRP5/6:Frizzled coreceptor complex promotes the accumulation of cytoplasmic  $\beta$  catenin and its translocation to the nucleus enhancing transcription factors (Kobayashi et al., 2008).



Figure 1.7 The WnT signalling pathway (Adapted from Martin Osteoporosis Int 2008)

The understanding of the importance of WnT signalling in bone was greatly improved with the discovery of a mutation in the human low density lipoprotein receptor related protein 5 (LRP5) a WnT coreceptor. The autosomal recessive disorder OPPG, where patients develop early osteoporosis, was found to be caused by loss of function in the LRP5 gene (Boyden et al., 2002). A genome wide association study has also linked LRP5 polymorphisms BMD and fracture risk (Richards et al., 2008). In addition, a
mouse model blocking DKK-1 (a known inhibitor of WnT) was found to reduce osteoclast number and impair bone formation (Diarra et al., 2007).

Non-canonical WnT signalling regulates bone homeostasis independently of βcatenin. The non-canonical WnT ligand WnT5a binds to the Ror2:frizzled co-receptor complex promoting osteoblast differentiation through Runx2 via JnkNK and PPARg signalling (Tu et al., 2007) (Takada et al., 2007). Maeda et al showed that osteoblast precursors also express WnT5a which increases RANK expression in osteoclasts, increasing their sensitivity to RANKL and thereby promoting osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption (Maeda et al 2012). WnT5a has also been shown to activate the planar cell polarity pathway through RhoGTPase signalling (Kobayashi et al., 2008).

GTPases of the Rho subfamily act as molecular switches which play a pivotal role in the regulation of actin cytoskeleton, membrane transport and transcription factor activity (Etienne-Manneville et al, 2002). Of the 20 family members, the best studied are RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42. Rho GTPases are now known to be key downstream regulators of both canonical and noncanonical WnT signalling (Schlessinger et al, 2009) (Zhu et al, 2013). Activation of the small GTPase RhoA is required for WnT3a induced canonical osteoblastogenesis (Rossol-Allison et al, 2009). RhoA has also been shown to be important in the motility of osteoclasts and their ability to resorb bone (Chellaiah et al, 2000). RhoGTPases have been shown to control a number of cellular responses in non-canonical WnT signalling acting as regulators downstream of Frizzled. (Schlessinger et al, 2009).

#### 1.3.2 Biomechanical control of bone remodelling

As mentioned previously bone has the remarkable ability to adapt to loading. The osteocytes are the principle cells involved in mechanotransduction control of modelling. They exclusively express the SOST gene which encodes the protein sclerostin. This protein inhibits the WnT signalling pathway by binding LRP5 resulting in the inhibition of bone formation. Linkage studies of families with the dysplastic bone disorders sclerosteosis and van Buchem disease, both characterised by an increase

amount of bone, and caused by loss of function mutations of SOST, lead to its discovery (Balemans et al., 2001). Conversely, mechanical unloading of bone leads to sclerostin expression and consequently reduced bone mineral density (Lin et al., 2009).



**Figure 1.8** Cellular and molecular coupling in bone remodelling (Adapted from Goldring, 2007).

#### 1.3.3 Bone loss after THA

Bone loss following THA may be broadly categorised as occurring early or late.

 Early: The insertion of a prosthesis alters the local strain environment in the surrounding bone due to the difference in elastic modulus between the prosthesis and bone, and due to difference in the site of load transfer. An example of this is resorption of bone at the proximal femur that is well recognised and has been attributed to this process (Charnley and Cupic, 1973). As the elastic modulus of metal is much greater than that of bone, load is transferred through the prosthesis distally. Subsequently disuse osteoporosis occurs at the proximal end of the prosthesis (Oh and Harris, 1978). A study by McCarthy found that 3 years after THA there was an average loss of 40% in bone mineral content inside the lesser trochanter and 28% average loss distally in the medial cortex of the femur (McCarthy et al., 1991). A point of equilibrium does appear to be reached with resorption predominantly occurring in the first 2 years following arthroplasty (Bugbee et al., 1997).

 Late: During use, wear particles are generated from the prosthesis bearing surfaces. This triggers a foreign body chronic granulomatous inflammatory response resulting in osteoclast activation leading to periprosthetic bone resorption (Goldring SR, 1983). This process is discussed in greater detail in the next section.

Bone loss after THA also occurs as a result of normal ageing, at a rate of approximately 1-2% per year. This cause of periprosthetic bone loss will not be considered further in this thesis, but may contribute to prosthetic failure through periprosthetic fracture.

## 1.4 Osteolysis

#### 1.4.1 Impact of osteolysis

Throughout this thesis the term osteolysis will be used to describe the bone loss that occurs as a result of the inflammatory process initiated by wear particulate debris; and the term aseptic loosening will be used to describe the mechanical failure of the prosthesis-bone construct that results from the osteolytic process.

THA is one of the most successful orthopaedic procedures and has relieved pain and improved hip function in millions of patients worldwide. Ninety percent of patients have either a good or excellent long-term outcome (Harris and Sledge, 1990). It is an extremely cost effective procedure (Faulkner, 1998). The number of primary THA procedures is increasing every year with 98,211 carried out in England and Wales in the year ending 31<sup>st</sup> December 2015 (www.njrcentre.org.uk, 2016).

Despite the success of modern prosthetic designs and bearing surfaces, around 10% of THA prostheses still fail within 10 years (Kurtz SM, 2007). Improvements in surgical technique and prosthesis design have decreased the incidence of deep sepsis, dislocation and fracture, however aseptic loosening, the clinical end point of osteolysis, remains the most frequent complication and in the UK accounts for 60% of all revision surgery (Table 1.1) (www.njrcentre.org.uk, 2016). Prosthesis loosening results in pain and disability, requiring revision surgery. Revision THA is associated with a 3 to 8-fold greater in-hospital mortality, poorer functional outcome, longer hospital stay, and higher cost than primary surgery (Kurtz SM, 2007, Mahomed NN, 2003, Doro C, 2006, Zhan C, 2007).

Advances in materials, design and surgical technique has improved the wear performance of prostheses, which will decrease the future incidence of osteolysis.

40

However, an ageing population combined with younger more active patients now undergoing joint arthroplasty suggests that osteolysis and resulting prosthesis loosening will continue to be the major complication of THA.

National Joint Registry Hip Annual Report Data 2016		
	Number	%
Revision procedures	88,822	
Indication for revision		
Aseptic Loosening	40,992	46%
Osteolysis	12,988	14%
Pain	18,407	20.7%
Infection	11,189	12.5%
Dislocation/ subluxation	12,117	13.6%

**Table 1.1** Summary of hip surgery data from 13th Annual Report National JointRegistry for England and Wales (www.njrcentre.org.uk, 2016)



Figure 1.9 Radiograph of hip replacement showing aseptic loosening

## 1.4.2 Pathophysiology of Osteolysis

The term aseptic loosening describes mechanical failure of the prosthesis-host interface, and arises primarily as the end result of focal periprosthetic inflammatory bone loss occurring at this interface. This pro-inflammatory microenvironment is driven by particulate wear debris, which is generated primarily at the articular bearing surface and at other non-articular prosthesis or cement surfaces (Goldring SR, 1983). Willert first proposed the involvement of prosthetic debris in the development of osteolysis. He identified a resultant foreign body reaction and granuloma formation which included macrophages and multinucleated giant cells (Willert HG, 1977). This foreign body reaction has subsequently been reproduced in animal models (Goodman SB, 1990). Once particulate wear debris has been dispersed into the joint fluid it may initiate a

foreign body reaction at contact surfaces with the host tissues. Schmalzried coined the term "effective joint space" to describe all areas where open communication with the joint pseudo-capsule may allow circulation of the joint fluid and particulate debris (Schmalzried TP, 1992). The effective joint space is thus dynamic and may advance along a tissue plane as osteolysis progresses. Variations in pressure in the joint space during activity may contribute to this circulation (Schmalzried TP, 1992).

#### 1.4.3 The Biology of Osteolysis

#### The Fibrous membrane

The process of aseptic loosening is characteristically accompanied with the development of a fibrous membrane at the bone-cement interface. Histological analysis of this membrane has shown a synovial-like fibrovascular tissue containing cells including macrophages, fibroblasts and foreign body giant cells (Goldring SR, 1983, Harris WH, 1976).

#### Molecular signalling pathways involved in osteolysis

The predominant cell types driving osteolysis, the macrophage and fibroblast, signal through various pro-inflammatory cytokines (including the interleukins, TNF alpha, and vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF) following either phagocytosis of the particles or through surface contact (Tuan RS, 2008).

The biological process through which wear particles induce this inflammatory response is still not fully understood. It has become clear that the innate immune system is involved in the initiation of the biological response. The innate immune system is the body's first defence against foreign pathogens. Its ability to recognize and eliminate pathogens relies on pattern recognition receptors (PRR). PRRs are

expressed by several cells in the monocyte cell lineage and include toll-like receptors (TLR) and the NOD-like receptors (NLR). These subfamilies evoke an inflammatory response either directly through the activation of transcription factors upregulating proinflammatory mediators or through the formation of inflammasomes.

#### The inflammasome

Caspases are cystein proteins which are important regulators of cell apoptosis and inflammation by cleaving interleukin precursors into their active forms. A number of the NLRs have been shown to activate caspase-1 within multiprotein complexes known as inflammasomes (Martinon F, 2009). One of the best characterised inflammasomes is the NLRP3 inflammasome. The complex consists of NLRP3, the adaptor molecule ASC and the cystein protease caspase-1 (Cassel et al., 2009). Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome can occur as a result of (1) Danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) following cellular injury, (2) Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) released from the cell walls of bacteria, (3) Particulate phagocytosis, (4) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) overproduction during cellular stress and infection.

NLRP3 activation then allows caspase-1 to cleaveIL-1 $\beta$  to its mature and active form, IL-1 $\beta$ . Although NLRP3 inflammasome activation is required for the maturation of IL-1 $\beta$  it is not solely sufficient. Pro-IL-1b must first be primed either through circulating toll like receptor activation by PAMPs and DAMPs and circulating IL-1 $\beta$ .

#### The inflammasome in osteolysis

There is now evidence that the NLRP3 inflammasome is involved in the inflammatory response to wear particles through IL-1 $\beta$  production. The presence of PAMPs has been confirmed in the periprosthetic tissue of patients undergoing revision surgery for aseptic loosening (Nalepka JL, 2006). Using RNA gene sequencing, the presence of

bacteria in the periprosthetic biofilm surrounding loose prostheses has also now been confirmed (Dempsey KE, 2007). It has been shown both in vitro and in animal models that PAMPs adherent to particulate debris activate PRRs on macrophages, increasing the biological activity of wear particles (Greenfield EM, 2008).

Caicedo et al demonstrated in vitro that metal implant debris stimulated an inflammatory response in macrophages through inflammasome signalling (Caicedo et al., 2009). Maitra et al found that in vitro UHMWPE wear particles are phagocytosed causing intracellular activation of NLRP3 through cathepsin B release. In addition, alkane polymers generated by UHMWPE activate TLRs in cytokine release (Maitra R, 2009). St Pierre *et al* showed in a mouse model that titanium particles induce an inflammatory response through the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome (St Pierre CA, 2010).

#### **Osteoclast activation**

#### The indirect pathway

The released pro-inflammatory cytokines, by macrophages, modulate the activation of other cell types in the periprosthetic environment, including osteoblasts. Osteoblasts closely interact with osteoclasts in coupled bone remodelling, regulating bone resorption through the activation of osteoclasts (Rodan GA, 1981). Activated osteoblasts stimulate the monocyte / macrophage cell lineage through activation of receptor activator of nuclear factor  $\kappa$  B (RANK) by its ligand (RANKL) and macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF). Together these induce expression of genes required for the development and maturation of polykaryon osteoclasts and activation of their function of bone resorption (Boyle WJ, 2003). This upregulation of periprosthetic bone resorption results in failure of the integrity of the prosthesis-host construct and loosening of the prosthesis. Activated macrophages also produce matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) that directly degrade demineralised collagen matrix.

## The direct pathway

Fibroblasts are the most frequent cell type found in the loosening membrane, and also play a role in the pathogenesis of osteolysis. They produce the fibrous collagenous matrix which surrounds the prosthesis and in addition, secrete RANKL and IL-6, as a direct response to wear particles, which are both osteoclastogenic and stimulate the formation of multinucleated giant cells (Wei X, 2005, Sakai H, 2002). In addition to upregulation of the osteoclastic response, particulate debris suppresses differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) into mature functioning osteoblasts and reduces synthetic activity of mature osteoblasts further shifting turnover balance in favour of net bone loss (Wang ML, 2003).



**Figure 1.10** Summary of biological response to wear debris. Recruitment and activation of osteoclasts may occur directly through the production of RANKL by fibroblasts, or indirectly through the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines that stimulate the production of RANKL by the osteoblast. TNF may stimulate osteoclast differentiation and activation though both routes.

Other cells types may also be involved in the inflammatory response to wear particulate debris. These include lymphocytes and mast cells. The presence of lymphocytes suggests involvement of the adaptive immune system. It is suggested that particulate debris may undergo opsonisation which allows them to be targeted by B and T lymphocytes. Degranulated mast cells have been found in the periprosthetic tissue surrounding loose prostheses confirming their activation in the process of osteolysis (Solovieva SA, 1996)

#### Variability in subject responses to wear debris

Patients vary in their osteolytic response to particulate wear debris. Some show little bone resorption in the presence of marked prosthesis wear whereas others undergo marked osteolysis following a small amount of prosthesis wear (Figure 1.11) (Wilkinson JM, 2005). Macrophage responsiveness to in-vitro polyethylene and ceramic particulate debris stimulation has been shown to vary between individuals (Matthews JB, 2000) (Hatton, 2003). An in vitro study by Gordon et al found that monocytes (PBMCs) from patients with a susceptibility to osteolysis exhibited quantitatively greater inducible cytokine responses to particulate compared to patients without this susceptibility (Gordon, 2008). It has therefore been suggested that patient variability in osteolytic response to particulate debris has a genetic basis. In support of this there is increasing evidence, through candidate gene studies, that genetic variants in cytokines and effector proteins involved in the pathogenesis of osteolysis are involved.

47





**Figure 1.11** Patients exhibit variable osteolytic responses to wear debris. a) radiograph showing marked polyethylene wear, but no osteolytic response, b) radiograph showing mild wear but pronounced femoral and acetabular osteolysis with prosthesis loosening.

b

## **1.5** Heterotopic ossification

#### 1.5.1 The clinical impact of heterotopic ossification

Heterotopic ossification (HO) is the pathological formation of lamellar bone in extraskeletal tissues that do not normally ossify (figure 1.12). HO can be differentiated histologically from calcification, by the presence of trabeculae (Balboni et al., 2006). It was first described by the German physician Reidel in 1883 and in 1918, Dejerne and Ceiller observed its formation in First World War soldiers who had sustained spinal cord injury (Dejerne and Ceiller, 1918). It is a common complication following THA with a variable reported incidence of between 5 and 90% (Charnley, 1972, Newman et al., 2015, DeLee et al., 1976, Rosendahl et al., 1973). HO has been shown to complicate up to 25% of fractures, and occurs in up to 65% of blast injured amputees (Potter et al., 2007, Forsberg et al., 2009, Mitchell et al., 2010). It's incidence following spinal cord injury has been reported as 30% (Stover et al., 1991).

There is an increased incidence of HO in males (DeLee et al., 1976, Pavlou et al., 2012), those with a previous history of HO (Ritter and Vaughan, 1977), ankylosing spondylitis (Bisla et al., 1976), diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis (Blasingame et al., 1981) and hypertrophic osteoarthritis (Sawyer et al., 1991). Rheumatoid arthritis has been shown to be protective against HO but it is unclear whether this is due to anti-inflammatory medication prescribed for this group of patients (Zhu et al., 2015). It has been suggested that surgical technique plays a role in the incidence of HO formation. This may be, in part, due to the amount of intraoperative tissue trauma evidenced by the increased rate of HO in revision surgery and longer operative procedures (Hierton et al., 1983). There remains controversy whether surgical approach influences the formation of HO. Bischoff et al and Ashton et al found lower rates of HO using a posterior approach versus an anterolateral approach (Bischoff et al., 1994, Ashton et al., 2000). It has been suggested that less abductor retraction and subsequent ischaemia with a posterior approach may be responsible (Corrigan et al., 2015). Morrey et al found no difference between anterolateral, trans-trochanteric or posterior approaches (Morrey et al., 1984). Similarly, Corrigan et al showed no difference in the HO incidence following hip hemiarthroplasty using anterior, anterolateral and posterior approaches (Corrigan et al., 2015). Martin et al found no reduction in HO rate using a minimally invasive anterolateral approach compared to a direct lateral approach (Martin et al., 2011). There is also debate whether use of cemented or cementless influences HO rate. Pavlou et al found that fully cemented implant were more likely to form HO, and proposed that release of bone debris during reaming may be a contributing factor (Pavlou et al., 2012). In contrast, a prospective randomised controlled trial found no difference between cemented or cementless THA (Nayak et al., 1997)



Figure 1.12 HO following cemented Charnley THA

The majority of cases of HO following THA are asymptomatic and Charnley deemed its occurrence as a matter only of "academic interest" (Charnley, 1972). There are a number of reports, however, associating poorer post-operative functional outcome with increasing severity of HO (Nollen and Slooff, 1973, Pohl et al., 2005). The incidence of clinically significant HO has been reported to be between 3 and 7% of THA cases (Board et al., 2007). The most common symptom of HO is pain (Garland, 1991). In addition to pain, restriction of joint motion may occur, as well as neural or vascular compression (Garland, 1991, Hierton et al., 1983, Brooke et al., 1991). Other symptoms include localised warmth, swelling and erythema clinically mimicking infection (Orzel and Rudd, 1985). Pyrexia may also occur (Macfarlane et al., 2008).

Early detection of HO is difficult. It's formation usually occurs within the first 2 postoperative weeks with radiographic evidence appearing after 6 weeks. Symptoms may not manifest until 12 weeks (Orzel and Rudd, 1985, Mavrogenis et al., 2011). A number of studies have looked at biomarkers for early detection of HO. Wilkinson et al found higher levels of N-terminal propeptide of type –I collagen (PINP), osteocalcin and C-telopeptides of type-I collagen (CTX-I) in patients who developed HO following THA compared with those who did not (Wilkinson et al., 2003). Sell and Schleh reported significantly higher post-operative CRP levels in patients who developed HO (Sell and Schleh, 1999). Three phase technetium 99m isotope bone scanning is the most sensitive method for early detection (Freed et al., 1982). Its expense and the associated radiation exposure preclude it as a useful screening tool.

Once HO has formed, a process that is usually complete by 12 months following surgery, treatment options are limited and usually consist of surgical resection. This is further complicated by recurrence rates which have been reported to be as high as 100% (Mavrogenis et al., 2011)

#### 1.5.2 Aetiopathogenesis of heterotopic ossification

The exact aetiopathogenesis of HO is still not fully understood. It can be broadly classified into traumatic, neurogenic or genetic in cause, with that following THA included in the traumatic group (Ekelund et al., 1991). It has been proposed that 3 prerequisites are required for the formation of HO: 1. Triggering event leading to release of osteogenic induction agents; 2. Osteogenic precursor cells; 3. An environment permissive of bone formation (Chalmers et al., 1975). Although it remains unclear whether both the acquired and genetic forms share an exact pathogenesis, there do seem to be a number of common pathways (Winkler et al., 2015). Interplay between inflammatory, osteogenic, and neurogenic pathways has been suggested (Wang et al., 2015).

51



Figure 1.13 HO pathogenesis (adapted (Edwards and Clasper, 2015))

An established trigger for HO involves an initial inflammatory response (Sawyer et al., 1991). This inflammatory and hypoxic microenvironment has been shown to result in localised myocyte cell death (Shore and Kaplan, 2010). This is then followed by angiogenesis and the differentiation of osteogenic precursor cells (Kaplan et al., 1993). The origin of these precursor cells is uncertain. Lineage tracing studies have suggested that local myocyte osteoprogenitor cells contribute only minimally to the formation of HO (Lounev et al., 2009). Cortical bone derived stem cells and medullary mesenchymal stem cells are able to differentiate into osteoblasts and their release during fracture or during THA surgery may contribute to HO (Puzas et al., 1989, Winkler et al., 2015). It has been shown that osteoprogenitor cells with an endothelial or endoneurial origin may migrate to the region of ectopic bone formation (Lounev et al., 2009, Lazard et al., 2015).

Urist discovered in 1965 that demineralised bone matrix induced heterotopic bone formation following trauma in a rabbit model (Urist, 1965). He postulated that this osteogenesis was controlled by bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) (Urist and Strates, 1971). The role of BMPs signalling in the formation of HO is well established and their use as primary inducers forms the basis for many animal models used in the BMP signalling has been shown to control study of HO (Winkler et al., 2015). osteoprogenitor migration and differentiation (Shore and Kaplan, 2010). There is a contribution of a neuro-endocrine pathway in the formation of HO. Neural inflammation induced by BMP2 results in the release of osteogenic precursors from peripheral sensory neurones (Salisbury et al., 2011). The endoneurial derived progenitors migrate through newly formed endoneurial vessels to the site of bone formation (Lazard et al., 2015). A number of cytokines/ chemokines capable of promoting osteogenesis have been propose and include platelet derived growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, transforming growth factor-β, insulin-like growth factor, epidermal growth factor, IL-6 and IL-10 (Edwards and Clasper, 2015). The use of indomethacin in HO prophylaxis has led to the proposal that prostaglandin-E<sub>2</sub> may be an important systemic factor (Ahrengart et al., 1988).

The permissive environment required for ectopic bone formation is also not clear. Studies have shown that an environment with low oxygen tension induces chondrocyte differentiation leading to endochondral ossification (Schipani et al., 2001, Mobasheri et al., 2005). Olmstead-Davies et al showed that BMP induced generation of brown adipocytes in the region of soft tissue injury leads to a low oxygen tension environment permissive of ectopic bone formation (Olmsted-Davis et al., 2007).

#### 1.5.3 Classification of HO following THA

The two recognised patterns of HO following THA are found in the peri-femoral neck region and within the abductors. It most commonly occurs in the abductors (Board et al., 2007). Brooker et al described a classification system for the ossification following THA on AP radiographs (figure 1.14) (Brooker et al., 1973):



Figure 1.14 The Brooker grading of HO around the hip:

Class 1: a small island of bone

Class 2: bone spurs from pelvis and proximal femur leaving at least 1cm between opposing surfaces

Class 3: bone spurs from pelvis and proximal femur leaving gap less than 1cm

Class 4: apparent ankylosis of the hip

## 1.6 The Genetic Basis of Disease

The process of bone formation and resorption is governed by the interaction of a number of bone regulatory and inflammatory proteins. The quantity and quality of each of these proteins is determined by the underlying genes which encodes them. Variation within the genetic code can lead to an alteration in the structure, function or expression of regulatory proteins and this section will therefore outline the basics of genetics and its variation.

## 1.6.1 The structure of DNA

The structure of DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) was first recognised by Watson and Crick in 1953 (Watson JD and Crick FH, Nature 1953, 171: 737-738). DNA consists of two helical chains of nucleotide bases covalently bound to a sugar-phosphate. Two types of nucleotide bases exist: those derived from purine and those derived from pyrimidine. The purine bases are adenine (A) and guanine (G). The pyrimidine bases are cytosine (C) and thymine (T). Purines always pair with pyrimidines, bound by hydrogen bonds in the following pairs: A-T or C-G (Passarge, Colour atlas of genetic, 3<sup>rd</sup> edition, Thieme, 2006).



Figure 1.15 Structure of DNA

The sequence of base pairs confers the genetic information. Each triplet of bases (known as a codon) code for a specific amino acid. A total of 64 triplets are possible. As there are only 20 amino acids much of the DNA strand is non-coding. Coding regions are known as exons and non-coding regions are known as introns. Although introns were once thought to be redundant, it is now understood that they may contain promoter regions involved in gene expression (Williams Optometry 2001). The transcribing RNA is spliced, removing the introns, and forms mature mRNA ready for translation (Passarge, Colour atlas of genetics).

Replication of DNA occurs with the breakage of the hydrogen bonds joining each base pair. Each strand acts as a template to generate a new strand. A complimentary strand of RNA transcribes the sequence. The transcribing RNA is then spliced, removing the introns, and forms mature mRNA ready for translation (Passarge, Colour atlas of genetics).

#### 1.6.2 Genetic variation

The Human genome project successfully sequenced the human genome by 2004 (IHGSC, 2004). It consists of 3.3 billion base pairs with only 3% representing coding regions (Burton et al., 2005). Within a given ethnic population, the sequence of DNA between individuals is 99.9% identical (Feuk et al., 2006). The relatively small proportion of variation within the code confers the phenotypic heterogeneity within a population. These variants occur at approximately every 1000 nucleotide base pairs of the code; thus the human genome differs by about 20 to 30 million bases pairs between individuals (Jorde and Wooding, 2004). Genetic variation is not only responsible for evolutionary advantage; it is also a potential cause of disease. The individual specific risk of common diseases is thought to be influenced by the sum of many genetic variations, each potentially causing small changes in biological function and consequently subtle changes in phenotype (Misch EA, 2008).

There are two main sources of genetic variation: mutation and recombination. Mutations can occur as a result of environmental mutagens including a number of chemicals and ionising radiation or, less commonly, may occur spontaneously. Recombination is the exchange of genetic material between two chromosomes. When a chromosomal pair is lined up during meiosis there may be crossing over resulting in the exchange. This is known as homologous recombination and is an important evolutionary process. It allows the restructuring of genetic material increasing variability and helps to eliminate unfavourable mutations (Passarge, 2007). Double strand breaks in DNA can be repaired by homologous recombination where a homologous chromosome is used as an accurate template. DNA end joining (non-homologous recombination) is a process that ligates the DNA ends without homology. It is therefore more susceptible to result in mutation.

57

## Types of variation

Human genetic sub microscopic variants can be divided into 2 nucleotide composition classes (Frazer et al., 2009):

## 1. Single nucleotide variants

A Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) is a single base change in a nucleotide sequence. Two copies of each chromosome are inherited (one maternal and one paternal). This creates a possible 2 alleles at any given locus. An individual can be either heterozygous or homozygous for the allele. The minor allele frequency (MAF) denotes the frequency of the less common allele in a population. It has been estimated that the human genome contains 11 million SNPs. Around 7 million of these occur with a MAF of over 5% and the remainder of at least 1% with which they are defined (Frazer et al., 2009).

## 2. Structural variants

Structural variants are all variants that larger than 1 kb. It is believed they account for 20% of all genetic variation and underlie over 70% of the variant bases (Frazer et al., 2009). They include insertion or deletion variants, block substitutions, inversions and copy number variants (CNV). CNVs occur when segments of identical sequences are repeated in some chromosomes but not others. Recent evidence suggests that they may account for 13% of the human genome (Stankiewicz and Lupski, 2010).

#### Implications of genetic variation

#### Synonymous variation

Not all variations confer a change in phenotype. If the variation does not alter the polypeptide product of a gene a synonymous (or silent) variation occurs. Thus, as long as a change in the DNA sequence creates a codon which codes for the same amino acid, a structural but not functional change will occur.

#### Missense variation

A missense variation occurs when a sequence variation results in a change of the encoded polypeptide. This change in amino acid may alter the function of a protein leading to a reduction or even loss of its biological activity.

#### Promoter variation

Each cell differs in its expression of certain genes and polypeptide product. This control of transcription is regulated by the promoter region which is responsible for the activation of RNA polymerase. The promoter region is typically within 200bp upstream of its corresponding gene (Meuller, 2003), but may extend further or be on a non-contiguous DNA section. Any variation in this region can alter the binding of transcription factors which in turn can alter gene expression.

#### Nonsense variation

If a substitution leads to the introduction of a stop codon there may be a premature termination of translation of a peptide. The resulting protein is unlikely to retain normal function.

#### Frame-shift variation

These variations occur as a result of insertion or deletion. This alters the codon reading frame and greatly changes the translated protein which is unlikely to retain normal functional.

Genetic variation has the potential to alter phenotype through the gain or loss of function. Alterations in transcription and translation of DNA result in changes in protein expression and structure respectively. Variation within coding regions has an obvious effect on gene structure but variation in non-coding regions also has the potential to alter phenotype through changes in gene regulation.

#### **Epigenetics**

In addition to allelic variation, gene expression can be influenced without a change in genotype. The study of heritable changes in phenotype without an underlying change in nucleotide sequence is termed epigenetics. Epigenetic modification occurs as a result of environmental influence. There are three methods in which epigenetic modification can occur: DNA methylation, histone modification and RNA associated silencing (Egger et al, 2004).

DNA methylation is a process whereby methyl groups bind to the C5 position of cytosine bases. This normally occurs where there is an adjacent guanine base; known as a CpG (5'-C-phosphate-G-3') site. 5-Methylcytosine in a promoter CpG site binds methylated CpG binding proteins which leads to inhibition of transcription initiation by preventing the binding of transcription factors (Jones et al, 2001).

DNA is packaged around intracellular histone octamers forming a complex known as chromatin. Histones can be epigenetically modified by acetylation and methylation, consequently altering the formation and function of chromatin. Histone methylation has been shown to regulate transcription and influence stem cell differentiation (Varini et al, 2013). In contrast to histone methylation, which has been associated with both promotion and suppression of transcription, histone acetylation has been shown to activate transcription. Acetylation leads to altered chromatin folding which allows promoters to be more accessible to RNA polymerases thereby promoting gene expression (Eberharter et al, 2001).

Non-coding RNAs, such as siRNAs (small inhibitory RNAs) and miRNAS (microRNAs), are now thought to play an important role in the regulation of epigenetic mechanisms of gene expression. These small non-coding RNAs act by promoting mRNA degradation and inhibiting translation (Phillips, 2008). More recently, non-coding RNAs have been shown to regulate cytosine methylation and histone modifications (Piletic et al, 2016).

#### 1.6.3 Genetic epidemiology

Genetic epidemiology is the "science which deals with the aetiology, distribution, and control of disease in groups of relatives and with inherited causes of disease in populations" (Morton, 1982). The study of genetic variation was undertaken even before the discovery of DNA through the use of Mendel's laws of inheritance (Stern C, 1966) (Fisher, 1918). Advances in technology and understanding of molecular biology led to the evolution of the epidemiological evaluation of the genetic basis of disease. All genetic epidemiological studies ask the same questions: Is there a genetic component to the disorder and what are the genes responsible for this disorder?

#### The framework for genetic epidemiology

The first step in the approach to identifying whether a disease has a genetic component is through the study of families. This is usually in the form of observational studies on sibling/twin concordance or parent-offspring concordance. Segregation analysis is then used to determine the mode of inheritance within the family. Linkage analysis then allows us to localise a chromosomal area containing shared genetic

markers which are linked to the causative variant. Association analyses are then used to investigate specific alleles within this region under the linkage signal



**Figure 1.16** Traditional framework for identification of causative genetic variants (adapted from Burton PR, Lancet 2005).

Families have traditionally been used to study traits as it is difficult to obtain large representative cohorts from the general population with the desired expressed phenotype of study. Family studies were useful and very successful in the determination of various Mendelian inherited disorders (Beaudet et al., 1989), (Gusella et al., 1983). The large effect size of single variations in disease causing alleles made these relatively straight forward to identify through the principle of genetic linkage. Common complex diseases, however, have polygenic inheritance with each causative allele contributing a small effect to the expressed phenotype. Linkage analysis in families has been used to study complex diseases, however, has had limited success,

due to inadequate power (Risch and Merikangas, 1996). This has led to the use of large population association analyses.



Figure 1.17 Genetic architecture of variants. Adapted from (Manolio et al., 2009)

## 1.6.4 Linkage analysis studies

Linkage analysis follows the passage of genetic markers within haplotypes through the generations (Williams et al., 2011). If a marker consistently accompanies the phenotype of interest, this suggests a gene that is in close to proximity to that marker may confer causation (Burton et al., 2005). In practice, haplotypes cannot be traced further than a few generations and affected siblings are therefore commonly used to compare haplotypes. An important factor in linkage analysis is the rate of recombination segregating two loci. This is known as the recombination fraction ( $\Theta$ ) and describes how far apart genetic loci are by quantifying the probability of recombination between them (Williams et al., 2011). Loci that are close to each other on the same chromosome are more likely to be segregated together than loci on separate chromosomes (Teare, 2005). If  $\Theta$  is  $\geq$ 50% then the loci are just as likely to recombine as not as they are far apart or on different chromosomes (Williams et al., 2011)  $\Theta$  is used to calculate the logarithm of the odds (LOD) score which is the likelihood of linkage between two loci. The higher the LOD, the greater the evidence that two loci co-segregate and are linked (Teare, 2005). Using this method, linkage analysis can narrow down a genomic location containing the gene of interest (Williams et al., 2011), (Teare, 2005).

#### 1.6.5 Association analysis studies

Genetic association studies look for association between genetic variants and a phenotype in a study population of unrelated individuals. They compare the frequency of alleles between affected individuals and a control group of unaffected individuals. They are therefore usually case-control studies. Association analysis has greater power than linkage studies to detect variants with small effects and are therefore popularly used to study common complex diseases (Cordell, 2005). Identified variants can either be causative loci (directly associated) or markers in linkage disequilibrium (LD) with the causative loci (indirectly associated). Two loci are deemed to be in LD if, they are present together on a haplotype more frequently than would be expected when tested across many individuals (Jorde, 2000). As it is likely that a number of the causative variants will be in non-coding regions it is difficult to select candidates for association analysis. Therefore, indirect association analyses are most commonly used despite being weaker than direct analyses. (Palmer, 2005). In order to reduce the risk of false negatives in indirect association studies we need adequate mapping of variants and their LD markers. This genetic mapping is being carried out by the International HapMap Project. The International HapMap (haplotype mapping) project established in 2002 provides an online open source database which catalogues SNP frequencies, genotypes and haplotypes data for 4 genetically diverse populations (Yoruba in Ibadan, Nigeria (YRI), Han Chinese in Beijing, China (CHB), Japanese individuals from Tokyo, Japan (JPT) and European ancestry living in Utah from the

Centre d'Etude du Polymorphisme Human database (CEU)) (International HapMap Consortium, 2005). The website contains a genome browser which allows the user to find SNPs in any region of interest and can be used to determine tag SNPs for use in association studies. The advancement of SNP mapping and LD patterns together with technological advances allows investigators to now select a set of genetic markers that efficiently assays most common genetic variations (Skol et al., 2006). The 1000 genome project was an international collaboration which was established in 2008 with the aim of creating a comprehensive description of common human genetic variation. The final phase of the project, published in 2015, characterised over 84 million SNPs in 2,504 individuals from 26 populations around the world and provides one benchmark for studies of human genetic variation (Auton et al., 2015).

#### 1.6.6 Genome wide association studies (GWAS)

The reduced cost of genotyping, advancements in genomic, increasing SNP databases and LD pattern mapping has allowed us to carry out association analyses across the whole genome. GWAS can be undertaken across large populations using a hypothesis-free approach. It therefore allows us to identify susceptibility loci without first having to undertake a linkage scan. The scanning of loci across the whole genome aims to identify clusters of SNPs in association with a particular phenotype. Clustering would imply that markers are in LD with other and therefore close to the susceptibility locus (Williams et al., 2011). Many early studies are often said to be underpowered and robust study design including population stratification, adequate genotyping and analysis is paramount (Hattersley, 2005). In order to reduce the risk of false positive results and increase the power of these studies, replication and meta-analyses should be undertaken.

#### 1.6.7 The genetic association with osteolysis

A number of candidate gene studies have shown that genetic variation in genes encoding various inflammatory cytokines is associated with osteolysis. Wilkinson *et al*  showed an association between variability within the DNA encoding the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) promoter region (dbSNP rs361525) and risk of osteolysis following THA (Wilkinson, 2003). Subjects with osteolysis were approximately 1.7 times as likely to carry the variant DNA code as those subjects with no osteolysis. This association has been replicated in an independent population by Ambruzova *et al (Ambruzova Z, 2006)*. Gordon *et al* have reported genetic variation within the genes encoding Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RN) and IL-6 is also associated with osteolysis (Gordon A et al., 2008). Similar associations have also been identified in other populations (Kolundzic, 2006, Gallo, 2009, Malik, 2007).

Variation within genes that regulate bone turnover also associate with osteolysis. Gordon *et al* showed that carriage of the dbSNP rs288326 variant in the *FRZB* gene encoding secreted frizzled-related protein-3 (Frp3), a regulatory glycoprotein within the osteogenic Wnt signalling pathway that modulates mesenchymal stem cell differentiation of osteoblasts (Martin TJ, 2008), associated with susceptibility to osteolysis following THA (Gordon A et al., 2007). Its carriage also associated with the development of heterotopic ossification following THA. Malik *et al* have also shown associations between aseptic loosening and other candidate loci within the genes encoding matrix metalloproteinase 1 and the vitamin D receptor (Malik, 2007), mannose-binding lectin (Malik MH et al., 2007), and the RANK/OPG pathway (Malik MH et al., 2006).

Recent studies using beadchip assays have shown that many genes are differentially expressed in wear debris-induced cells and tissues (Garrigues GE, 2005, Shanbhag AS, 2007, Koulouvaris P, 2008), and have highlighted our limited understanding of the spectrum of biological mediators involved in the pathogenesis of osteolysis. The identification of further risk loci is required to further understanding of the pathogenesis of aseptic loosening. This would potentially allow for the development of screening tools, and provide investigational targets for prophylaxis or treatment with the aim of reducing the need for revision surgery, and its associated morbidity.

66

The reducing cost of genotyping, advances in genomic technology, and increasing SNP mapping now allows us to carry out cost-efficient association analyses across the whole genome in large populations, and is the next step that will allow a more complete understanding of the contribution of genetic factors to osteolysis.

#### 1.6.8 The genetic association with HO

The increased incidence of HO in bone forming disorders and the heterogeneity in HO manifestation in patients with similar injury patterns suggests a genetic predisposition. To date, the majority of genetic research has looked at the rare heritable causes of HO and few screening studies have been carried out in other populations.

The rare genetic forms of HO, fibrous dysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP) and progressive osseous heteroplasia (POH), are characterised by progressive extraskeletal bone formation following minor trauma (Kaplan and Shore, 2000). FOP is caused by an autosomal dominant mutation in the ACVR1 gene. ACVR1 encodes the bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) type I receptor activating-like kinase2 (ALK2) (Shore et al., 2006). This gain of function mutation has been shown in the knock-in mouse model to promote the spontaneous and injury induced formation of HO (Kaplan et al., 2012). Bone formation typically starts in the neck and thoracic spine but progresses over time eventually bridging the joints of the axial and appendicular skeleton (Shore and Kaplan, 2010). This leads to complete immobilisation of the body and has led to the colloquial term "stone man syndrome." Like FOP, POH leads to extensive ectopic ossification but is differentiated by a number of clinical differences. The heterotopic ossification originates in the dermis and progresses into the deeper soft tissues (Kaplan et al., 1994). POH is caused by an inactivating mutation in GNAS, which encodes the stimulatory G-protein alpha subunit that activates adenylyl cyclases and is involved in bone formation (Shore et al., 2002).

Larson et al found that patients with HLA-B27 were more likely to develop HO following traumatic spinal cord injury (Larson et al., 1981). The absence of HLA-B27, however, does not preclude the development of HO. Candidate gene studies have associated variants in genes encoding the  $\beta_2$ adrenergic receptor, toll-like receptor (TLR) 4, complement factor H, and secreted frizzled related protein 3 (sFRP3) with susceptibility to HO (Gordon A et al., 2007, Mitchell et al., 2010). As with osteolysis, no genome wide analyses for HO have been carried out to date. This hypothesis free approach has the potential to identify variants in genes which have never before been implicated in its pathogenesis. This will further our understanding of the biological pathways involved which currently elude us.

## 1.7 Study Hypotheses

- 1. We hypothesise that genetic variation contributes to osteolysis susceptibility and time to prosthesis failure following THA.
- 2. We hypothesise that genetic variation contributes to heterotopic ossification susceptibility and severity following THA.
- We hypothesise that national joint registries can be utilised for large scale recruitment and postal collection of saliva samples provides adequate DNA yield to establish a DNA biobank for high throughput genotyping.

## 1.8 Study Aims

## 1.8.1 Primary Aims

- 1. To conduct a candidate gene study to determine whether variants in genes involved in bone turnover and inflammatory pathways contribute to osteolysis susceptibility and time to prosthesis failure following THA.
- 2. To conduct a GWAS to identify susceptibility loci for osteolysis and time to prosthesis failure following THA.

## 1.8.2 Secondary Aims

- 1. To conduct a replication study of osteolysis GWAS results and meta-analysis of both stages.
- 2. To conduct a single stage GWAS to identify susceptibility loci for heterotopic ossification (HO) after THA.
- 3. To conduct a single stage GWAS for severity of HO after THA.

# CHAPTER 2 METHODS

## 2.1 Overview

This chapter outlines the various methodological approaches, their principles and application as used in the thesis. Specific methods, as they apply to individual studies are outlined briefly within each results chapter, as the applications differ for each experiment.

## 2.2 Phenotype Definition

## 2.2.1 Osteolysis case definition

Available radiographs were examined to identify presence of aseptic loosening. The criteria of Harris and McGann were used to define loosening of the femoral prosthesis (Harris and McGann, 1986):

Definition of loosening	Radiographic morphology
Definitely loose	1. Migration of cement
	2. Fracture of cement
	3. Lucent line at the cement stem interface
Probably loose	Continuous (100%) line at the cement bone interface without prosthesis migration
Possibly Loose	Incomplete lucent line (50 - 90%) at the cement
	bone interface

The criteria of Harris and Penenberg were used to define loosening of the acetabular cup prosthesis (Harris and Penenberg, 1987):

Definition of loosening	Radiographic morphology
Definitely loose	<ol> <li>Migration of the acetabular cup</li> <li>Fracture of cement</li> </ol>
Impending loosening	Continuous (100%) line at the cement bone interface that is nowhere less than 2mm wide

Femoral gradings: definitely loose and probably loose and acetabular gradings: definitely loose and impending loosening were included in this study as cases. Possibly loose grades were excluded from the study.

## 2.2.2 Prosthesis survival time

Prosthesis survival time was measured in the cases as the time between the date of primary surgery to the date of radiographic diagnosis of osteolysis (or date of revision surgery if the date of diagnosis was not known). In the controls, it was determined as the time between the date of primary surgery and the date of the most recent radiograph.

## 2.2.3 HO Identification and grading

Presence of HO was assessed on AP plain radiographs of not less than 1-year post THA. Cases comprised subjects with radiographic evidence of post-operative HO and were graded (0-4) using the Brooker classification as described earlier in this thesis.
# 2.3 Ein Bild Roentgen Analyse (EBRA) measurement of wear

## 2.3.1 Principles of EBRA

Polyethylene wear rate is an important predictor of osteolysis. It is therefore important to have reliable methods for measuring polyethylene wear radiographically. Good correlation between radiographic measurements of wear and measurements made on retrieved cups has been shown (Livermore et al., 1990). The EBRA method, developed at the University of Innsbruck, Austria, was originally used to assess acetabular cup and femoral stem migration (Wilkinson et al., 2002). The software was later modified allowing wear measurements to be made (Ilchmann et al., 1995). A grid of transverse and longitudinal tangents is drawn between prominent pelvic structures determining the position of the pelvis (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Reference lines of EBRA.

Following this, the software allows the size and position of the femoral head and the acetabular cup contrast wire to be measured. The software then measures the distance between the centre of the femoral head and the centre of the cup on the x and y axes, thereby calculating a vector of linear wear of the polyethylene cup by the femoral head.



**Figure 2.2** Schematic representation of the wear vector as measured by EBRA. It is calculated by measuring the distance on the x and y axis of the centre of the femoral head to the centre of the acetabular cup.

EBRA has good accuracy when compared to other plain radiographic measurement methods (Ilchmann et al., 1995).

## 2.3.2 Discovery cohort wear measurements

EBRA software was used to calculate wear measurements for patients with available and appropriate radiographs. For the osteolysis group, measurements were obtained from radiographs obtained immediately prior to revision surgery. The control group measurements were taken from the most recently available radiographs. Wear vectors were used as a covariate in the osteolysis susceptibility and time to failure quantitative trait analyses. Subjects without radiographs were allocated interpolated wear rates calculated by the mean of wear rates in their group (cases or controls). As EBRA had been used to measure linear wear for subjects previously recruited in the Sheffield genetic hip study, this method was continued for our newly recruited subjects. Although we accept of lack of volumetric wear measurement using EBRA, we deemed linear wear an acceptable measure as the largest femoral head diameter was 29mm.

# 2.4 DNA Sampling

#### 2.4.1 Sources of DNA

Genomic DNA can be extracted from a number of human sources where nucleated cells are present. Blood is the most commonly used source of DNA for genetic testing and it yields large amounts of high quality DNA. Its collection does, however, require study subjects to attend for an invasive procedure, and collection needs to be carried out by trained phlebotomists Large scale genetic epidemiological studies require large numbers of study subjects and therefore require more convenient methods of DNA sample collection. Saliva has been shown in various studies to be a viable alternative source of genomic DNA to whole blood for genetic epidemiological studies and whole genome scanning (Ng, 2005), (Rogers et al., 2007), (Nishista, 2009) (Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006). Both blood and saliva were used in this study. All DNA samples from extant subjects were extracted from whole blood and have been stored at -80°C. Prospectively recruited patients have been recruited through postal invites and therefore all DNA samples have been extracted from saliva samples received through this route.

## 2.4.2 DNA collection

All saliva samples were collected using the Oragene OG-500DNA self-saliva collection kit (DNA Genotek, Inc., Ottawa, Ontario, Canada). This is an all in one system for the collection, stabilisation, transportation and purification of saliva. Each kit contains (1) Collection tube: The lid of which contains 2mls of DNA stabiliser and purifier (to prevent bacterial growth and degradation of DNA), (2) Sealing cap, (3) Instructions for use.

# 2.4.3 Sample collection



The instructions for saliva donation, as recommended by DNA Genotek, are:

Figure 2.3 Collection instructions

- 1. Spit into the collection tube until the level of saliva has reached the fill line after the bubbles have settled.
- 2. Close the lid pushing hard until a click is heard, thus breaking the seal releasing the DNA stabiliser and purifier.
- 3. Unscrew the funnelled lid from the collection bottle as it does not have a satisfactory seal for storage and transportation.
- 4. Tightly screw small cap provided onto the collection tube for transportation and storage.

It is important not to eat, drink, smoke or chew gum for 30 minutes before providing a saliva sample.

## 2.4.4 DNA extraction

#### Equipment and reagents required:

- 1. Water bath at 50°C
- 2. Centrifuge that accommodates 15 mL tubes and capable of 4500 rpm.
- 3. Micro-centrifuge that accommodates 2 mL Eppendorf tubes and capable of 12,000 rpm
- 4. 15 mL conical Falcon tubes
- 5. 2 mL micro-centrifuge tubes
- 6. 100% ethanol at room temperature
- 7. 70% ethanol at room temperature
- 8. TE DNA storage buffer (10 mM TrisHCl, 1 mM EDTA)
- 9. prepIT<sup>TM</sup>·L2P DNA purifier reagent
- 10.3 mL sterile pastette pipettes

# **DNA extraction procedure** (CIGMR SOP and Oragene DNA laboratory protocol)

- 1. Mix saliva sample in collection tube by gently shaking to ensure sample is properly mixed with Oragene DNA solution.
- 2. Incubate sample at 50°C in a water bath for at least 1 hour to maximize DNA yield and ensure nucleases are permanently inactivated.
- 3. Transfer the entire sample (4 mL) into the 15 mL Falcon tube noting the sample volume and colour.
- 4. Add 160 μL of prepIT DNA purifier reagent and mix by vortexing for a few seconds. The sample should become turbid as impurities are precipitated.



Figure 2.4 Turbid impurities

- 5. Incubate in -20 °C freezer for 5 minutes, remove, shake and place back in freezer for another 5 minutes to assist impurity removal.
- 6. Centrifuge at room temperature at 4500 rpm for 15 minutes. Following this step a pellet of impurities will be seen at the bottom of the tube. The supernatant should be clear and will contain DNA in solution



Figure 2.5 Impurity pellet

7. Remove the supernatant with a 3 mL pastette pipette carefully avoiding disturbance of the pellet. If any disturbance of the pellet occurs the sample must be re-centrifuged.

8. Add 4 mL of 100% ethanol at room temperature and gently mix by inverting tube 10 times. The precipitated DNA should now become visible in the tube as a string or clot of white fibres.





- 9. The sample should be left to stand at room temperature allowing full precipitation of DNA.
- 10. Centrifuge the sample at room temperature at 4500 rpm for 15 minutes. Following this step a pellet of DNA should be seen at the bottom of the tube.
- 11. Pour out the 100% ethanol (the DNA pellet should be stable at the bottom of the tube).
- 12. Add wash of 1 mL of 70% ethanol to ensure any residual inhibitors are removed.
- 13. Carefully removed the DNA pellet with the 70% ethanol and place into a 2 mL micro-centrifuge tube.
- 14. Centrifuge at 12000 rpm for 15 minutes
- 15. Pour out ethanol (again DNA pellet should be stable at bottom of tube) and leave tube to stand at room temperature for 20 minutes allowing remaining ethanol to evaporate and pellet to fully dehydrate.
- 16. Rehydrate pellet by adding 1 mL of TE buffer and vortex sample for 30 seconds. The sample should be placed on orbital plate shaker overnight to ensure complete rehydration of DNA.

# 2.4.5 Sample storage

Appropriate storage of DNA samples is important to ensure optimum yield and quality. The storage factors that can potentially affect DNA are storage tube material, storage temperature, and freeze thaw cycles (Lee, 2010).

TE buffer is used in the rehydration and storage of extracted DNA. Cell lysis during DNA extraction can alter the pH of the solution. Tris buffers the solution keeping the pH to near neutral and protecting the pH sensitive DNA. EDTA helps inactivate nucleases by chelating the cations required for their normal function.

Isolated DNA may be stored at 4°C for several weeks, -20°C for several months and -80°C for years (Holland et al., 2003). An EU workshop for Biobanks has recommended that DNA samples are frozen to prevent bacterial growth and reduce risk of sample loss through evaporation (EU\_Workshop, 2003). The UK Biobank recommends storing samples at -20°C to inhibit nucleases (UK Biobank 2004). A study by Smith et al comparing optimal storage conditions found that the highest quantity of DNA remained in the samples stored at -80°C (Smith and Morin, 2005). Freeze-thawing causes double strand breakages of DNA (Grecz et al., 1980). DNA Genotek claim that Oragene DNA samples can be freeze-thawed 3 times without evidence of DNA degradation (www.dnagenotek.com).

The majority of our samples were stored initially at room temperature until DNA was extracted following manufacturer's recommendations. A small number of samples were stored at -20°C prior to extraction. All samples were stored at -20°C following extraction. Long term storage following processing was at -80°C.

# 2.5 DNA quality control measures

# 2.5.1 Summary of control process

DNA samples included in the candidate gene study had previously undergone quality control measures using picogreen quantification and gel electrophoresis analysis. The

quality control process before whole genome scanning included visual inspection, volume measurement, Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay quality control (QC), picogreen quantification and gel analysis.



Figure 2.7 Quality control process used in these studies

# 2.5.2 Visual inspection

Each sample plate is inspected to ensure no damage had occurred on transportation and that no samples were of uncharacteristic colour.

# 2.5.3 Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay quality control

The Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay QC plex contains 30 autosomal SNPs and 5 gender SNPs. It allows the identification of plate rotations and ensures that the gender information in the accompanying manifest is reflected in the physical plate.

## 2.5.4 Visualisation by electrophoresis on an agarose gel

## Principles of DNA gel electrophoresis

Electrophoresis is a method used to separate DNA strands based on their rate of movement while under the influence of an electric field (Sharp et al., 1973). Agarose is a natural polysaccharide purified from seaweed. The agarose gel used is porous and permits passage of the DNA strands. The negatively charged phosphate ions forming the DNA backbone are attracted to the positive electrode at one end of the gel tray initiating movement of the DNA strands. The rate of movement of a DNA fragment is directly proportional its size (Southern, 1979).

## Equipment required:

- 1. Agarose powder
- 2. Microwave
- 3. 500µg/mL ethidium bromide
- 4. Gel casting tray and comb well divider
- 5. 1X TE buffer
- 6. Power supply
- 7. Distilled water
- 8. Xylene cyanol loading dye

# Agarose gel electrophoresis method:

Ethidium bromide is mutagenic and should be handled with extreme caution.

- Make a 1% agarose gel by mixing 1g of agarose powder in 100ml of 1X TE buffer. Place in the microwave for 2 minutes until all powder crystals have dissolved. Add 2µL of ethidium bromide and swirl. Pour in to a gel casting tray with well divider in place and leave for at least an hour to cool.
- 2. Once cooled, transfer the solidified gel into a distilled water basin and pull out well divider to reveal wells.
- 3. Put 4µL of the DNA ladder standard into well number 1.
- 4. Mix 2µL xylene cyanol loading dye with 8µLof of each DNA sample to be tested. The xylene loading dye gives colour to the samples and also renders them denser that the buffer causing them to sink in the wells. Like DNA, it is negatively charged, and moves towards the positive electrode. It can therefore be used is used to assess how fast the gel is running.
- 5. Pipette each 10 µL DNA sample into each well.
- 6. Slide the top on the water basin and run gel for 30 minutes.
- 7. Place gel into UV reader

# Electrophoresis for DNA extraction technique validation

Fourteen test samples of volunteer DNA were extracted from 2ml saliva samples. Test samples were run on an electrophoresis agarose gel in conjunction with a 1Kb DNA standard ladder in order to validate the extraction method, (figure 2.8). All samples showed high molecular weight DNA (greater than 10Kbp), with no evidence of degradation.



**Figure 2.8** Agarose electrophoretic gel of 14 test samples of showing extracted high molecular weight DNA.

# Electrophoresis as part of Sanger quality control measures:

300ng of each sample was separated via gel electrophoresis on a 2% gel. DNA fragments were identified using ethidium bromide. Degraded samples, identified as missing or very faint bands, were excluded from the study.

# 2.5.5 DNA Quantitation

Determining DNA concentration extracted from human tissue samples is an important quality control step for the success of genotyping assays. Commonly practiced methods include spectrophotometry (nanodrop) and fluorometry (picogreen/ Qubit fluorometry).

#### **Principles of PicoGreen quantitation**

The main disadvantage of spectrophotometry is the inability to distinguish between double stranded DNA (dsDNA), single stranded DNA (ssDNA) and RNA. In addition, the presence of proteins and phenols in the sample can alter the UV readings (Blotta et al., 2005). Spectrophotometry tends, therefore, to over-estimate the concentration of double stranded DNA in a sample.

The introduction of cyanine dyes improved the specificity of nucleic acid quantitation. PicoGreen is a sensitive fluorochrome that selectively binds dsDNA. When bound to dsDNA, fluorescence enhancement is very high and due to its specificity, presence of ssDNA and RNA has little effect on the quantitation result (Ahn S. Nucleic acids research 1996). The concentration of dsDNA in a test sample can be measured by plotting fluorescence on a linear range determined by known standard DNA concentration.

#### Picogreen quantitation as part of Sanger quality control measures

Picogreen quantitation was carried out by the genotyping team at the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute (WTSI), Cambridge. Double stranded DNA (dsDNA) concentration was measured using the Invitrogen Quant-iT PicoGreen dsDNA assay. Samples with a concentration of less than 35  $\mu$ L were excluded from the GWAS study.

#### **Principles of Qubit Fluorometry**

In addition to picogreen quantitation carried out at the WTSI, we undertook prior quantitation of suspended DNA samples using Qubit<sup>™</sup> dsDNA BR Assay Kits and the Qubit<sup>™</sup> 2.0 Fluorometer (Invitrogen Ltd, Paisley, UK). Qubit fluorometry uses the

same principles as picogreen. The dyes used selectively bind dsDNA. This binding alters the fluorescence of the dye increasing its fluorescence by several orders of magnitude. The manufacturers have shown that the QubitdsDNA assays have comparable accuracy to Invitrogen Quant-iT PicoGreen dsDNA assay.

# Qubit<sup>™</sup> 2.0 Flourometric Quantitation method:

- Pre-label the 0.5ml PCR Tubes (Axygen PCR-05-C tubes, Part No. 10011-830, VWR) with the Patient ID of the samples you in intend to quantitate. Label 2 additional tubes for the DNA standards 1 and 2. Note: The Sample tubes should always be kept in the same linear order as your spreadsheet; this will help with re-entering the values into the spreadsheet later on.
- 2. Prepare the Working Solution by mixing the Qubit dsDNA BR Reagent with the Qubit dsDNA BR Buffer in a 1:200 ratio. Invert 10 times to mix. The exact amounts needed to make up the working solution can be calculated using the following formulae.
  - 200 x n = t
  - t n = b

Where n = the number of samples to be quantitated + 2.

- Also, n = the amount of Qubit dsDNA BR Reagent needed (µl) b = the amount of Qubit dsDNA BR Buffer needed (µl)
  - t = the total volume of the working solution
- 3. Load 190µl of the Qubit working solution into each of the two standards tubes and load 10µl of the corresponding standard into each tube.
- 4. Load 198µl of the Qubit working solution into each of the tubes intended for the samples. Try to avoid creating bubbles. If processing a large number of samples in one run (>100), it is recommended that you load the working solution in batches of 50 at a time, this reduces the risk of contamination and evaporation from the assay tubes. Note: When using the Fluorometer you can load anything between 1µl and 20µl of sample into each tube as long as the final assay tube volume is

made up to 200µl, therefore the amount of Qubit Working solution needed in each tube depends on the amount of sample you want to use. However, when quantitating following DNA extraction using Oragene -500 DNA Self Collection Kits and ethanol precipitation, the optimal amount of sample needed is 2µl, as this way you are less likely to find that the concentration of DNA in your assay tube is too high or too low for the fluorimeter to read.

- Load 2µl of each sample into its corresponding tube, vortexing the stock tube briefly prior to each load. Try to avoid creating bubbles. Pipetting accuracy is very important.
- 6. Once all of the assay tubes have been made up to 200 μl with the working solution and the DNA sample, shake the samples to mix and remove any bubbles.
- Allow the Assay tubes to incubate at room temperature for 2 minutes.
  Note: After this incubation period, the fluorescence signal is stable for 3 hours only at room temperature.
- 8. Turn on the Qubit 2.0 Fluorometer and select DNA, then dsDNA Broad Range
- 9. The fluorimeter will prompt you to read new standards, follow the instructions for reading these standards. New standards should be set every time you perform a batch of quantitations. Always check the standards with the 'Check Stds.' Tab, one should be low concentration with a value of approximately 100, and the other should be high concentration at around 10,000.
- 10. Quantitate the first sample as prompted by the fluorimeter, this involves placing the sample into the well, closing the lid, then pressing 'read'. You should always remove any bubbles prior to reading by gently flicking the assay tube. Try not to hold the tubes in your hand for too long as raising the temperature will affect the reading.
- 11. After the first sample has been read, press 'Calculate Stock Conc.'. Select the appropriate Sample volume from the wheel (in our case 2 μl) and this will calculate the concentration of the sample in your stock tube. Choose the units 'ng/μl'. This will help with entering the data into your spreadsheet.

- 12. Proceed to read all of the samples. It is very important that the order is kept the same and sample readings aren't missed or duplicated as the order that the samples are read are the only way of matching them back to their corresponding patient ID numbers.
- 13. Once all read, double check that you have the correct number of readings, then save the data to a memory card.
- 14. The total DNA yield for each sample was calculated with the following formula:  $v (c \times d)$  where v = stock volume, c = concentration of DNA in assay tube, d = dilution factor.

# 2.6 DNA Genotyping

## 2.6.1 Candidate gene approach

## **SNP Tagging**

Tagging SNP selection was performed using Hapmap Gene Browser (release #24, phase 1 and 2 – full dataset, www.hapmap.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and Haploview software (v4.2, www.broadinstitute.org/haploview/haploview) using a pairwise tagging approach ( $r^2$ =0.8). Common variants (MAF≥0.05) within the gene of interest, and extending 5Kb upstream and 2Kb downstream to include variants within the adjacent regulatory flanking sequences, were tagged using this approach.

## FASTA file configuration

Once tagging SNPs were identified using the HapMap *Gene Browser (release #24, phase 1 and 2 – full dataset, www.hapmap.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov)* was used to generate a FASTA file for genotyping. A FASTA file consists of the variant of interest and its

flanking sequence which is used on the probe design to allow hybridisation and identification of the variant in question.

#### Principles of KASPar assay genotyping

Genotyping for the candidate gene study described in chapter 4 was outsourced to KBioscience Ltd (Hoddeston, Herts, UK) using competitive allele specific PCR (KASP). KASPar is run initially as a standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The primer mix consists of 2 allele specific oligonucleotide forward primers and a common reverse primer. During the first round of PCR the allele-specific primer binds to the region directly upstream of the SNP of interest while the 3' end of the primer binds to its complementary base on the SNP. Simultaneously the reverse primer binds the complementary strand. The KASP Tag DNA polymerase extends each strand thereby copying the region of DNA containing the SNP of interest. There are two oligonucleotides in the assay mix which are fluorescently labelled at their 5' ends. These sequences are identical to the tail sequence of the allele specific primers and are labelled with either FAM or VIC. During the annealing stage the fluorescently labelled oligonucleotides binds to its complementary tail sequence and is further extended by the KASP Taq. Further PCR amplification produces more fluorescently labelled templates. The fluorescent signal generated allows differentiation of heterozygosity or homozygosity for an allele.

## 2.6.2 Principles of high throughput genotyping

A DNA microarray is a solid slide which is "arrayed" with multiple microscopic spots, known as features. Each spot contains picomoles of oligonucleotides of specific DNA sequences known as probes (Manoj Kumar, 2009). These probes are attached to the solid surface by a covalent bond. Each probe is used to hybridize a complimentary DNA strand allowing a specific locus (allele) to be examined through fluorescence based detection (Schena et al., 1995).

A genotyping array must have the ability to interrogate loci associated with the phenotype of interest. This may be either directly, by including genetic variants responsible or indirectly, by including SNPs in sufficient linkage disequilibrium with the causative variants (Carlson et al., 2003). Data from the international hap map project allows the indirect approach to be implemented and forms the basis for SNP selection of genotyping arrays.



Figure 2.9 Principle of microarrays

# 2.6.3 Microarray chip selection

There are a number of commercially available microarray chips, each providing better coverage in some genomic regions than others (Saccone). Ideally one would choose the chip that best matches the study population. The most popular criterion for this is

global coverage, defined as the fraction of common SNPs tagged by the SNPs on the chip (Li et al., 2008).

# 2.6.4 Discovery cohort GWAS genotyping Illumina Human610-Quad BeadChip:

Genotyping for the discovery cohorts described in chapters 5 and 7 was carried out using the Illumina Human610-Quad Beadchip. It uses tag SNPs to the coverage of 624,000 randomly selected SNPs. It provides 89% coverage of the Caucasian European (CEU) HapMap loci (MAF>5%, LD r<sup>2</sup>>0.8) using tags based on the Caucasian HapMap population (Illumina DNA analysis, www.illumina.com).

**2.6.5 Replication cohort GWAS genotyping** Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay MassARRAY iPLEX platform:

The replication cohort genotyping was performed using the Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay MassARRAY iPLEX assay and the MassARRAY® System (Agena Bioscience Inc, Hamburg, Germany). Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay's MassARRAY software designs extension primers for SNPs of interest. It is able to perform high throughput genotyping using a multiplexed PCR approach using a single extension primer and is capable of >100,000 genotypes per day (Gabriel et al., 2009).

## 2.7 Genome data analysis

#### 2.7.1 PLINK

PLINK (version 1.07) is an open-source whole genome association analysis toolset which can be download from the psychiatric and neurodevelopmental genetic unit website affiliated with the Harvard Medical School (www.pngu.mgh.harvard.edu/~purcell/plink). It was developed by Shaun Purcell at the Centre for Human Genetic Research (CHGR), Massachusetts General Hospital and the Broad Institute of Harvard (Purcell et al., 2007). It was designed to deal with the many challenges of whole genome study analysis. It has the ability to manage with large GWAS datasets. It can deal with confounding caused by population stratification and non-random genotype failure. It has the ability to perform a number of association analyses allowing for covariates. It can also utilise common SNP panels to examine chromosomal regions in order to identify unexpected relatedness as a cause for multiple rare variants. It can be run on an MS-DOS platform as a command line program. It focuses purely on the analysis of genotype/ phenotype data in the form of PED and MAP files.

#### **PED Files**

The PED file is a white space delimited file and contains phenotypic and genotypic data. The first 6 columns are mandatory and contain: Family ID, Individual ID, Paternal ID, Maternal ID, Sex, Phenotype.

No blanks can be left in the file. If any data is unknown (such as sex or paternal/ maternal ID) they are recorded as 0. Phenotypic data must be entered as either a binary or continuous (quantitative trait) value. PLINK automatically recognises which.

The following columns contain the allele data at each locus for each individual.

92

#### **MAP Files**

The MAP file is also a white space delimited file. It contains the genetic information. Each line describes a single marker and contains 4 columns: Chromosome, Reference SNP (rs) number, Genetic distance (morgans), Base pair position (bp units).

Each marker must represent those in each genotypic column on the PED file. The minimum data required on a MAP file for an analysis to be carried out is the rs number. Data for each rs number is available on the HapMap website (www.hapmap.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov).

## **PLINK** quality control measures

Prior to association analyses sample and SNP quality controls measures were undertaken.

#### Missingness

The missingness command identifies missing data from the MAP and PED files. Individuals or SNPs with missing data are excluded from analyses.

#### Minor allele frequency (MAF)

A list of minor allele frequencies can be generated for each SNP. A MAF threshold can be selected during association analyses. Variants with MAF <0.05 were not included in analyses.

## Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium

The Hardy-Weinberg principle states that for a population, the allele and genotype frequencies remain constant unless less there is non-random mating, mutations,

evolutionary selection, limited population size, migration (Hardy, 1908). Deviation from this equilibrium may potentiate bias in allele frequencies in a population and checking Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium is now common practice in association studies (Wigginton, 2005).

The Hardy Weinberg equation can be used to estimate the frequency of alleles in a population.

For a population in genetic equilibrium:  $p^2 + 2pq + q^2 = 1$ 

Where p = frequency of the dominant allele and q = frequency of the recessive allele.

A list of genotype counts and Hardy-Weinberg test statistics can be generated for each SNP using PLINK. A p value threshold is calculated as per Bonferroni (0.05/ number of markers). Any marker with a p value below 0.0001 was excluded from analyses.

#### Association analyses

Standard case/control association analysis can be carried out using  $\chi^2$  test. In order to adjust for covariates a linear regression model is used. The minor allele frequency threshold of >0.05 and confidence interval of 95% was adjusted and implemented in each analysis. For continuous phenotypic data a linear regression model analysis for quantitative trait loci was carried out. Again, covariates were adjusted for.

#### 2.7.2 GWAS Power calculation

The power calculation for our GWAS was made using Quanto v1.2 (Gauderman and Morrison, 2006). Our discovery analysis had  $\geq$ 80% power to detect a variant with risk allele frequency 0.35 with an allelic OR of 1.65. The replication analysis had  $\geq$ 80% power to detect a variant with risk allele frequency of 0.45 and allelic OR of 1.45. We attempted to reduce the impact of modest power by looking only at common variants (MAF  $\geq$ 0.05) but consequently we are unable to predict the importance rarer variants may have on osteolysis.

#### 2.7.3 SNPTEST whole genome association analyses

#### SNPTEST

SNPTEST is an open-source program for single SNP association in genome wide analyses. The software is part of the Oxford University genome-wide analysis software suite (OGWASS) and can be downloaded from https://mathgen.stats.ox.ac.uk/genetics\_software/snptest/snptest. To use SNPTEST all commands were created using the UNIX common operating system. A knowledge of the appropriate UNIX command lines was required to run this software and create the shell scripts required for analyses. Due to the large volume of data and statistical tests run in GWAS all analyses were run using the Sanger Institutes platform load sharing facility (LSF) known as "The Farm." This workload management platform uses multiple LSF clusters to efficiently run association analyses and other data-intensive processes.

#### Sample and SNP Quality Control

We undertook post quality control checks at sample and SNP level. Samples were excluded if they failed gender check, had a call rate <95%, or had excess homozygosity or heterozygosity out with 3 SD of the mean (using autosomal SNPs) Genome-wide pair-wise identity by descent (IBD) for each sample was used to identify duplicates and related samples. We removed any sample with a  $\pi^{\Lambda}$  >0.2. Ancestry was validated by multidimensional scaling (MDS) and principle component analysis (PCA) using Goldsurfer (Pettersson et al., 2008) after autosomal data from the discovery cohort was merged with HapMap 3 data (The\_International\_HapMap\_Consortium, 2007). Samples identified by genotype to be from individuals of non-UK European ancestry were excluded from association analyses. SNP QC was carried out on autosomal SNPs. SNPs were excluded if they had a minor allele frequency (MAF) ≥5% and a call rate <95%, or a MAF <5% and call rate <99%. Monomorphic SNPs were excluded. SNPs with an exact Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) p<0.0001 were excluded.

#### **1000 Genome Imputation**

Genotype imputation is the process of predicting genotypes which haven't been directly assayed. This is an in silico process which uses data from a reference panel to infer missing genotype data into a study dataset. This increases the number of SNPs that can be tested for association thereby increasing power (Spencer et al., 2009). It also has the potential of improving fine mapping of an associated region (Marchini and Howie, 2010). We imputed the GWAS dataset using the European reference panel from the 1000 Genomes Project (Dec 2010 phase I interim release) (1000 Genomes consortium et al, 2010), and using IMPUTE2 (Marchini et al., 2007).

## **SNP** Association Analysis Plan

- Create a folder for association analyses which includes the following files: i) Sample file (needs to be a space delimited text file), ii) Gen file (separate file for each chromosome, iii) snptest program.
- 2. Create shell script to run snptest association analysis.
- 3. The analysis will generate 3 output files per chromosome (text, log, and error). Check that all error files are empty and check in log files that correct number of samples and covariates has been included in analysis.
- 4. Create a new folder named "snptest output" and copy all text output files into folder
- 5. Use the merge perl script to merge all files into a single output file.
- 6. Use the filter perl script to filter merge output file (change MAF and info scores to desired threshold on script before running).
- 7. Using R scripts, create Manhattan and QQ plots for the filtered output file

- 8. In order to identify low p value snps, run the perl filter script again but this time include a p value threshold of  $9 \times 10^{-5}$ .
- 9. Open new file in excel spreadsheet and sort in p value order (smallest to largest).
- 10. Sort by chromosome order and add sorting level for chromosomal position (smallest to largest).
- 11. Add new column and name "signal."
- 12. Looking at the chromosomal positions group snps into signals within 300Kb of each other.
- 13. Now resort by signal and add sorting level for p value. The lowest p value snp in each signal is the index snp.
- 14. Using Locuszoom software, create regional association plots for each signal.

## Whole genome association analyses

Osteolysis susceptibility case-control analysis and a quantitative trait locus (QTL) association analysis for time to prosthesis failure was undertaken on >10 million variants under the additive model using method score implemented in SNPTESTv2. Phenotype data was normalised where required and we performed a linear regression to adjust for age, gender, fixation method, osteolysis-free survival time. Residuals were then transformed to z-scores. Association analyses were undertaken with and without and polyethylene wear as a covariate.

An HO susceptibility case-control analysis and an evaluation of disease severity using a binomial analysis of Brooker grades 1 and 2 vs grades 3 and 4 in the cases was undertaken under the additive model using the score test in SNPTEST v2.3.0 (University of Oxford, Oxford, UK). Association analyses were adjusted for age and gender as these have previously been described as known risk factors for HO (DeLee et al., 1976, Hierton et al., 1983). SNPTEST output files were further filtered to exclude SNPs with a frequentist info score <0.4 and a minor allele frequency (MAF) <0.05.

## 2.7.4 Osteolysis replication analyses

Index SNPs from signals with  $p<9x10^{-5}$  were prioritised for replication. Genotypecalling intensity plots were examined and SNPs with poorly clustering plots were not taken forward. Only associating SNPs with an imputation information score >0.4 and a minor allele frequency (MAF) >0.05 were progressed for the replication association analyses.

Samples failing gender check or with call rate <80% were excluded. SNPs were removed if their call rate was <80% or with HWE p <10<sup>-4</sup>. Association analyses were undertaken using logistic regression in PLINK v1.07. Z-standardised residuals were generated on phenotype data requiring normalisation and regressed on age, gender, implant type, fixation method and osteolysis-free survival time.

## 2.7.5 Meta-analysis

# Genome Wide Association Meta-Analysis (GWAMA)

GWAMA is an open source software developed by the Wellcome Trust Centre for Human Genetics, University of Oxford, which was designed to perform meta-analysis for GWAS (Magi and Morris, 2010). The software along with source files and sample data can be downloaded at http://www.well.ox.ac.uk/GWAMA. The following information is required for each SNP to be meta-analysed: (i) the marker identifier; (ii) the allelic effect estimate and corresponding standard error (or an allelic odds ratio and 95% confidence interval in the case of a dichotomous trait); and (iii) the allele for which the effect has been estimated and the complimentary non-reference allele. GWAMA aligns all studies to the same reference allele at each SNP and meta-analysis is performed for each SNP by combining allelic effects weighted by the inverse of their variance. Summary statistics from both the osteolysis discovery and replication analyses were combined and meta-analysed using the fixed-effects model implemented in GWAMA v2.1 (Magi and Morris, 2010).

# **CHAPTER 3**

# **STUDY POPULATIONS**

# 3.1 Overview

This chapter outlines the subject recruitment strategies, inclusion criteria, and population demographics for the UK populations studied in this thesis. The subject recruitment and population demographics for the Norwegian replication population are described separately in chapter 6.

# 3.2 Discovery Population

## 3.2.1 Inclusion criteria

All subjects recruited in the GWAS discovery cohort comprised unrelated men and women recruited in the United Kingdom and of North European ancestry who had previously undergone primary cemented or hybrid (cemented femur) THA for idiopathic osteoarthritis. All subjects have received a prosthesis using a metal-onconventional polyethylene bearing couple.

#### 3.2.2 Exclusion criteria

Any subject not of North European ancestry was excluded to prevent genetic admixture. Patients with alternative bearing couples such as metal on metal, ceramic on polyethylene, or ceramic on ceramic were also excluded. This ensured that the particulate exposure hazard was similar in all cases. Fully cementless implants were also excluded. This was because subjects already recruited through the Sheffield genetic hip study had all undergone fully cemented or hybrid THA and we wanted to reduce the number of variables in our complete cohort. Any subject who had undergone THA for a diagnosis other than primary osteoarthritis, such as inflammatory arthropathy or neck of femur fracture, was excluded. This exclusion included subjects with an indication of osteoarthritis secondary to another pathology such as avascular necrosis, developmental hip dysplasia or Perthes' disease.

## 3.2.3 Case definition

## Osteolysis

The cases comprised subjects with radiographic evidence of aseptic loosening or osteolysis affecting either the acetabular or femoral prosthetic component, as defined in the previous chapter, whether the prosthesis had been revised or not. Revisions for indications such as dislocation, or infection were excluded; as were revisions of fully cementless implants and revisions for liner wear in the absence of aseptic loosening or osteolysis.

## Heterotopic ossification

Cases comprised subjects with radiographic evidence of post-operative HO following THA and were graded (0-4) using the Brooker classification (see Figure 1.14).

## 3.2.4 Control definition

## Osteolysis

The controls comprised subjects who had primary THA for idiopathic osteoarthritis ≥7 years previously, were asymptomatic from the replaced hip, and free from documented complications relating to osteolysis or aseptic loosening following primary surgery and with radiographic evidence of being osteolysis-free.

# Heterotopic ossification

Controls comprised subjects who had no evidence of HO on plain AP radiographs of the pelvis taken not less than 1 year following primary THA.

# 3.2.5 Subject recruitment

All UK subjects were recruited as part of 2 research protocols approved by a research ethics committee:

- Samples recruited under the ethics approval of the Sheffield Musculoskeletal Biobank (Oxfordshire Research Ethics Committee, REC reference number 10/H0606/20, 28<sup>th</sup> May 2010; approval letter in appendix A). This approval was renewed on 24<sup>th</sup> April 2015, REC reference number 15/SC/0132; approval letter in appendix B)
- Samples recruited under the ethics approval of the arcOGEN study (Oxfordshire Research Ethics Committee, REC reference number 07/H0606/150, 3<sup>rd</sup> January 2008; approval letter in appendix C).

Each subject provided written consent for DNA samples to be collected for research purposes.

# Sheffield Musculoskeletal Biobank Samples

Subjects under Biobank ethics approval comprise 2 extant cohorts, and one prospective collection:

- 1. Sheffield Genetic Hip study cohort
- 2. Wrightington Genetic hip study cohort

 Newly recruited patients from Sheffield Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Sheffield

#### Sheffield Genetic Hip Study Cohort

A total of 684 patients were recruited between April 2000 and April 2006 as part of a series of case-control candidate gene studies looking at the association between osteolysis and genetic variants. All subjects were unrelated Caucasian men and women of North European origin having previously undergone primary cemented THA with a metal-on-conventional polyethylene bearing couple for idiopathic osteoarthritis.

631 patients from this cohort with available DNA were included in the case-control candidate gene study discussed in chapter 4.

A total of 602 subjects with available DNA from this cohort were included in the GWAS study. Three hundred and seventy-five subjects from this cohort have already undergone GWAS genotyping as part of the arcOGEN study (discussed below). A further 226 DNA samples extracted from whole blood from subjects in this cohort, and stored in the Sheffield Musculoskeletal Biobank, were forwarded for GWAS genotyping. Two hundred and ten (93%) passed quality control. Following pregenotyping as part of arcOGEN. The remaining 209 were genotyped. Of those who failed QC, 2 had too low a concentration, 9 were degraded samples unsuitable for genotyping and 5 had a gender fail.

#### Wrightington Genetic Hip Study Cohort

312 patients were recruited from Wrightington Hospital between August 2002 and August 2006 for a series of case-control candidate gene studies looking at the association between osteolysis and genetic variants. All subjects were of European Caucasian origin and had undergone total hip arthroplasty with a Charnley monoblock femoral stem and either a Charnley or Ogee flanged conventional polyethylene acetabular cup. Only patients with a primary diagnosis of osteoarthritis were included.

One hundred and thirty patients from this cohort were suitable for inclusion in this study having met the inclusion criteria and having available DNA samples. All included subjects had extracted DNA samples from whole blood stored at the Sheffield Musculoskeletal Biobank.

One hundred and twenty-five (96%) passed quality control and underwent genotyping. Five failed on gender quality control. Of those who passed QC, 49 were male and 40 had either undergone revision surgery for aseptic loosening or had radiographic evidence of osteolysis.

## **Newly recruited Subjects**

Patient arthroplasty databases from Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust were examined using the above inclusion and exclusion criteria. Subjects were then cross referenced with the Patient Focused Information (PFI) database to check they were still alive and had available contact details. Four hundred and eighty-three patients were identified and invited to participate in the study. Three hundred and thirteen patients replied to the invitation (response rate of 65%). One hundred and sixty-three (34%) did not respond after a reminder letter. Of those who replied, 265 (55%) agreed to donate a saliva sample to the Biobank. All responders who agreed to participate in the study were sent a consent form, a questionnaire (appendix D) and an Oragene OG-500 saliva collection kit with a return mailer kit. Two hundred and twenty subjects returned the saliva kit with a donated sample (completer rate of 45%).



Figure 3.1 Response rates of Sheffield recruitment



Figure 3.2 Bar chart outlining response rates (%) for each age group

No statistically significant difference was found between age and response rate (ANOVA with a post hoc Sheffe comparison, p >0.05). No statistically significant difference was found between gender and response rate (ANOVA with a post hoc Sheffe comparison, p >0.05). One of the saliva samples from the completers leaked in transit and was not suitable for further processing. The remaining 219 saliva samples from completers were processed and DNA extracted. The mean volume of samples was 1.76ml (SD 0.43, range 0.5 – 3ml). Overall mean yield of DNA from extracted saliva samples was 159.1µg (range 0.03 to 1220.8µg, SD 231.6) using picogreen. In 8 samples the DNA content was below the detection limit. No correlation was found between volume of saliva donated and yield of DNA (Spearman ranks correlation rs = 0.03, P>0.05). No correlation was found between age and DNA content rs = -0.09, P>0.05).



Figure 3.3 Scatter plot comparing saliva volume with DNA yield

Electrophoretic analysis of DNA samples showed degradation in two (0.9%) samples. Seventy (32%) samples were found on picogreen assay to have a concentration below the threshold of 35ng/µL required for GWAS genotyping. One sample failed on Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay gender QC.

Ten subjects were subsequently found to have incorrect data entered onto the arthroplasty database and did not meet the inclusion criteria giving a current total of 131 subjects (60 male) suitable for genotyping. Sixty-three of these patients had either undergone revision surgery for aseptic loosening or had radiographic evidence of osteolysis.
## 3.2.6 arcOGEN study population

The arcOGEN study was a 2 stage genome wide association study of 7,410 subjects with hip and/or knee OA recruited from 9 UK centres (Sheffield, Nottingham, Oxford, London, Edinburgh, Newcastle, Southampton, Worcester and Wansbeck). Inclusion criteria were radiographic OA with Kellgren Lawrence grade  $\geq$ 2 or OA sufficiently symptomatic to require total joint arthroplasty.

## Sheffield

All extant Sheffield genetic hip study subjects were donated to the arcOGEN project. 375 of these samples passed QC and underwent GWAS genotyping. Of these, 172 were male and 151 had either undergone revision surgery for aseptic loosening or had radiographic evidence of osteolysis. All subjects were suitable for inclusion in this study.

## Other centres

121 (46 male) subjects from London, Edinburgh, Newcastle and Oxford meeting our inclusion criteria were identified from the arcOGEN database. All subjects had already undergone genotyping as part of the arcOGEN study. Twenty-nine had radiographic evidence of osteolysis.

# 3.2.7 Total recruitment for discovery cohort

1071 subjects from the above cohorts met the inclusion criteria for this study and had available DNA samples which were sent to the WTSI.

961 (433 male) subjects were genotyped having passed Sanger pre-genotyping QC. Of these, 357 were osteolysis cases. Subjects in the osteolysis group were younger and a greater proportion were male versus subjects in the control group (Table 3.1).

Characteristic	Control Group (n= 604)	Osteolysis group (n= 357)	p value	
Age at primary THA	66±9	61±9	< 0.001	
(Jouro)				
Sex (male/female) <sup>b</sup>	242/362	191/166		

# Table 3.1 Characteristics of discovery study subjects

<sup>a</sup> Student's t-test

 $^{b}\chi^{2}$  test



# Figure 3.4 Discovery cohort recruitment summary flowchart

# 3.2.8 Post genotyping sample QC exclusions

Further sample QC was carried out as described earlier in section 2.8.3. Of the 961 samples passing pre-genotyping QC a further 67 were excluded: 5 for gender fail, 1 for % heterozygosity, 6 for ethnicity,12 for relatedness. 14 were further found to be duplicates, and 29 were found to have incorrect data entered onto the phenotype database. The total number of subjects passing all QC steps and with both complete phenotype and genotype data suitable for whole genome association analyses was 894 (402 were male and 317 were osteolysis cases).

## 3.2.9 Discussion

The discovery cohort comprised a combination of prospective recruitment with the collation of extant cohorts. There was subject overlap between the Sheffield cohorts and careful database cross referencing and multiple quality control steps were carried out to prevent duplication of subjects.

The study population reflected known epidemiological risk factors for osteolysis with a higher number of male subjects and subjects of younger age seen in the osteolysis group (Eskelinen et al., 2006) (Furnes et al., 2001) (Roder et al., 2003) (Bordini et al., 2007).

A previous study using postal collection of saliva samples found the lowest response rates in the most elderly patients (Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006). Our results did not reflect this. The trend suggested that the youngest group had the lowest response rates however this did not reach statistical significance in our population size. The one saliva sample that leaked during postage occurred because the saliva collection instructions had not been followed properly. All other samples survived transit having been collected and packaged as per manufacturer's instructions.

111

We found that the DNA concentration varied greatly between saliva samples, ranging from 0.3ng/µL to 1220.8ng/µL. The mean yield of 150µg from our samples fell within the expected range outlined by the manufacturers. It is higher than that achieved by other epidemiological studies (Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006, Ng, 2005) and similar to the median yield achieved by (Rogers et al., 2007). 32% of samples yielded a concentration of less than the 35ng/µL required for GWAS genotyping. This is a similar percentage found by Rylander–Rudqvist (Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006). Nishista et al found that a larger saliva volume correlated with a larger DNA yield (Ng et al, 2005). We did not find a statistically significant correlation between saliva volume and DNA yield.

We found that postal recruitment of subjects identified using hospital datasets achieves reasonable response rates. Postal collection of saliva samples was an effective, non-invasive and convenient method of obtaining DNA samples. Although DNA extracted from saliva can be used for whole genome analysis, the large variation between saliva samples in our study suggests that some samples may require concentrating before GWAS genotyping. This should be considered when planning recruitment in any epidemiological study using saliva as a source of DNA.

## CHAPTER 4

# GENETIC VARIATION IN INFLAMMATORY AND BONE TURNOVER PATHWAYS AND RISK OF OSTEOLYTIC RESPONSE TO PROSTHETIC MATERIALS

### 4.1 Overview

This chapter describes a 2-stage case-control association study using a candidate gene approach. Previous candidate SNP and candidate gene studies looking at variation within genes encoding inflammatory cytokines and protein involved in the regulation of bone turnover and their association with osteolysis formed the basis for this study. Here, we examined two cohorts, comprising 758 (347 male) Caucasian subjects who had undergone THA with a metal on polyethylene bearing couple; 315 of whom had developed osteolysis. Key genes within inflammatory, bone resorption, and bone formation pathways were screened for common variants by pairwise-SNP tagging. In the discovery cohort four SNPs within RANK, and one each within KREMEN2, OPG, SFRP1, and TIRAP (p < 0.05) were associated with osteolysis susceptibility. Two SNPs within LRP6, and one each within LRP5, NOD2, SOST, SQSTM1, TIRAP, and TRAM associated with time to implant failure (p < 0.05). Five SNPs showed the same effect direction in the replication analyses but none reached statistical significance. Meta-analysis of the two cohorts identified four SNPs within RANK, and one each within KREMEN2, OPG, SFRP1, and TIRAP associated with osteolysis susceptibility (p < 0.05). Our results suggest that variation within inflammatory signalling and bone turnover pathways may play a role in susceptibility to osteolysis

## 4.2 Introduction

Several investigators have shown that particulate debris from prosthetic materials initiate inflammatory signalling through pattern recognition receptors (PRR). Furthermore, these PRRs are expressed in osteolytic membrane taken from patients with failing prostheses (Takagi et al., 2007, Tamaki et al., 2009). Bone turnover is closely regulated by the interplay between the Wnt and RANK signalling pathways (Boyle WJ, 2003, Goldring and Goldring, 2007). Candidate gene studies also show that variants within several pro-inflammatory cytokines associate with osteolysis susceptibility (Wilkinson, 2003, Ambruzova Z, 2006, Gordon A et al., 2008, Kolundzic, 2006, Gallo, 2009, Malik, 2007). Similarly, variations within several genes involved in the regulation of bone turnover associate with osteolysis susceptibility (Malik, 2007, Gordon A et al., 2007, Malik MH et al., 2007, Malik MH et al., 2006). These studies have focused on specific candidate variants within genes that are known to regulate inflammatory responses or bone turnover, and thus have not explored other potential variants within or adjacent to candidate genes.

Here we used a 2-stage case-control association study design to identify susceptibility loci for osteolysis and quantitative trait loci (QTL) for time to prosthesis failure within pivotal genes that modulate inflammatory signalling and bone turnover. We applied a SNP-tagging approach to systematically and economically screen for common variants both within and in the flanking regulatory regions of the genes studied.

## 4.3 Methods

Subject recruitment for this study is described in chapter 3. Subjects recruited for the Sheffield genetic hip study and the Wrightington genetic hip study were included in this candidate gene study.

### 4.3.1 Discovery Cohort

The discovery cohort included the Sheffield recruitment population recruited from Northern England between April 2000 and April 2006. The definitions of cases and controls, inclusion and exclusion criteria are described in Chapter 2 Briefly, cases comprised patients undergoing revision surgery for osteolysis or aseptic loosening, and controls were patients who had undergone THA greater than 7 years previously and had no current radiographic evidence of osteolysis or prosthesis loosening. Polyethylene wear in both patient groups was quantitated as previously described in Chapter 2 (Wilkinson et al., 2005, Wilkinson et al., 2002) and used as an analysis covariate.

#### 4.3.2 Replication Cohort

The 'replication' population comprised the Wrightington cohort, recruited from the North West of England between 2002 and 2004. The definitions of cases and controls, inclusion and exclusion criteria are described in Chapter 2 and elsewhere (Malik, 2007). Briefly, cases comprised patients undergoing revision surgery for osteolysis or aseptic loosening within six years of implantation, and controls were patients who had undergone THA at least 10 years previously and were currently asymptomatic, and had no radiographic evidence of osteolysis or aseptic loosening.

## 4.3.3 Genotyping

DNA was extracted from peripheral whole blood using methods previously described. Genotyping was carried out by competitive allele specific PCR (KASP), (LGC Genomics, Hoddesdon, UK), as described in Chapter 2. Tagging SNP selection was performed using Hapmap Gene Browser (release #24, phase 1 and 2-full dataset, www.hapmap.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and Haploview software (v4.2, www.broadinstitute.org/haploview/haploview) using a pairwise tagging approach  $(r^2 = 0.8)$ . Common variants (MAF  $\geq 0.05$ ) within the gene of interest, and extending 5 Kb upstream and 2 Kb downstream to include variants within the adjacent regulatory flanking sequences, were tagged using this approach. The following genes were selected for genotyping: MD2, MSK1, MSK2, MyD88, NOD1, NOD2, P2Y1, P2Y6, P2 × 7, SQSTM1, TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6, TLR9, TRAM, TIRAP, TRIF (inflammatory signalling); DKK1, KREMEN2, LRP5, LRP6, SFRP1, SOST, Wnt3A (bone formation); TNFRSF11A (encoding RANK), TNFRSF11B (encoding OPG), and TNFSF11 (encoding RANK) (bone resorption). A total of 318 SNPs were directly genotyped using this approach (full tagging SNP details given in Supplementary Table 4.1).

Candidate	Gene	Tag SNP
gene	טו	
RANK	TNFRS F11A	rs10469252, rs12165104, rs12158117, rs12956925, rs12970081, rs17069901, rs17069902, rs17069904, rs17720953, rs4303637, rs4426449, rs4429388, rs4485469, rs4524033, rs4524035, rs4941125, rs65672721, rs6567276, rs7226991, rs7236060, rs7237982, rs7239667, rs8083511, rs8089829, rs8094884, rs8099222, rs9646629, rs9951012, rs9960450, rs17069845, rs8086340
OPG	TNFRS F11B	rs3134067, rs11573847, rs11573905,, rs7463176, rs7464496, rs3102735, rs3134056, rs6469783, rs1994276, rs7820642, rs3134058, rs2875845, rs11573869, rs1485286, rs3134063, rs11573901, rs3134053, rs1032129, rs11573871, rs53102724, rs1095591,
RANKL	TNFS11	rs4942143, rs346574, rs1054016, rs2148072, rs875625, rs4338693,, rs9562414, rs931273
Sequestosome 1	SQSTM 1	rs10277,rs7711505,rs513235,rs502729, rs4797,rs2241349,rs155788,rs3734007,rs515110,rs513165
MD2	LY96	rs11783456, rs4738414, rs7839393, rs10808798, rs10504554, rs17226566, rs1905045, rs1991262
CD14	CD14	rs2569193, rs2569190, rs4914
NOD1	NOD1	rs4272257, rs2709803, rs2907749, rs2256023, rs6949758, rs11536450, rs17770244, rs1558068, rs4720004, rs3823773, rs7789045
NOD2	NOD2	rs3135499, rs17313265, rs13339578, rs5743291, rs8056611, rs574328
TLR1	TLR1	rs5743565, rs5743611, rs574359
TLR2	TLR2	rs1816702, rs5743708, rs11938228, rs1898830, rs5743704, rs7656411, rs3804100, rs3804099
TLR4	TLR4	rs2149356, rs5030728, rs7044464, rs10759932, rs12377632, rs1927906, rs1554973, rs11536857, rs11536897, rs11536889, rs11536869
TLR5	TLR5	rs2241097, rs851139, rs2241096, rs2353476
TLR6	TLR6	rs3775073, rs6531668, rs5743810, rs5743794
TLR9	TLR9	rs187084, rs352143, rs352140
TRAM	TICAM2	rs256997, rs9326969, rs10079000, rs2288384, rs17473484, rs419939, rs11957931, rs256946,
TRIF	TICAM1	rs8120, rs1046673, rs4807650, rs4807651, rs7255265
TIRAP	TIRAP	rs7932766, rs8177382, rs8177375, rs4937114, rs1786704, rs591163, rs8177352, rs6853, rs7744
P2Y1R	P2RY1	rs701265, rs17451266, rs12497578
PRY2R	P2RY2	rs1790081, rs1783596, rs4944831, rs12364461, rs949141, rs508859, rs17244555, rs557451
P2y6r	P2y6	rs12276627, rs3741152, rs11235714, rs12798517, rs3741153, rs7925649, rs1806516, rs2027765, rs12803970, rs1790063

P2X7R	P2RX7	rs2567989, rs2686369, rs17434809, rs654856, rs12821688, rs500930,
		rs208292, rs2230911, rs17434640, rs12314721, rs17434647,
		rs1653609, rs208294, rs208302, rs11065464, rs6489794, rs1718134,
		rs503720, rs2857585, rs7137837, rs208296, rs12829218, rs1186055,
		rs2230912, rs7958311, rs504677, rs1718125, rs3751143, rs35933842,
		rs28360457, rs1653624
DKK1	DKK1	rs1528877, rs1896367, rs2241529, rs2288335
KREMEN2	KREMEN 2	rs4238844, rs2285829, rs731721, rs7184777, rs4786361
LRP5	LRP5	rs314750, rs312779, rs3781590, rs1784235, rs3781586, rs312024,
		rs545382, rs606989, rs312781, rs676318, rs314779, rs3781596,
		rs3781600, rs312023, rs11228202, rs638051, rs4988327, rs11826287,
		rs312009, rs314756, rs12417014, rs901824, rs2242340, rs312014,
		rs3781579, rs4930573, rs4988331, rs624947
LRP6	LRP6	rs7957531, rs2417086, rs718403, rs2075241, rs1012672, rs11054738,
		rs7980903, rs7966410, rs10772542, rs7304561, rs12310020,
		rs2284396, rs17302049, rs11054704, rs12833575, rs10845493,
		rs12309338, rs10743980
Myd88	Myd88	rs4988457, rs6767684, rs7744, rs6796045
Sfrp1	Sfrp1	rs11786592, rs9693456, rs7833518, rs4736964, rs10106678,
		rs7832767, rs968428, rs4736959, rs6651363, rs3242, rs921142,
		rs9694405, rs17574424
Sclerostin	SOST	rs1234612, rs865429, rs851062, rs851056
MSK1	RPS6K	rs4904742, rs1018548, rs1286098, rs10150820, rs1286112,
	A5	rs3783834, rs8013649, rs11848326, rs11159989, rs1286264,
		rs2401952, rs1286092, rs11620665, rs12590018, rs17261092,
		rs7151354, rs1957386, rs1286060, rs6575165, rs9944098, rs1286148,
		rs7151724, rs1286127, rs10150585, rs17722981, rs1152431,
		rs10134356
MSK2	RPS6K	rs10897487, rs612448, rs3782101
	A4	

**Table 4.1.** Tagging SNPs used to screen each gene, including 5Kb upstream and 2Kb downstream. Tags were generated using Hapmap Genome Browser (release #24, phase 1 and 2 – full dataset, www.hapmap.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and Haploview software (v4.2, www.broadinstitute.org/haploview/haploview)

# 4.3.4 Association Analysis

Quality control (QC) and association analyses were carried out using PLINK v1.07 (www.pngu.mgh.harvard.edu/~purcell/plink). Two genotype-phenotype association analyses were performed: A case-control association analysis for susceptibility loci for osteolysis, and a quantitative trait analysis (QTL) for time to prosthesis failure (cases only and defined as the time from insertion to osteolysis diagnosis) using linear regression. Signals reaching a statistical significance threshold of p < 0.05 in the

discovery cohort after adjustment for age, sex, time since surgery, and annual prosthesis wear rate were taken forward for analysis in the replication cohort. Finally, case-control and time-to-failure meta-analyses of signals genotyped in both cohorts were performed using GWAMA v1.4 (WTSI).

# 4.4 Results

Seven hundred and fifty-eight subjects were included in the analyses, of whom 315 formed the osteolysis group. The discovery cohort comprised 631 patients (275 osteolysis cases). The replication cohort comprised 127 patients (40 osteolysis cases). 130 subjects, as described in section 3.2.5, were initially included but 3 were later excluded due to gender fail at quality control. Subjects in the osteolysis group were younger, a greater proportion were male and they had higher annual polyethylene wear rate versus the control subjects (Table 4.1, p < 0.05). These findings are consistent with known risk factors for osteolysis and were included as covariates in the association analysis.

Subject characteristics	Control Group	Osteolysis Group	P value
Discovery cohort	n=356	n=275	
Age at THA (years <u>+</u> SD) <sup>a</sup>	65 <u>+</u> 8	59 <u>+</u> 9	<0.001
Sex (male/female) <sup>b</sup>	147/209	148/127	0.002
Osteolysis free survival (years <u>+</u> SD) <sup>c</sup>	12 <u>+</u> 4	10 <u>+</u> 5	<0.001
Polyethylene wear (mm)	0.77(0.49 to 1.23)	1.18 (0.75 to 1.91)	<0.001
Replication cohort	n=87	n=40	
Age at THA (years <u>+</u> SD) <sup>a</sup>	72 <u>+</u> 8	69 <u>+</u> 7	0.03
Sex (male/female) <sup>b</sup>	29/58	23/17	<0.001
Osteolysis free survival (years <u>+</u> SD) <sup>c</sup>	18 <u>+</u> 6	4 <u>+</u> 1	<0.001

**Table 4.2.** Characteristics of study subjects. Analysis is cases versus controls within each cohort by <sup>a</sup>Student's t-test, <sup>b</sup>Chi-squared test, or <sup>c</sup>Mann-Whitney U test, as appropriate.

## 4.4.1 Osteolysis Susceptibility

In the discovery case-control association analysis 4 SNPs within *TNFRSF11A*, including rs4524033, rs9960450, rs7226991, and rs4485469, and one each within *KREMEN2* (rs4786361), *SFRP1* (rs921142), *TIRAP* (rs8177375), and *TNFRSF11B* (rs11573847), met the significance threshold of p < 0.05 for carriage forward into the replication analysis (Table 4.2). At replication, four of these SNPs showed an association in the same direction as for the discovery cohort (rs4524033, rs7226991, and rs4485469, all in *TNFRSF11A*; and rs921142 in *SFRP1*), but none reached statistical significance. Meta-analysis of the two cohorts identified eight SNPs which

were associated with susceptibility to osteolysis (Fig. 4.1, p < 0.05). Four of these signals lay within *TNFRSF11A*, and 1 each within *TNFRSF11B*, *SFRP1*, *KREMEN2*, and *TIRAP*.

Gene	Chromosome	SNP	Minor	OR	OR	OR	P value
			allele		95%L	95%U	
TNFRSF11A	18	rs4524033	A	1.693	1.241	2.309	0.0009
SFRP1	8	rs921142	G	1.323	1.036	1.691	0.025
TNFRSF11A	IFRSF11A 18 rs99604		С	0.500	0.273	0.918	0.025
TNFRSF11B	8	rs11573847	G	1.668	1.061	2.621	0.027
KREMEN2	16	rs4786361	A	0.745	0.574	0.969	0.028
TNFRSF11A	18	rs7226991	A	0.733	0.552	0.972	0.031
TIRAP	11	rs8177375	G	0.646	0.426	0.980	0.040
TNFRSF11A	18	rs4485469	G	0.765	0.588	0.995	0.046

**Table 4.3.** Discovery cohort osteolysis susceptibility loci meeting the replication threshold (P<0.05). Analysis is cases (n=275) versus controls (n=356) using PLINK (version 1.07).



**Figure 4.1.** Meta-analysis discovery and replication cohorts of susceptibility loci for development of osteolysis. Analysis is cases (n=315) verses controls (443) across discovery and replication cohorts and made using GWAMA software (version 1.4). The effect column indicates the effect direction of the given allele in the stage 1 and stage 2 cohorts.

### 4.4.2 Time to Failure

Two SNPs within *LRP6* (rs10743980 and rs2417086), and one each within *LRP5* (rs606989) *NOD2* (rs5743289), *SOST* (rs851056), *SQSTM1* (rs155788), *TIRAP* (rs1786704), and *TRAM* (rs10079000) associated with time to implant failure in cases at p < 0.05, and were carried forward (Table 4.3). At replication one SNP in *TIRAP* (rs1786704) showed the same direction of association with the discovery cohort, but none reached statistical significance, and no SNPs were associated with time to failure following meta-analysis of the two cohorts (Fig. 4.2, p > 0.05).

			Minor		BETA	BETA	
Gene	Chromosome	SNP	allele	BETA	95%L	95%U	Р
LRP6	12	rs10743980	Т	-0.913	-1.687	-0.139	0.022
SOST	17	rs851056	G	-0.865	-1.620	-0.109	0.026
TRAM	5	rs10079000	A	-0.912	-1.726	-0.099	0.029
SQSTM1	5	rs155788	С	-0.907	-1.716	-0.098	0.029
NOD2	16	rs5743289	Т	1.034	0.104	1.965	0.030
LRP6	12	rs2417086	G	-0.836	-1.601	-0.071	0.033
TIRAP	11	rs1786704	С	-0.952	-1.851	-0.052	0.039
LRP5	11	rs606989	Т	1.601	0.073	3.129	0.041

**Table 4.4.** Discovery cohort quantitative trait loci associated with time to prosthesis failure in cases (n=275) meeting replication threshold (P<0.05). Analysis made by linear regression using PLINK (version 1.07).

Gene	<b>Reference SNP</b>	Increases TTF	OR (95% CI)	P value	Effect
LRP6	rs10743980 <u> </u>	•—	0.82 (1.50, 1.34)	0.43	- +
LRP6	rs2417086 <u> </u>	•	0.82 (0.49, 1.37)	0.46	- +
SOST	rs851056 🗕	<b>_</b>	0.73 (0.44, 1.21)	0.22	- +
SQSTM1	rs155788 —	<b>—</b>	0.70 (0.34, 1.41)	0.31	- +
TRAM	rs10079000 —	+	0.75 (0.46, 1.21)	0.24	- +
TIRAP	rs1786704 🛶	+	0.67 (0.39, 1.16)	0.15	
NOD2	rs5743289	<b></b>	1.44 (0.80, 2.58)	0.22	+ -
	0	1 2	3		

**Figure 4.2.** Meta-analysis discovery and replication cohorts of quantitative trait loci associated with time to prosthesis failure. Analysis is within cases only (n=315) across discovery and replication cohorts and made using GWAMA software (version 1.4). The effect column indicates the effect direction of the given allele in the stage 1 and stage 2 cohorts.

# 4.5 Discussion

We conducted a 2-stage case-controlled association study to identify common genetic variants that associate with susceptibility to osteolysis, and with time to diagnosis in cases. At meta-analysis of the two stages we identified eight SNPs that were weakly associated with osteolysis susceptibility. Seven of these lay within bone resorption (six signals) or bone formation (two signals) pathways, and one within genes that regulate inflammatory signalling (*TIRAP*).

Variants within *TNFRSF11A* (encoding RANK) and *TNFRSF11B* (encoding OPG) showed the strongest association with susceptibility to osteolysis, and are consistent

with the function of these genes in regulating osteoclast differentiation and activation. The functional role of these variants is uncertain, as all lie in non-coding regions of the gene. However, they may act as markers for coding SNPs or regulate transcription and translation through effects on mRNA stability, splicing, or binding of miRNAs.

Variation within bone formation pathways was associated with osteolysis, and previously showed variation within *SFRP3* was associated with both osteolysis and heterotopic ossification susceptibility (Gordon A et al., 2007). *SFRP1* is also a Wnt antagonist. *SFRP1-/-* mice have high trabecular bone mass, (Bodine et al., 2004) and inhibition of *SFRP1* activity associates with increased bone formation (Gaur et al., 2009). The rs921142 variant within *SFRP1* lies in the 5'UTR region and may thus affect stability of the RNA transcript Kremen2 is a transmembrane protein that blocks the LRP6 receptor inhibiting Wnt signalling, and Kremen2 deficient mice have increased bone formation (Schulze et al., 2010). Our finding of an association between osteolysis and variation within Kremen-2 is previously unreported.

We found fewer than anticipated associations within the inflammatory signalling pathways, given their reported importance to osteolysis. The only consistent association found was between the *TIRAP* rs8177375 variant and susceptibility to implant failure. This variant also showed a trend toward association with time to prosthesis failure in the osteolysis cases ( $\beta$ —1.12, p=0.08), but failed to meet the threshold for genotyping in the replication cohort. TIRAP is an adaptor protein that modulates many inflammatory pathways, including inflammatory signalling through TLR-4, and also transduces signals from TLR2 (Greenfield et al., 2010). This *TIRAP* variant is located in the 3' UTR and associates with risk of sepsis-induced lung injury (Song et al., 2010).

We used knowledge of the haplotype architecture of candidate genes to conduct a screen for common variants across the whole of each gene, including its regulatory

flanking sequences. We used a 2-stage design to reduce the likelihood of false positive associations, carrying forward to replication only those signals reaching a significance threshold of p < 0.05 in the discovery cohort. This approach also has several limitations. Although the presented sample size combines the two largest cohort studies of the genetics of osteolysis reported to date, (Gordon A et al., 2008, Malik, 2007) it remains small in genetic association study terms. We aimed to address the issue of multiple testing and false positive associations through a 2-stage analysis process, followed by meta-analysis of the datasets for signals undergoing replication analysis. Our study only had power to detect common variants with relatively large effects sizes and with modest *p*-values. For example this design had 80% power (at p<0.0005, joint analysis, multiplicative model, CaTS), (Skol et al., 2006) to detect a variant with an OR of 1.5 with a MAF of 0.35, but only 7% power to detect a variant with similar effect size and a MAF of 0.05. Although our design aimed to reduce the number of candidate SNPs genotyped without loss of sensitivity for identifying disease loci by using Hapmap data on their haplotype structure, candidate pathways and genes were selected based on a-priori knowledge of their importance to the pathogenesis of osteolysis.

## CHAPTER 5

# A WHOLE GENOME ASSOCIATION STUDY OF SUSCEPTIBILITY TO HETEROTOPIC OSSIFICATION FOLLOWING TOTAL HIP ARTHROPLASTY

### 5.1 Overview

This chapter describes a discovery-stage genome wide association study of heterotopic ossification susceptibility and severity following THA. A replication cohort for this phenotype is currently being collected. The aetiopathogenesis of HO is still not fully understood and the majority of genetic research has looked at the rare heritable causes of HO. Only a few screening studies have been carried out in other populations. In this study we aimed to identify genetic risk loci by conducting a genome-wide association study comprising 891 Caucasian European patients (410 HO cases). All had undergone THA for primary osteoarthritis and were recruited from the United Kingdom. Genotyping was undertaken using the Illumina 610 beadchip followed by imputation using the European reference panel from the 1000 Genome Project. An HO susceptibility case-control analysis and an evaluation of disease severity in those with HO was undertaken using SNPTEST v2.3.0. 8 signals were associated with HO susceptibility and 11 with HO severity at p<9.9x10<sup>-6</sup>.in this discovery set. The most significant signal that was associated with HO susceptibility lay in flanking region of ARHGAP18 (index SNP rs59084763, p=2.48x10<sup>-8</sup>) and reached genome wide significance. Two other signals approaching genome wide significance lay in the flanking region of *BMP-2* (index SNP rs11699612, p=9.3x10<sup>-8</sup>) and within LGI1 (index SNP rs10882328,  $p=3.8\times10^{-7}$ ). The most significant signal that was associated with HO severity lay within KIF26B that encodes the kinesin like protein KIF26B (rs35338958, p=1.65x10<sup>-6</sup>). Signal replication in an independent cohort will be required to confirm these associations.

### 5.2 Introduction

Heterotopic ossification (HO) is a common complication following total hip arthroplasty (THA) with a reported incidence of up to 61% (Newman et al., 2015). In addition to restriction of joint motion HO can lead to pain, as well as neural or vascular compression (Garland, 1991, Hierton et al., 1983, Brooke et al., 1991). The exact pathogenesis of HO remains unknown and investigators in recent years have attempted to identify the osteoprogenitor cell origin and signalling pathways involved both in the acquired and hereditary forms.

The increased risk of HO in patients with ankylosing spondylitis (Bisla et al., 1976), diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis (Blasingame et al., 1981) and hypertrophic osteoarthritis (Sawyer et al., 1991) together with the heterogeneity in HO manifestation in patients with similar injury patterns suggests a significant genetic predisposition. To date, the majority of genetic research has looked at the rare heritable causes of HO (FOP and POH) and few screening studies have been carried out in other populations. Candidate gene studies have associated variants in genes encoding the  $\beta_2$ adrenergic receptor, toll-like receptor (TLR) 4, complement factor H, and secreted frizzled related protein 3 (sFRP3) with susceptibility to HO (Gordon A et al., 2007, Mitchell et al., 2010). Here we aimed to identify genetic risk loci associated with the formation of HO following THA by conducting a genome-wide association study.

# 5.3 Subjects and Methods

### 5.3.1 Subject Recruitment and Phenotype Characterisation

The cohort examined in this study consisted of the recruited GWAS discovery population. Controls comprised subjects who had no evidence of HO on plain AP radiographs of the pelvis taken not less than 1 year following primary THA. Cases

comprised subjects with radiographic evidence of post-operative HO and were graded (0-4) using the Brooker classification. As described in section 1.5.3 (Brooker et al., 1973).

### 5.3.2 Genotyping and Association Analysis

Genomic DNA was extracted from either whole blood or saliva and genotyped using the Illumina 610k beadchip (Illumina, San Diego, CA). We imputed the GWAS data using the European reference panel from the 1000 Genome Project. We undertook post genotyping quality control checks as described in section 2.8.3.

An HO susceptibility case-control analysis and an evaluation of disease severity. We were unable to normalise the HO grade data and therefore undertook a binomial analysis comparing grades 1 and 2 versus grades 3 and 4 in the cases under the additive model using the score test in SNPTEST v2.3.0 (University of Oxford, Oxford, UK). Association analyses were adjusted for age and gender as these have previously been described as known risk factors for HO (DeLee et al., 1976, Hierton et al., 1983). SNPTEST output files were further filtered to exclude SNPs with a frequentist info score <0.4 and a minor allele frequency (MAF) <0.05.

### 5.4 Results

### 5.4.1 Patient characteristics

Eight hundred and ninety-one subjects were analysed (401 males). Of these, 410 subjects formed the HO group. The mean age of subjects was 63.5 (SD 8.9) and no difference in mean age was found between the groups ( $63.65\pm8.9$  vs  $63.42\pm8.9$ , p=0.7). There was a higher proportion of males in the HO group versus the control

129

group (p<0.0001). The Brooker grading of HO in the cases was as follows: grade 1 n=207, grade 2 n=133, grade 3 n=69, grade 4 n=1.

## 5.4.2 HO Susceptibility Analysis

We identified 8 independent signals with index SNPs at p<9.9x10<sup>-6</sup> that were associated with HO susceptibility (table 5.1). The most significant signal lies 1Kb downstream of *ARHGAP18* and reached genome wide significance (rs59084763, effect allele T, effect allele frequency (EAF) 0.194, odds ratio OR 1.87, 95% CI 1.48 to 2.38, p=2.48x10<sup>-8</sup>) (figure 5.1). Two signals approached genome-wide significance: variant rs11699612 (effect allele T, EAF 0.25, OR 1.74, 95% CI 1.4 to 2.16, p=9.3x10<sup>-8</sup>) lies 300Kb upstream of *BMP2* (figure 5.2). Variant rs10882328, (effect allele A, EAF 0.287, OR 0.57, 95% CI 0.47 to 0.71, p=3.8x10<sup>-7</sup>) lies within an intronic region of *LGI1* (figure 5.3).

Index SNP	Chr	EA	NEA	EAF	OR	OR 95L	OR 95U	P value	Gene
rs59084763	6	Т	С	0.194	1.872	1.475	2.375	2.48E-08	Downstream of
									ARHGAP18
rs11699612	20	Т	С	0.246	1.735	1.395	2.157	9.39E-08	Upstream of <i>BMP</i> 2
rs10882328	10	A	G	0.287	0.577	0.468	0.713	3.87E-07	LGI1
rs1059129	7	G	A	0.152	1.904	1.463	2.477	2.60E-06	PMS2P1
rs35946190	9	G	A	0.182	0.573	0.446	0.736	3.93E-06	ASTN2
rs3768863	2	G	A	0.550	0.661	0.548	0.798	6.82E-06	BIN1
rs6463103	7	G	Т	0.773	0.622	0.498	0.778	9.15E-06	Upstream of
									LOC105375249
6-137128553	6	A	С	0.061	2.239	1.495	3.354	9.32E-06	Upstream of PEX7

**Table 5.1.** Results of the HO susceptibility analysis. This table includes all independent SNPs with  $p < 9.9 \times 10^{-6}$ . Chr = chromosome, EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele; OR = odds ratio, OR\_95L/95U = lower and upper margins of 95% CI.



**Figure 5.1.** Regional association plot for rs59084763 (that lies downstream of *ARHGAP18*) from the HO susceptibility analysis. The index SNP is denoted by the purple marker. The colour reflects the pairwise  $r^2$  with index SNP. The region extends 500kb upstream and downstream of the index SNP.



**Figure 5.2.** Regional association plot for rs11699612 (that lies upstream of *BMP2*) from the HO susceptibility analysis. The index SNP is denoted by the purple marker. The colour reflects the pairwise  $r^2$  with index SNP. The region extends 500kb upstream and downstream of the index SNP.



**Figure 5.3.** Regional association plot for rs10882328 (that lies within *LGI1*) from the HO susceptibility analysis. The index SNP is denoted by the purple marker. The colour reflects the pairwise  $r^2$  with index SNP. The region extends 500kb upstream and downstream of the index SNP.

### 5.4.3 HO Severity Analysis

Eleven signals were associated with HO severity with index SNPs at p<9.9x10<sup>-6</sup> (table 5.2). No signals in the severity association analysis reached genome wide significance. The most significant signal lay within an intronic region of *KIF26B*. The index SNP within this signal was rs35338958 (OR 3.0, EAF 0.099, 95% CI 1.85 to 5.01) at p=1.65x10<sup>-6</sup> (figure 5.4).

Index SNP	Chr	EA	NEA	EAF	OR	OR 95L	OR 95U	P value	Gene
rs35338958	1	Т	С	0.099	3.044	1.850	5.008	1.65E-06	KIF26B
rs13109480	4	С	Т	0.071	2.896	1.634	5.135	1.88E-06	Upstream of
									HSP90AB2P
rs11953126	5	G	A	0.474	0.426	0.289	0.629	2.42E-06	LOC105374705
rs2300936	9	G	A	0.087	3.355	1.994	5.642	3.86E-06	C5
rs491425	18	G	A	0.663	2.632	1.667	4.158	5.02E-06	FHOD3
rs1367425	2	Т	С	0.218	0.437	0.301	0.636	5.07E-06	no nearby genes
rs11880610	19	С	G	0.098	2.788	1.684	4.617	5.98E-06	ZNF331
rs4612038	5	A	G	0.300	2.351	1.621	3.411	6.00E-06	EDIL3
rs34242676	9	С	Т	0.288	2.220	1.525	3.232	6.15E-06	Downstream of
									GRINЗА
rs13235561	7	A	С	0.333	2.148	1.485	3.110	6.19E-06	LOC105375122
rs10058296	5	Т	С	0.087	2.373	1.489	3.783	6.59E-06	Upstream of
									HTR1A

**Table 5.2.** Results of the HO severity analysis. This table includes all independent SNPs with  $p < 9.9 \times 10^{-6}$ . Chr = chromosome, EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele; OR = odds ratio, OR\_95L/95U = lower and upper margins of 95% CI.



**Figure 5.4.** Regional association plot for rs35338958 (that lies within *KIF26B*) from the HO severity analysis. The index SNP is denoted by the purple marker. The colour reflects the pairwise  $r^2$  with index SNP. The region extends 500kb upstream and downstream of the index SNP.

## 5.5 Discussion

We have undertaken the first GWAS examining HO susceptibility and severity following THA. We have identified a number of possible association signals within or in the flanking regions of *ARHGAP18*, *BMP2*, *LGI1* and *KIF26B* that warrant further investigation by replication in suitable cohorts.

The variant rs59084763 associated with susceptibility to HO and lies 1Kb downstream of ARHGAP18. Although this signal is not within ARHGAP18, downstream flanking regions may contain downstream promoter elements (DPE) which regulate the initiation of transcription. Variation within such a region has the capacity to alter the level of RNA transcription and subsequent gene activity. The ARHGAP gene family, encodes the RhoGAP proteins, which activate GTPase, modulating cell signalling. The Rho family of GTPases play an important role in cell differentiation, proliferation and migration (Symons, 1996). ARHGAP18 has been suggested as one of the crucial factors for the regulation of RhoA for the control of cell spreading, and migration (Maeda et al., 2011). Our identification of SNP associations in the flanking region of ARHGAP18 may prove promising in light of recent evidence suggesting the progenitor cells for HO likely migrate to the site of bone formation (Lazard et al., 2015). RhoA has been shown to influence mesenchymal stem cells into an osteogenic lineage (Arnsdorf et al., 2009, Chen et al., 2011). ARHGAP18 may therefore be important in both the migration and osteogenic lineage of HO progenitor cells and is a plausible associated candidate for replication and follow on functional studies.

The intergenic variant rs11699612 associated with HO susceptibility lies 300Kb upstream of *BMP*2. Upstream regions contain promoter and enhancer regions that regulate transcriptional activity of the gene. Variants within these regions have the potential to influence RNA transcriptional regulation by altering the binding of RNA polymerase and other transcription factors. The bone morphogenetic proteins belong to the transforming growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ) superfamily, a group of growth factors involved in embryogenesis and tissue healing (Termaat et al., 2005). The role of BMPs in heterotopic ossification is well established. Their discovery by Urist in the 1960s

was through the induction of bone in the skeletal muscle of rabbits (Urist and Strates, 1971). Overexpression of BMPs have been linked to HO development (Kaplan et al., 2004). Evans et al found greater transcript levels and expression of BMP2 in war wounds which developed HO (Evans et al., 2014). BMP2 is now commonly used as an inducer in many rodent models of HO (Engstrand et al., 2008). The osteoinductive properties of BMP-2 has led to its use as an adjunct in spinal fusion (Burkus et al., 2016). Like ARHGAP18, BMP2 has been shown to influence the activation of RhoA Wang et al identified two polymorphisms, Ser87Ser in early osteogenesis. (rs1049007) and Ser37Ala (rs2273073), in BMP2 that associated with susceptibility to ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament (Wang et al., 2008). As well as direct osteoinduction in HO, BMP-2 signalling has been linked to both neural and inflammatory pathways. MacDonald et al showed that the administration of BMP-2 can induce inflammation (MacDonald et al., 2010). BMP2 and BMP3 (osteogenin) have also been shown to be chemoattractants for monocytes (Convente et al., 2015). Interestingly, Kaplan et al showed that reduction of the immune response using transgenic mice did not prevent the formation of HO (Kaplan et al., 2007). This suggests that in addition to the immune system, other mechanisms such as neuronal pathways are involved. Salisbury et al showed that BMP-2 causes peripheral nerves to express osterix (Salisbury et al., 2011). Osterix is a zinc finger containing transcription factor which plays an important role in osteoblast differentiation (Nakashima et al., 2002). BMP-2 also induces substance P release from neurones which leads to recruitment and degranulation of mast cells leading to HO and further links the neuronal and inflammatory pathways (Salisbury et al., 2011). Lazard et al demonstrated that BMP-2 causes neural derived progenitor cells (likely neural crest stem cells) to undergo osteogenic differentiation and migrate to the site of HO (Lazard et al., 2015). The evidence for the involvement of BMP-2 in the formation of HO suggests it is a plays a key role in the interplay of various contributing pathways.

The intronic variant rs10882328 associating with HO susceptibility was found within *LGI1*. *LGI1* was originally discovered in gliomas but has also been linked to an autosomal dominant form of epilepsy (Chernova et al., 1998, Poza et al., 1999). This gene encodes the Leucine-rich, glioma inactivated 1 (LGI1) protein. The LGI1 protein is thought to regulate the strength of synaptic transmission by bridging between the

disintegrin and metalloprotease 22 and 23 (ADAM22 and ADAM23) transmembrane proteins (Fukata et al., 2010). Yu et al found that absence of LGI1 causes an increase in synaptic transmission (Yu et al., 2010). The association of *LGI1* with HO is novel and its function in neuronal signalling is still not fully understood. It may provide a link for the neuronal involvement in the development of HO.

The signal that was most strongly associated with HO severity lay within *KIF26B*. The Kinesin Superfamily Proteins (KIFs) are molecular motors responsible for intracellular transport of proteins and signal transduction (Hirokawa et al., 2009). *KIF26B* which grouped with *KIF26A* form the Kinesin-11 family and are important in limb development. The association of *KIF26B* with HO following THA is novel, however, it has previously been associated with ectopic calcification in a rodent knee injury model (Rai et al., 2015). This makes *KIF26B* of interest in the further study of HO.

Interestingly the two most significant signals associating with HO susceptibility are linked through common biological processes. Both ARHGAP18 and BMP2 are known regulators of RhoA. The Rho GTPases are regulators of osteogenesis through their involvement in both canonical and non-canonical WnT signalling (Schlessinger et al, 2009). RhoA has been shown to regulate osteogenesis through its effect on both osteoblasts and osteoclasts (Yoshida et al 2009) (Chellaiah et al, 2000). Ohnaka et al, studying the effects of pitavastatin on bone, discovered that BMP2 expression was regulated by RhoA (Ohnaka et al). The stimulation of RhoA in MSCs by BMP2 is necessary for osteogenesis through its effect on cell spread and shape (Wang et al 2012). ARHGAP18 is localised to the leading edge of migrating cells and controls cell shape through its regulation of RhoA (Maeda et al 2011).

The association of BMP2 and ARHGAP18 with RhoA signalling suggests a possible common pathway in the development of ectopic bone. The effects of altered regulation of RhoA through transcriptional variation of *BMP2* and *ARHGAP18* are potentially threefold: 1. Migration of progenitor cells to area of bone formation, 2. Actuation of MSCs down an osteogenic lineage through altered regulation of WnT signalling, 3. Enhanced osteogenesis through stimulation of further BMP2 signalling. As BMP2 and RhoA signalling have been implicated in a number of biological

139

processes their exact contribution to the pathogenesis of HO remains unclear. Follow on functional studies of ARHGAP18, BMP2 and the RhoGTPases are required to explore this further.

This study has limitations. The sample size was small, and this may have led to fewer genome wide significant associations ( $p<9x10^{-8}$ ), especially for the rarer loci. We attempted to minimise this effect by including only common variants with MAF>0.05. A number of the allele effect sizes were quite large and may represent type 1 statistical errors, highlighting the importance of a further replication study. Further, we used the Brooker classification for HO. This is the accepted standard method, but provides only a semi-quantitative measure. An alternative approach using cross-sectional imaging would provide volumetric quantitation, but is not used in routine clinical practice.

In conclusion, we have identified several possible signal associations with HO susceptibility and severity. However, this data represents only a discovery cohort, and replication in independent cohorts is essential before these candidate signals can be robustly confirmed.

# CHAPTER 6

# USING A NATIONAL JOINT REGISTER DATASET AND POSTAL METHODOLOGY TO DEVELOP A LARGE DNA ARCHIVE FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL DISEASE

### 6.1 Overview

This chapter outlines the osteolysis replication population recruitment. Local recruitment of sufficient numbers of patients for large scale epidemiological studies is difficult and time consuming, especially when studying low incidence phenotypes. National joint registries provide large repositories of clinical data and the linking of such datasets with patient biological material offers new opportunities to study musculoskeletal disease. We examined the response rates for postal saliva collection to build a DNA biobank for patients who had undergone primary and revision total hip arthroplasty (THA). The quality and quantity of DNA collected was also examined. The DNA and clinical datasets were then linked to examine patient demographic factors that associated with DNA yield. This study highlights the possible extended role of arthroplasty registries for large scale recruitment of subjects for the study of musculoskeletal disease. It also demonstrates the feasibility of establishing DNA biobanks in conjunction with national registries and the successful linking of datasets.

### 6.2 Introduction

National arthroplasty registers allow the auditing of orthopaedic prosthetic implants and their outcomes and were introduced for care quality purposes. They provide an excellent repository of clinical information about the patient experience of joint replacement. The linking of such clinical datasets with patient biological samples can extend the role of these registries to answer research questions. The value of linking of national arthroplasty datasets with other clinical dataset (Hospital episode statistics, HES) has already been realised (Sibanda et al., 2008). Cancer registry data is also now being utilised to answer biological questions about disease (Govindaraju et al., 2008, John et al., 2004). Many of these registries are now establishing their own biobanks of DNA and tissue samples (Goodman, 2009). To date there have been no biobanks established for national arthroplasty registries.

Traditionally, whole blood has been used for obtaining DNA samples, however, this method has logistical limitations, especially when applied to the recruitment of large cohorts. Study subjects need to attend a healthcare facility for venepuncture and, due to its invasive nature, is disliked by patients. Additionally, blood samples require refrigerated storage and timely processing. Saliva is a viable alternate source of DNA for large genetic epidemiological studies (Ng, 2005, Quinque et al., 2006, Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006, Rogers et al., 2007, Nishista, 2009, Bahlo et al., 2010). Saliva sample return rates have been shown to be higher than those of blood but these rates are highly variable between studies (Hansen et al., 2007, Bhutta et al., 2013). The postal collection of saliva is a cost effective, non-invasive, and convenient method of obtaining human DNA.

In this study, we aimed to build a repository of DNA from patients after primary and revision total hip arthroplasty (THA recruited from a national arthroplasty registry) using postal saliva collection. We evaluated response rates, and assessed whether the quality and quantity of DNA collected was adequate for GWAS.

142

### 6.3 Methods

#### 6.3.1 Recruitment environment

All replication study subjects were recruited from the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register (Haukeland University hospital, Bergen, Norway). This project had the collaborative support of the staff and facilities of the register, led by Professor Ove Furnes. They provided access to the necessary number of subjects needed for the stage 2 recruitment. The register has collected information on primary and revision THA procedures performed in Norway since 1987 now has over 200,796 recorded total hip prosthesis operations (Norwegian Arthroplasty Annual Report, June 2016, http://nrlweb.ihelse.net/Rapporter). The Norwegian Arthroplasty Register employs data entry and management clerks, and statistical epidemiologists that have a large experience of conducting follow up postal questionnaire and clinical studies.

#### 6.3.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

As in the discovery recruitment outlined in chapter 2, subjects recruited in the replication cohort comprised unrelated men and women of North European ancestry who had previously undergone primary cemented or hybrid (cemented femur) THA for idiopathic osteoarthritis. Any subject with a fully cementless implant and those who had undergone THA for a primary diagnosis other than osteoarthritis, such as inflammatory arthropathy or osteoarthritis secondary to another pathology, was excluded.

### 6.3.4 Case and control definition and matching

Cases comprised subjects who have undergone revision surgery for aseptic loosening or osteolysis affecting either the acetabular or femoral prosthetic component.

143

Revisions for indications such as dislocation, or infection were excluded; as were revisions of fully cementless implants and revisions for liner wear in the absence of aseptic loosening or osteolysis. Although subjects who underwent revision for liner wear in the absence of osteolysis could have been considered an interesting group of controls, numbers were not sufficient to warrant inclusion. Controls comprised subjects identified to have had primary THA for idiopathic osteoarthritis ≥10 years previously, and no recorded revision surgery episodes.

A number of environmental factors affect the development of osteolysis. In the UK cohort case-control association study we adjusted for these risk factors using logistic regression in order to determine that component of risk for osteolysis which is associated with the candidate loci. The Norwegian cohort recruitment strategy was planned to minimise differences in known risk factors between the cases and controls a-priori. The revision subjects were recruited first and the control group subjects individually matched to be of the same age (± 2 years), sex, implant brand, bearing couple material and size, implant fixation method, and year of primary surgery (± 2 years). A total of 9 identified potential controls were matched per revision in order to achieve 3 recruited controls per revision, allowing for estimated response rates. The large pool of subjects available for recruitment in the control group (38,000) made this approach feasible, and the most robust method for minimising environmental risk factor variance between the groups. Two limitations of this approach are that we did not have access to wear measurements in the replication cohort, nor radiographic evidence of freedom from osteolysis in the control group. In mitigation of the first confounder, we adjusted for polyethylene wear as a risk factor in the discovery cohort when selecting the signals to progress for replication. To help mitigate against the second confounder, we used a screening questionnaire (appendix E) to confirm that all control subjects were asymptomatic from the replaced hip at the time of recruitment. This will leave a potential group of subjects with silent osteolysis that are misclassified in the control group.
#### 6.3.6 Subject recruitment

All recruited subjects were provided with an information sheet and signed a study specific consent form. Stage 2 recruitment and saliva collection was ethically approved in Norway (West Norway Research Ethics Committee, REK reference 2008/100 18-OYSV, 08.09.08; approval letter in appendix F). This collection was also reviewed and approved for transfer to the UK for DNA extraction and genotyping by the Norwegian Biobank authorities (08/8916, 20.10.08). Recruitment was carried out in a number of stages.

#### 6.3.7 Revision Recruitment

Revisions were recruited first in order to adequately match the controls. Recruitment started in April 2009 and subjects registered before this time were identified for inclusion, and comprised the first mail outs of invitations. Following this, at year end it was possible to identify and include revisions registered in 2009. Revisions carried out in 2010 formed the third round of invitation mail outs.

#### 6.3.8 Control Recruitment

Control recruitment was undertaken in two batches. The first group of controls were matched against recruited revision subjects up to and including 2009. Following, responses from revision subjects having surgery in the year 2010, further controls were matched and invites mailed out in a second recruitment batch in December 2011.

### 6.3.9 Subject Recruitment and saliva collection

Patients enrolled in the Norwegian arthroplasty register who were identified as still living in Norway and meeting the inclusion criteria were invited to participate in the biobank. Patients were sent an invitation letter, questionnaire and consent form by post. All subjects who returned a signed consent form agreeing to participate in the study received, by post, an Oragene OG-500 DNA Self Collection Kit (DNA Genotek, Inc, Ottawa, Canada) with detailed instructions on its use. A prepaid return envelope was supplied to return samples. Non-responders who had been sent a saliva collection kit received a further reminder letter by mail (figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1. Schematic diagram outlining the recruitmant strategy

#### 6.3.10 Laboratory methods

Saliva samples were stored at room temperature before processing. A small subset was stored at -20°C prior to DNA extraction. Prior to DNA extraction all samples were visually inspected to ensure no damaged had occurred on transportation. The volume of the saliva was determined by subtracting the 2mls of DNA stabiliser. The colour of the sample was noted as either clear, light brown or dark brown representing contaminants.

DNA was extracted manually by precipitation in ethanol using the manufacturer's protocol for manual purification of DNA from 4.0mL, PD-PR-015 Issue 2.0. These methods are described in detail in chapter 2.2.4.

DNA samples were quantitated using the Qubit dsDNA BR assay kit (Product Code: Q32853, Invitrogen) the concentration of DNA was measured using the Qubit 2.0 fluorimeter (Product Code: Q32866, Invitrogen.) as described in chapter 2.5.5. DNA quality was evaluated in a sample subset, by gel electrophoresis as described in section 2.5.4 to measure DNA fragment length, using the TapeStation 2200 (Agilent Technologies, CA, US). DNA samples were stored at -20°C immediately following extraction and then transferred to -80°C for long-term storage. Subjects who had provided samples with a DNA concentration below that required for genotyping were contacted and sent another saliva kit to provide a repeat sample.

#### 6.3.11 Data Linkage

Clinical data was collected from the register database and linked to the subsequent DNA collection by a unique identifier. This data linkage facilitated the examination of patient demographic factors that associated with DNA yield.

### 6.4 Results

#### 6.4.1 Subject recruitment and response rates

There were 121,613 primary THAs and 10,255 revision THA cases identified on the Norwegian Arthroplasty Registry at the time of study. 8,396 subjects (6,367 primary THAs, 2,029 revision THAs, mean age 66.5, 36.5% males) met the inclusion criteria and were invited to participate. 3,710 agreed, a response rate of 44%. 3,068 (2,276 primary THAs, 792 revision THAs, saliva samples were subsequently received from agreeing participants (completer rate 36.5%; 83% of responders) (figure 6.2). Characteristics of completer subjects can be seen in table 6.1. The completer rate was found to be higher in those subjects who had undergone revision surgery than those who had undergone primary surgery (39% vs 35.7% respectively, p=0.001). The completer rate was higher in men than women (41.5% vs 33.7% respectively, p=0.0001).



Figure 6.2. Overview of subjects recruited

Characteristic	Primary Arthroplasty Completers	Revision Arthroplasty Completers	Total
Mean Age	65 7 (SD 7 1)	64 3 (SD 7 05)	65 3 (SD 7 1)
(years)			
Gender	937/1339	334/458	1271/1797
(male/female)			
Response Rate	35.7%	39%	36.5%

**Table 6.1.** Completing subject's demographic characteristics

### 6.4.2 Saliva sample characteristics

3,104 saliva samples were received. This larger number compared to number of completer subjects is due to 36 repeat samples being received from subjects who had initially provided low yield DNA samples. Of these, 31 samples had leaked during shipping, 10 samples were contaminated during processing and 7 were lost during processing (figure 6.3). The remaining 3,056 samples were suitable for processing.



Figure 6.3. Overview of sample processing

Received saliva sample volumes ranged from 0.5ml - 4ml. The mean saliva volume was 2.0mL (SD 0.68). The volume of saliva sample provided was inversely proportional to the age of the patient (linear regression, r = -0.09, p = 0.01). The colour of sample was not recorded in 47 samples. Of the remaining, 67.4% samples were clear, 28.2% light brown in colour and 4.4% were dark brown and assumed to be heavily contaminated.

#### 6.4.3 DNA Quantitation

The median DNA yield was 52.1 $\mu$ g (IQR 22.65 $\mu$ g – 103.5 $\mu$ g) (figure 6.4). The median stock concentration was 69.05ng/ $\mu$ l (IQR 30.2ng/ $\mu$ l – 136.75ng/ $\mu$ l). 2335 (75.2%) samples had extracted DNA concentrations >30ng/ $\mu$ l recommended for high-throughput genotyping. 80% of extracted DNA had a fragment length of >60 Kilobases (Kb) (figure 6.5). Of the duplicate samples received, the median DNA concentration

was 36.2ng/µl with 65% of samples achieving the above required concentration for high throughput genotyping. This was an increase in median concentration in this group of subjects by 22.85ng/µl (13.35 - 36.2ng/µl). There was no difference in DNA yield between men and women (p=0.9). Samples stored at room temperature prior to DNA extraction had a greater yield of DNA than those stored at -20°C (84.22 µg vs 69.6 µg, respectively, p=0.001). The total yield of DNA had a weak positive correlation with the volume of the saliva sample provided (Pearson correlation bivariate two-tailed, r = 0.17, p= 0.01) (figure 6.6). The darker (presumed contaminated) saliva samples were found to provide higher yields of DNA (ANOVA, F = 101.39, p = 0.0001).



Figure 6.4. Histogram outlining the Stock DNA Yield by Qubit



Figure 6.5. Gel Electrophoresis on a D1 agarose gel demonstrating DNA quality. The y axis represents fluorescence intensity of the DNA fragments and the x axis shows the length of the DNA fragments. The peak on the left represents a DNA size standard (100bp). The peak on the right represents the DNA samples tested. The lack of spread in the peak on the right indicates numerous large DNA fragments.



Box plot outlining saliva sample volume vs DNA yield

Figure 6 6. Box plot outlining saliva sample volume vs DNA yield

#### 6.5 Discussion

In this study, we have demonstrated that postal recruitment of subjects using a national arthroplasty registry achieves adequate response rates for large scale epidemiological studies. This supports the current evidence that large scale recruitment can be achieved from medical registries (John et al., 2004, Beskow et al., 2006, Whiffin et al., 2014). Of all subjects invited to the study, 44% agreed to participate and 36.5% returned a saliva sample. This is consistent with similar studies where response rates ranged from 21–72% and sample return rates ranged from 12 – 41% (Bhutta et al., 2013).

We found that saliva samples were more likely to be returned by patients who had undergone revision surgery compared with those having undergone primary arthroplasty. It is unclear whether this is because they had undergone surgery more recently or whether they were more likely to participate in view of the increased medical contact received. We found that response rates were higher in men than women. This contradicts much of the literature which states that women are usually more likely to participate in scientific studies (Galea and Tracy, 2007). Nishista et al found no difference in response rates between men and women in their saliva collection for a large genetic study (Nishista, 2009).

We found that postal collection of saliva samples is an effective, non-invasive and convenient method of establishing a DNA biobank for an arthroplasty registry. Our findings echo those of other studies that DNA yields from saliva are adequate for high throughput genotyping (Ng, 2005, Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006, Rogers et al., 2007, Nishista, 2009). We found that the DNA yield varies greatly between saliva samples, ranging from 0.0µg to 1260µg. The median yield of 52.1µg from our samples were higher than that achieved by other epidemiological studies using the Oragene saliva kit (Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006, Quinque et al., 2006, Ng, 2005, Hansen et al., 2007). Although this DNA yield was comparable to other studies we found it was lower than that achieved in our Sheffield postal recruitment subjects. There are a number

of possible contributors: 1. Extraction for the majority of Norway samples was undertaken by another individual; 2. Extraction was undertaken in larger batches in the Norway samples and therefore the amount of time scraping excess DNA adherent to the inside Falcon tube walls may have been less; 3. The Sheffield samples were extracted as soon as they were received whereas the Norway samples were stored for a longer period prior to extraction; 4. Some of the Norway samples were stored at -20°C prior to DNA extraction whereas all Sheffield samples were stored at room temperature. Twenty-five percent of saliva samples yielded a concentration of less than the 30ng/µL required for GWAS genotyping. This is a comparable percentage to that achieved by Rylander–Rudqvist et al (Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006).

One of the potential limitations of using saliva as a source of DNA is the bacterial DNA content. Although we did not evaluate the bacterial DNA concentration in our samples we found those darker in colour, and therefore assumed contaminated, had higher DNA yields. This may represent a higher contribution by bacterial DNA. We recently measured the bacterial DNA quantity in a separate cohort using the same Oragene collection kit. The median percentage of bacterial DNA was 17% which is comparable to other studies using the Oragene kit (Rylander-Rudqvist et al., 2006, Nishista, 2009) and within the range of 2 - 29% quoted by the manufacturer (Chartier and Birnboim, 2005).

We found that saliva volume positively correlated with an increase in DNA yield. Nishista et al also found that a larger saliva volumes provided larger DNA yields (Nishista, 2009). Patients who had initially provided low DNA yield samples were contacted to provide a repeat sample. We found that the mean DNA yield in these duplicate samples was higher with a resultant 65% adequate for high throughput genotyping. This suggests that re-contacting such patients with an explanation is worthwhile as they are likely to provide a better quality sample.

DNA Genotek Inc. recommends saliva samples should be stored at room temperature prior to extraction. We found that storage of saliva samples at -20°C was associated

with a lower DNA yield. This was similar to findings by Ng et al who also found that freezer storage of saliva prior to processing was associated with reduced DNA yield (Ng, 2005). This may be due to DNA degradation as a result of freeze-thawing (Grecz et al., 1980). Following extraction long term storage of DNA was at -80°C. Isolated DNA may be stored at -20°C for several months and -80°C for years (Holland et al., 2003). An EU workshop for Biobanks has recommended that DNA samples are frozen to prevent bacterial growth and reduce risk of sample loss through evaporation (EU\_Workshop, 2003). The UK Biobank recommends storing samples at -20°C to inhibit nucleases (UK Biobank 2004). A study by Smith et al comparing optimal storage conditions found that the highest quantity of DNA remained in the samples stored at -80°C (Smith and Morin, 2005). DNA Genotek advise that Oragene DNA samples can be freeze-thawed 3 times without evidence of DNA degradation (www.dnagenotek.com).

In conclusion, this study highlights the possible extended role of arthroplasty registries for the large-scale recruitment of subjects that may have particular value in diseases that are rare, or where very large numbers are needed because of small gene effect sizes. Postal recruitment of subjects identified using a national joint registry achieves reasonable response rates. Self-collection saliva samples received by mail provide DNA samples with adequate yield for high throughput genotyping and are therefore suitable for the establishment of a registry biobank. Although the majority of DNA extracted from saliva is suitable for whole genome analysis, our study suggests that about a quarter of samples will not yield sufficient DNA for genome wide genotyping, but may be used for replication analyses using other genotyping technologies, such as KASPar. This should be considered when planning recruitment for epidemiological studies using saliva as a source of DNA.

# CHAPTER 7

# A GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDY OF OSTEOLYSIS FOLLOWING TOTAL HIP ARTHROPLASTY

#### 7.1 Overview

This chapter describes a GWAS of peri-prosthetic osteolysis susceptibility and time to prosthesis failure following THA followed by a replication study and meta-analysis. Individuals vary in their susceptibility to osteolysis, and it is thought that genetic polymorphism contributes to this variation. To date, our knowledge of this genetic contribution has been based on candidate gene studies. We carried out whole genome association analysis in a discovery cohort recruited form the UK. Osteolysis susceptibility case-control analysis and a QTL analysis for time to prosthesis failure was undertaken. Index SNPs from signals with p<9x10<sup>-5</sup>, were taken forward for replication in a separate cohort recruited from the Norwegian Arthroplasty Registry. Association analyses were carried out and a meta-analysis of the 2 datasets was undertaken.

We identified a several associating signals in both discovery analyses. The most significant signal associated with osteolysis susceptibility lay within *CAMK4* (index SNP rs306105, p=6.54x10<sup>-7</sup>) and approached genome wide significance. The most significant signal associated with time to prosthesis failure lay within *DEFB129* (rs6105394, p=5.75x10<sup>-7</sup>) but this signal failed to replicate. Following meta-analysis, the most significant signal in the susceptibility analysis remained that within *CAMK4* (rs306105, p =  $3.79x10^{-4}$ ). We have identified some possible risk loci for susceptibility to osteolysis with nominal replication in genes that are involved in the regulation of immune signalling and bone turnover and forms.

#### 7.2 Introduction

Association between genetic variation and susceptibility to periprosthetic osteolysis was first identified at the promoter region of the gene encoding tumour necrosis factor (TNF) (Wilkinson, 2003). Subsequently, several investigators have since identified associations between SNPs in pro-inflammatory cytokines and bone turnover pathways and osteolysis susceptibility (Ambruzova Z, 2006, Gordon A et al., 2008, Kolundzic et al., 2006, Gallo, 2009, Malik, 2007, Gordon A et al., 2007, Malik MH et al., 2006, MacInnes et al., 2014). To date, our knowledge of the genetics of osteolysis has been based entirely on these candidate gene studies, and the only association that has been independently replicated is that found at the *TNF* promoter (Wilkinson, 2003, Gallo and Petrek, 2009).

Candidate gene studies are dependent on *a priori* knowledge and our limited understanding of the pathogenesis of osteolysis has the potential to result in a bottleneck in investigation. Advances in high throughput genotyping together and haplotype datasets allows us to now undertake whole genome scanning using a hypothesis-free approach. There have been no systematic studies of the genetic architecture of osteolysis at genome-wide level. We conducted a genome-wide casecontrol association study (GWAS) in patients following THA with the aim of identifying genetic loci associated with osteolysis susceptibility and time to prosthesis failure. Association signals were followed up by replication in independent patient sets.

### 7.3 Methods

#### 7.3.1 Study Populations

The discovery cohort comprised 894 men and women (317 with osteolysis) as described in chapter 3. Five hundred and fifty-three (217 with osteolysis) were

recruited locally between April 2000 and April 2006 as part of a series of case-control candidate gene studies, 108 (68 with osteolysis) were recruited locally from Sheffield Teaching Hospitals between July 2011 and January 2012, 114 (14 with osteolysis) were recruited from the UK between April 2008 and August 2010 as part of the arcOGEN study, and 119 (37 with osteolysis) were recruited from the North West of England between 2002 and 2004 as part of a separate osteolysis candidate gene study (Malik MH et al., 2006). The replication cohort comprised 2,660 men and women (783 with osteolysis) recruited from the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register, as described in the previous chapter. Note that this number is greater than that shown in figure 6.3. The reason for this is that the final number of 2,335 stated in the previous chapter describes samples suitable for GWAS genotyping. The 2,660 comprising the replication cohort in this study were from the same pool of 3,056 but were suitable for sequenom genotyping hence the discrepancy in numbers.

#### 7.3.2 Phenotype Characterisation

Discovery cohort phenotype characterisation is described in section 2.5. Briefly, all subjects in the discovery cohort had undergone either cemented or hybrid THA with a metal on polyethylene bearing couple for primary osteoarthritis. Exclusions are outlined in section 3.2.2. Subjects who were of non-UK European ancestry were also excluded. Cases comprised subjects with radiographic evidence of either femoral or acetabular osteolysis, as described previously (Gordon A et al., 2007). The control group comprised subjects who had received a primary THA not less than 7 years previously, were asymptomatic and had no radiographic evidence of osteolysis at the time of recruitment. Polyethylene wear measurements were made using EBRA (University of Innsbruck, Austria) software in patients with available radiographs, as described in section 2.7, and used as a covariate in the association analyses. Six hundred and five subjects had available radiographs suitable for wear measurements.

Patients in the replication cohort had previously undergone primary cemented or hybrid (cemented femur) THA for idiopathic osteoarthritis. Phenotype characterisation

and inclusion criteria have been described in detail in section 6.4 The recruitment strategy, described in section 6.4, was planned to minimize confounders between the cases and controls.

#### 7.3.3 Genotyping and Association Analyses

Genomic DNA from subjects in the discovery cohort was extracted from either whole blood or saliva and genotyped using the Illumina 610k beadchip (Illumina, San Diego, CA). We undertook quality control checks at sample and SNP level described earlier in chapter 2.8.3. Samples identified by genotype to be from individuals of non-UK European ancestry were excluded from association analyses. SNP QC was carried out on autosomal SNPs. SNPs were excluded if they had a minor allele frequency (MAF)  $\geq$ 5% and a call rate <95%, or a MAF <5% and call rate <99%. SNPs with Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) p<0.0001 were excluded. Following QC, we imputed the GWAS dataset using the European reference panel from the 1000 Genomes Project (Dec 2010 phase I interim release) (1000 Genomes consortium et al, 2010), and using IMPUTE2 (Marchini et al., 2007).

Osteolysis susceptibility case-control analysis and a quantitative trait locus (QTL) association analysis for time to prosthesis failure was undertaken on >10 million variants under the additive model using method score implemented in SNPTESTv2. Phenotype data was normalised where required and we performed a linear regression to adjust for age, gender, fixation method, osteolysis-free survival time and polyethylene wear. Residuals were then transformed to z-scores. Index SNPs from signals with p<9x10<sup>-5</sup> were prioritised for replication. Genotype-calling intensity plots were examined and SNPs with poorly clustering plots were not taken forward. Only associating SNPs with an imputation information score >0.4 and a minor allele frequency (MAF) >0.05 were progressed for the replication association analyses.

DNA from subjects in the replication cohort was extracted from saliva and genotyping was carried out using the Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay (Agena Bioscience

160

Inc, Hamburg, Germany). Samples failing gender check or with call rate <80% were excluded. SNPs were removed if their call rate was <80% or with HWE p<10<sup>-4</sup>. Association analyses were undertaken using logistic regression in PLINK v1.07. Z-standardized residuals were generated on phenotype data requiring normalization and regressed on age, gender, implant type, fixation method and osteolysis-free survival time. Summary statistics from both stages were combined and meta-analysed using a fixed-effects model implemented in GWAMA v2.1. (Magi and Morris, 2010).

#### 7.3.4 Sensitivity analyses

The effect of including polyethylene wear as an analysis covariate on the findings in the discovery analyses was assessed by repeating these analyses for the prioritized SNPs and excluding polyethylene wear as an analysis covariate to observe its effect on the resultant P-value. Both the case-control susceptibility and time to failure analyses were repeated without using polyethylene wear as an analysis covariate, and the amount of overlap of SNP selection between the analysis approaches was compared.

### 7.4 Results

In both the discovery and replication cohorts, subjects in the osteolysis group were younger, and a greater proportion were males when compared with the control group, although the differences were smaller in the replication cohort because of the covariate minimisation strategy. In the discovery cohort, annual polyethylene wear rate was greater in the osteolysis group versus the control group (table 7.1). These findings are consistent with known risk factors associated with osteolysis, and were adjusted for in subsequent analyses. The distribution of fully cemented and hybrid prostheses in each cohort is outlined in table 7.2.

Discovery cohort											
Characteristics	Control Group	Osteolysis Group	P value								
	n = 577	n = 317									
Age at THA (years <u>+</u> SD)	65.8 <u>+</u> 8	60.5 <u>+</u> 8	<0.0001								
Sex (male/female)	228/349	174/143	0.01								
Osteolysis free survival (years <u>+</u> SD)	10.8 <u>+</u> 6	9.8 <u>+</u> 5	0.05								
Polyethylene wear (mm/year)	0.08 (0.04 to 0.13) 0.14 (0.08 to 0.24)		<0.001								
	Replication	Cohort									
Characteristics	Control Group	Osteolysis Group	P value								
	n = 1877	n = 783									
Age at THA (years <u>+</u> SD)	65.7 <u>+</u> 7.1	64.3 <u>+</u> 6.9	<0.0001								
Sex (male/female)	739/1138	342/441	0.039								
Osteolysis free survival (years <u>+</u> SD)	13.8 <u>+</u> 5.4	8.6 <u>+</u> 4.95	<0.0001								

 Table 7.1 Patient characteristics for discovery and replication cohorts

Discovery Cohort											
Controls Controls (%) Cases Cases											
Fully cemented THA	466	80.8	291	91.8							
Hybrid THA	111	19.2	26	8.2							
	Replicatio	n Cohort									
	Controls	Controls (%)	Cases	Cases (%)							
Fully cemented THA	1771	94.4	727	92.8							
Hybrid THA	106	5.6	56	7.2							

Table 7.2 Distribution of fully cemented and hybrid prostheses

### 7.4.1 Osteolysis Susceptibility

In the discovery analysis we identified 20 independent signals that were associated with osteolysis susceptibility (Figure 7.1A and 7.1B, and Table 7.3) at  $p<9.9x10^{-5}$ . One signal approached genome-wide significance: variant rs306105 lies within intron 1 of *CAMK4* (effect allele C, EAF 91%, OR 0.4, 95% CI 0.28 to 0.62, p=6.54x10<sup>-7</sup>, Figure 7.2.

These 20 independent signals were prioritised for replication through *de-novo* genotyping in the Norwegian cohort. At replication, one variant, within *FGL1*, showed evidence for nominally significant association with the same direction of effect as the discovery cohort: rs28603021 (effect allele T, OR 0.86, 95% CI 0.73 to 1.00, p = 0.05).

Following meta-analysis no signals approached the genome-wide significance threshold of  $p \le 5 \times 10^{-8}$  (Table 7.4). The most significant signal remained that within *CAMK4* (rs306105, allele C, OR=0.7, 95% CI=0.59 to 0.86, p = 3.75x10<sup>-4</sup>) and was followed by the nominally replicating variant rs28603021 (allele T, OR 0.79, 95% CI 0.69 to 0.89, p = 3.78x10<sup>-4</sup>) in *FGL1*.



**Figure 7.1A.** Manhattan Plot for osteolysis susceptibility discovery analysis. The p-value is denoted on the y-axis and the chromosome position on the x-axis. Linear peaks within each chromosome represent signals consisting of clusters of SNPs.



# Figure 7.1B.

QQ plot for osteolysis susceptibility discovery analysis. The expected p-value is indicated by the grey line and the black dots indicate the observed p-values.

MARKER	EA	NEA	EAF	OR	95% Cl	P-value
rs306105*	С	A	0.911	0.415	0.278 to 0.619	6.54E-07
rs11119057	A	G	0.278	0.541	0.419 to 0.699	2.06E-06
rs9445504	A	С	0.084	2.621	1.738 to 3.951	2.64E-06
rs28603021*	Т	С	0.704	0.621	0.482 to 0.802	3.35E-06
rs10145023	Т	С	0.202	1.869	1.405 to 2.488	5.18E-06
rs10055976	A	G	0.059	2.939	1.767 to 5.035	7.82E-06
rs7004096	A	С	0.080	0.351	0.203 to 0.609	2.25E-05
rs37476	A	G	0.913	0.445	0.297 to 0.666	2.44E-05
rs12810375	A	G	0.137	0.483	0.327 to 0.713	3.22E-05
rs9435429	G	A	0.647	1.597	1.236 to 2.063	3.38E-05
rs2160505	A	С	0.393	0.641	0.500 to 0.822	3.66E-05
rs3736279	С	Т	0.146	1.699	1.227 to 2.343	4.34E-05
rs4143629	G	A	0.231	1.731	1.317 to 2.276	6.06E-05
rs1008727	Т	G	0.396	1.612	1.267 to 2.051	6.58E-05
rs9527681	A	С	0.472	0.591	0.464 to 0.753	7.25E-05
rs4775378	G	A	0.637	1.513	1.175 to 1.948	7.94E-05
rs4301763	С	Т	0.059	0.406	0.220 to 0.750	7.96E-05
rs7153101	Т	G	0.705	1.444	1.105 to 1.887	8.64E-05
rs1891632	A	G	0.131	1.813	1.293 to 2.542	8.79E-05
rs2834401	Т	G	0.621	0.638	0.500 to 0.814	9.38E-05

**Table 7.3.** Results of the osteolysis susceptibility discovery analysis for all independent signals with  $p < 9.9 \times 10^{-5}$  taken forward for replication. EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele; OR = odds ratio, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval, \*imputed variants, all other variants directly typed.



**Figure 7. 2.** Regional association plot for rs306105 (that lies within *CAMK4*) from the osteolysis susceptibility discovery analysis. The index SNP is denoted by the purple marker. The colour reflects the pairwise r<sup>2</sup> with index SNP. The region extends 500kb upstream and downstream of the index SNP.

Stage	rs_number	EA	NEA	EAF	OR	95% CI	p-value	Direction of effects	Gene
1	rs306105	С	A	0.911	0.414	0.278 to 0.619	6.54E-07		
2	rs306105	С	A	0.896	0.828	0.668 to 1.025	0.08		
MA	rs306105	С	A		0.710	0.588 to 0.857	3.74E-04		CAMK4
1	rs28603021	Т	С	0.704	0.622	0.482 to 0.802	3.35E-06		
2	rs28603021	Т	С	0.693	0.859	0.739 to 1.000	0.05		
MA	rs28603021	Т	С		0.790	0.693 to 0.899	3.75E-04		FGL1
1	rs2834401	Т	G	0.621	0.638	0.500 to 0.814	9.38E-05		
2	rs2834401	Т	G	0.658	0.874	0.756 to 1.010	0.068		
MA	rs2834401	T	G		0.805	0.711 to 0.912	6.42E-04		LINC00310

**Table 7.4.** Results of the osteolysis susceptibility meta-analysis showing signals with concordant direction of effect and  $p<9.9x10^{-4}$ . EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele, EAF = effect allele frequency, OR = odds ratio, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval, Direction of effects = allele effect direction.

#### 7.4.2 Time to Prosthesis Failure

Genome-wide analysis in the discovery cohort identified 21 independent signals that were associated with time to prosthesis failure in the osteolysis cases at  $p<9x10^{-5}$  (figure 7.3A and 7.3B, Table 7.5). The most significantly associated variant lay 2kb downstream from the *DEFB129* gene and approached genome wide significance (rs6105394, effect allele T, EAF 7%, beta 1.21, SE 0.24, p=5.75x10<sup>-7</sup>, Figure 7. 4).

Twenty-one independent signals were prioritized for replication through *de-novo* genotyping in the Norwegian cohort. None of these variants showed evidence for nominally significant association in the replication cohort. Following meta-analysis, no signals approached the genome-wide significance threshold of  $p \le 5x10^{-8}$  and no signals showed an increase in nominal significance.



**Figure 7.3A.** Manhattan Plot for QTL time to prosthesis failure discovery analysis. The p-value is denoted on the y-axis and the chromosome position on the x-axis. Linear peaks within each chromosome represent signals consisting of clusters of SNPs.



**Figure 7.3B.** QQ plot for QTL time to prosthesis failure discovery analysis. The expected p-value is indicated by the grey line and the black dots indicate the observed p-values.

MARKER	EA	NEA	EAF	BETA	SE	P-value
rs6105394*	Т	С	0.072	1.217	0.243	5.75E-07
rs6754629	С	Т	0.402	0.494	0.106	2.95E-06
rs755423*	G	С	0.909	-0.770	0.176	1.20E-05
rs702620	Т	С	0.768	-0.528	0.121	1.27E-05
rs155109*	G	A	0.312	0.465	0.107	1.47E-05
rs1449413	G	Т	0.356	-0.428	0.099	1.54E-05
rs4493711	A	G	0.153	-0.522	0.122	1.97E-05
rs9903651	Т	С	0.773	0.476	0.113	2.61E-05
rs2029288	А	С	0.675	-0.421	0.101	3.07E-05
rs1499232	С	Т	0.726	-0.461	0.112	3.67E-05
rs11904654	G	Т	0.146	0.554	0.134	3.70E-05
rs6118046	Т	С	0.180	0.520	0.126	3.78E-05
rs10430747	A	G	0.701	0.419	0.102	3.80E-05
rs17099320	G	A	0.115	0.657	0.160	3.94E-05
rs1887063	С	A	0.567	0.413	0.102	4.94E-05
rs6110749*	G	A	0.080	0.908	0.224	5.41E-05
rs9929066	A	G	0.094	-0.674	0.167	5.52E-05
rs10924771	A	G	0.639	0.417	0.104	6.02E-05
rs9313886	С	Т	0.306	0.410	0.104	8.43E-05
rs2196565*	С	A	0.176	0.521	0.133	8.66E-05
rs11686724	A	G	0.196	0.471	0.121	9.94E-05

**Table 7.5** Results of the QTL time to prosthesis failure discovery analysis. This table includes all SNPs with  $p<9.9x10^{-5}$  taken forward for replication. EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele; OR = odds ratio; SE = standard error, \*imputed variant, all other variants directly typed. rs6105394 was not taken forward for replication due to assay design issues.



**Figure 7.4.** Regional association plot for rs6105394 from discovery QTL analysis time to prosthesis failure. The index SNP is denoted by the purple marker. The colour reflects the pairwise  $r^2$  with index SNP. The region extends 500kb upstream and downstream of the index SNP.

#### 7.4.3 Sensitivity analyses

When the case-control osteolysis susceptibility analysis for all signals with p<9.9 x10<sup>-5</sup> was repeated without wear as a covariate, all 20 SNPs showed the same direction of effect, albeit with varying ORs, and all showed a p-value that was at least nominally significant (Table 7.6). Only 4 signals retained a p-value <9.9 x 10<sup>-5</sup>. Conversely, when the same association analysis was repeated across all discovery SNPs without wear as an analysis covariate, 25 independent SNPs with p<9.9 x 10<sup>-5</sup> were identified (Table 7.7), and all showed the same direction of effect and nominal significance when the

analysis was conducted using wear as an analysis covariate. Again, only 4 SNPs from this set showed significance at  $P<9.9 \times 10^{-5}$  for both with and without wear analyses.

When the time to prosthesis failure QTL analysis for all signals with p<9.9 x10<sup>-5</sup> was repeated without wear as a covariate all 21 SNPs showed the same direction of effect, and all except one showed a p-value that was at least nominally significant (Table 7.8). Only 2 signals retained a p-value <9.9 x 10<sup>-5</sup>. Conversely, when the same association analysis was repeated across all discovery SNPs without wear as an analysis covariate, 20 independent SNPs with p<9.9 x 10<sup>-5</sup> were identified (Table 7.9). All showed the same direction of effect and all except one showed nominal significance when the analysis was conducted using wear as an analysis covariate. Again, only 2 SNP from this set showed significance at P<9.9 x 10<sup>-5</sup> for both with and without wear analyses.

In addition, we undertook replication and meta-analyses for those signals identified without wear as a covariate. We failed to replicate any signals in the case-control analysis. Two variants showed evidence for nominally significant association with the same direction of effect as the discovery cohort in the time to prosthesis failure analysis: rs12550574 (allele A, beta -0.16, SE 0.07, p = 0.019) which lies 49kbp downstream of *DOK2*; and rs1374879 (allele C, beta 0.175, SE 0.08, p = 0.035) within an intronic region of *CNTN3*. Following meta-analysis no signals approached the genome-wide significance threshold of p≤5x10<sup>-8</sup>. The strongest signal associated with time to failure was the replicating variant rs1374879 (allele C, beta 0.29, SE 0.07, p=2.15x10<sup>-5</sup>) within *CNTN3* and was followed by the replicating variant rs12550574 (allele A, beta - 0.24, SE 0.06, p = 1.29 x10<sup>-4</sup>) which lies 49kbp downstream of *DOK2*.

			With wear analysis				Without wear analys	sis
MARKER	EA	NEA	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value
rs306105	С	A	0.415	0.278 to 0.619	6.54E-07	0.510	0.366 to 0.711	3.87E-06
rs11119057	A	G	0.541	0.419 to 0.699	2.06E-06	0.607	0.493 to 0.746	6.44E-07
rs9445504	A	С	2.621	1.738 to 3.952	2.64E-06	2.063	1.492 to 2.852	1.13E-05
rs28603021	Т	С	0.622	0.482 to 0.802	3.35E-06	0.650	0.528 to 0.800	4.47E-06
rs10145023	Т	С	1.869	1.405 to 2.488	5.18E-06	1.498	1.179 to 1.904	0.0007
rs10055976	A	G	2.939	1.767 to 5.034	7.82E-06	1.843	1.241 to 2.737	0.004
rs7004096	A	С	0.351	0.203 to 0.609	2.25E-05	0.587	0.395 to 0.873	0.002
rs37476	A	G	0.445	0.297 to 0.665	2.44E-05	0.592	0.425 to 0.825	0.01
rs12810375	A	G	0.483	0.327 to 0.713	3.22E-05	0.630	0.467 to 0.852	0.003
rs9435429	G	A	1.597	1.236 to 2.063	3.38E-05	1.351	1.099 to 1.661	0.0006
rs2160505	A	С	0.641	0.500 to 0.822	3.66E-05	0.718	0.588 to 0.876	0.0004
rs3736279	С	Т	1.696	1.227 to 2.343	4.34E-05	1.377	1.055 to 1.798	0.002
rs4143629	G	A	1.731	1.317 to 2.276	6.06E-05	1.438	1.151 to 1.798	0.0002
rs1008727	Т	G	1.612	1.267 to 2.051	6.58E-05	1.331	1.092 to 1.622	0.005
rs9527681	A	С	0.591	0.464 to 0.753	7.25E-05	0.696	0.572 to 0.846	0.001
rs4775378	G	A	1.513	1.175 to 1.948	7.94E-05	1.306	1.066 to 1.599	0.006
rs4301763	С	Т	0.406	0.220 to 0.750	7.96E-05	0.570	0.359 to 0.905	0.002
rs7153101	Т	G	1.444	1.105 to 1.887	8.64E-05	1.311	1.055 to 1.629	0.001
rs1891632	A	G	1.813	1.293 to 2.542	8.79E-05	1.613	1.217 to 2.139	0.0005
rs2834401	Т	G	0.638	0.500 to 0.814	9.38E-05	0.708	0.579 to 0.865	0.0002

**Table 7.6** This table outlines the SNPs identified in the case-control analysis with  $p<9.9x10^{-5}$  comparing results when analysis with versus without wear rate as a covariate. EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele; OR = odds ratio; 95% CI = 95% confidence interval.

			Without wear analysis		With wear analysis			
MARKER	EA	NEA	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value
rs11119057	А	G	0.607	0.493 to 0.746	6.44E-07	0.541	0.416 to 0.699	2.06E-06
rs306105	С	Α	0.510	0.366 to 0.711	3.87E-06	0.415	0.278 to 0.619	6.54E-07
rs28603021	Т	С	0.650	0.528 to 0.800	4.47E-06	0.622	0.482 to 0.802	3.35E-06
rs7973861	С	Α	1.847	1.414 to 2.413	4.59E-06	1.612	1.170 to 2.222	6.88E-03
rs4361192	С	Т	2.119	1.540 to 2.915	5.45E-06	1.892	1.291 to 2.774	0.008
rs9445504	А	С	2.063	1.492 to 2.852	1.13E-05	2.621	1.738 to 3.952	2.64E-06
rs11600347	А	С	0.491	0.327 to 0.736	1.60E-05	0.424	0.256 to 0.700	0.0005
rs1945691	А	G	1.524	1.197 to 1.942	2.43E-05	1.572	1.174 to 2.106	0.0008
rs6435067	С	Т	1.584	1.253 to 2.003	2.69E-05	1.507	1.130 to 2.010	0.008
rs11686261	Т	С	0.631	0.518 to 0.769	2.87E-05	0.631	0.496 to 0.802	0.002
rs12640141	G	Α	1.617	1.256 to 2.080	2.93E-05	1.739	1.278 to 2.366	0.001
rs10495929	А	G	0.592	0.443 to 0.789	3.79E-05	0.610	0.433 to 0.860	0.003
rs4659764	G	Α	1.503	1.228 to 1.839	3.92E-05	1.419	1.108 to 1.817	0.003
rs595298	А	G	1.368	1.125 to 1.662	3.99E-05	1.492	1.175 to 1.894	0.0001
rs2481952	Т	С	0.698	0.574 to 0.848	4.53E-05	0.611	0.481 to 0.775	0.0002
rs4680029	Т	G	0.425	0.271 to 0.666	4.57E-05	0.406	0.240 to 0.687	0.003
rs822872	А	G	0.729	0.592 to 0.897	4.63E-05	0.689	0.535 to 0.888	0.001
rs10272623	G	Α	1.729	1.265 to 2.364	4.71E-05	1.616	1.098 to 2.379	0.03
rs644396	С	Т	0.668	0.549 to 0.813	6.25E-05	0.699	0.550 to 0.888	0.004
rs11595566	А	G	1.675	1.255 to 2.236	6.71E-05	1.825	1.282 to 2.598	0.001
rs6065414	G	Т	0.683	0.552 to 0.844	6.86E-05	0.674	0.518 to 0.875	0.002
rs10779685	С	т	1.521	1.170 to 1.978	7.28E-05	1.589	1.164 to 2.168	0.0006
rs6441583	G	Α	0.597	0.454 to 0.783	7.79E-05	0.591	0.426 to 0.820	0.01
rs11039359	С	Т	0.426	0.267 to 0.680	8.47E-05	0.445	0.254 to 0.780	0.007
rs6487867	А	G	0.658	0.535 to 0.809	9.14E-05	0.689	0.536 to 0.885	0.002

**Table 7.7** This table outlines the SNPs identified ( $p<9.9x10^{-5}$ ) in the case-control analysis without wear as a covariate and compares results with analysis with wear rate included as a covariate. EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele; OR = odds ratio; 95% CI = 95% confidence interval.

			With wear analysis		Wit	hout wear ana	lysis	
MARKER	EA	NEA	BETA	SE	P-value	BETA	SE	P-value
rs6105394	Т	С	1.217	0.243	5.75E-07	0.554	0.179	0.002
rs6754629	С	т	0.494	0.106	2.95E-06	0.275	0.085	0.001
rs755423	G	С	-0.770	0.176	1.20E-05	-0.404	0.132	0.002
rs702620	Т	С	-0.528	0.121	1.27E-05	-0.388	0.101	0.0001
rs155109	G	A	0.465	0.107	1.47E-05	0.193	0.084	0.02
rs1449413	G	Т	-0.428	0.099	1.54E-05	-0.290	0.083	0.0005
rs4493711	A	G	-0.522	0.122	1.97E-05	-0.255	0.100	0.01
rs9903651	т	С	0.476	0.113	2.61E-05	0.302	0.091	0.001
rs2029288	A	С	-0.421	0.101	3.07E-05	-0.367	0.085	1.67E-05
rs1499232	С	т	-0.461	0.112	3.67E-05	-0.225	0.087	0.01
rs11904654	G	т	0.554	0.134	3.70E-05	0.305	0.112	0.006
rs6118046	т	С	0.520	0.126	3.78E-05	0.456	0.111	4.09E-05
rs10430747	A	G	0.419	0.102	3.80E-05	0.257	0.083	0.002
rs17099320	G	A	0.657	0.160	3.94E-05	0.486	0.131	0.0002
rs1887063	С	A	0.413	0.102	4.94E-05	0.070	0.082	0.4
rs6110749	G	A	0.905	0.224	5.41E-05	0.468	0.162	0.004
rs9929066	А	G	-0.674	0.167	5.52E-05	-0.457	0.137	0.0008
rs10924771	А	G	0.417	0.104	6.02E-05	0.258	0.084	0.002
rs9313886	С	Т	0.410	0.104	8.43E-05	0.229	0.080	0.004
rs2196565	С	A	0.521	0.133	8.66E-05	0.269	0.109	0.01
rs11686724	A	G	0.471	0.121	9.94E-05	0.219	0.096	0.02

**Table 7.8** This table outlines the SNPs identified in the time to failure QTL analysis with  $p < 9.9 \times 10^{-5}$  and compares results when analysis with versus without wear rate as a covariate. EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele; OR = odds ratio; SE = standard error.

			Without wear analysis		W	ith wear analy	rsis	
MARKER	EA	NEA	BETA	SE	P-value	BETA	SE	P-value
rs4394754	С	Т	0.438	0.094	3.08E-06	0.278	0.119	0.02
rs284486	А	G	-0.383	0.083	4.28E-06	-0.363	0.103	0.0004
rs10764837	А	G	0.348	0.078	8.41E-06	0.228	0.097	0.02
rs1374879	С	Т	0.533	0.120	9.50E-06	0.331	0.144	0.02
rs6808795	А	G	-0.351	0.080	1.18E-05	-0.280	0.096	0.003
rs2029288	А	С	-0.367	0.085	1.67E-05	-0.421	0.101	3.07E-05
rs2144456	А	G	0.321	0.075	2.03E-05	0.235	0.0907	0.01
rs2113590	С	Т	0.773	0.187	3.48E-05	0.595	0.207	0.004
rs7931608	Т	С	0.326	0.0791	3.83E-05	0.343	0.098	0.0005
rs6118046	Т	С	0.456	0.111	4.09E-05	0.520	0.126	3.78E-05
rs9783205	С	A	-0.405	0.099	4.49E-05	-0.338	0.124	0.006
rs9371581	А	G	0.315	0.078	5.90E-05	0.333	0.097	0.0006
rs304343	С	Т	0.581	0.145	6.14E-05	0.158	0.179	0.4
rs11790630	Т	С	-0.373	0.093	6.71E-05	-0.269	0.120	0.03
rs9870957	С	A	0.329	0.083	7.16E-05	0.250	0.102	0.01
rs749763	G	A	0.324	0.082	7.25E-05	0.310	0.099	0.002
rs7985101	С	A	0.341	0.086	7.56E-05	0.329	0.104	0.002
rs11137472	G	A	0.413	0.105	8.90E-05	0.389	0.128	0.002
rs3766923	G	Т	-0.345	0.088	9.31E-05	-0.336	0.110	0.002
rs12027243	Т	С	-0.326	0.084	9.67E-05	-0.380	0.101	0.0002

**Table 7.9** This table outlines the SNPs identified ( $p<9.9x10^{-5}$ ) in the time to failure QTL analysis without wear as a covariate and compares results with analysis with wear rate included as a covariate. EA = affect allele, NEA = non affect allele; OR = odds ratio; SE = standard error.

#### 7.5 Discussion

We conducted a genome-wide scan and replication study in an independent population in order to identify susceptibility loci for osteolysis after THA, and susceptibility loci for time to failure in osteolysis cases. We have identified possible associations for osteolysis susceptibility within *CAMK4* and *FGL1*, but no replicating evidence for association with time to prosthesis failure.

We undertook a sensitivity analysis to determine the impact of using polyethylene wear rates as an analysis covariate. We found that although all initially significant SNPs showed the same effect direction and almost all retained nominal significance only 14% of SNPs retained significance at P<9.9 x 10<sup>-5</sup> when wear was excluded as an analysis covariate. When the association analyses were conducted de-novo without wear as a covariate we found that the majority of signals at P<9.9 x 10<sup>-5</sup> were different to those identified when wear was included as a covariate. There was an overlap of only 5 signals in the case control analysis and 2 signals in the time to prosthesis analysis at P<9.9 x  $10^{-5}$ . For the SNPs which showed significance at P<9.9 x  $10^{-5}$  for both with and without wear analyses the p-values were more commonly stronger in the with wear analyses. Interestingly, when we carried out replication analyses in the signals identified without using wear as a covariate we found 3 replicating signals. Two of these were within or in the flanking region of plausible gene candidates. From these analyses it remains unclear whether adjustment for polyethylene wear, when available, is the most effective strategy for genomic discovery. Polyethylene wear rate is an important risk factor for osteolysis as demonstrated by stronger association of overlapping discovery signals, however the increase in study numbers achieved by not using wear rate as a covariate may be equally important. Further study will be required to clarify this.

*CAMK4* resides on chromosome 5, and encodes the calmodulin-dependent protein kinase 4 enzyme, which a member of the serine/threonine protein kinase family. This

enzyme has been implicated in transcriptional regulation of mature T cells and neutrophils (Lawson et al., 1999, Wang et al., 2001, Kitsos et al., 2005). Calmodulin signalling has been strongly implicated in osteoclastogenesis, both as an activator of receptor activator of nuclear factor-κb ligand RANK-L through AP-1 transcription factors and as a downstream regulator following RANK-L stimulation through nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) transcription factors (Seales et al., 2006). Sato et al showed that the CAMK4-CREB pathway was crucial in osteoclastic bone resorption through NFAT induction and regulation (Sato et al., 2006). They also showed that *CAMK4<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have increased bone density compared to wild types and reduced bone erosion when subjected to a lipopolysaccharide (LPS) model of bone destruction.

*FGL1* on chromosome 8, encodes fibrinogen-like protein 1 (FGL-1), a hepatocyte derived protein member of the fibrinogen family of proteins. FGL-1 is structurally similar to fibrinogen related proteins (FReP) (Yamamoto et al., 1993). The FRePs are upregulated in tissue injury and play a role in innate immunity by activating toll like receptor 4 (TLR4) (Zuliani-Alvarez and Midwood, 2015), which has recently been shown to play a role in periprosthetic osteolysis (Greenfield et al., 2010, MacInnes et al., 2014). They have also been shown to induce a number of inflammatory cytokines including interleukins 4, 6, 10, 17, tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Zuliani-Alvarez and Midwood, 2015).

The most statistically significant variant in our discovery time to failure analysis, rs6105394, lies 2kb downstream of *DEFB129*. We were unable to replicate in the Norwegian population using the Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay as primers for this variant could not be constructed. As there were no proxy SNPs we performed the replication analysis using the next most significant directly typed SNP, rs6110474 (beta 0.68, SE 0.17, p=4.97 x 10<sup>-5</sup>) in the signal using the KASPar assay. This SNP failed to replicate (beta 0.02, SE 0.04, p=0.62). Human  $\beta$ -defensins (hBD) are antimicrobial peptides which play an important role in innate immunity, and are thought to play a role in inflammatory disorders of bone (Warnke et al., 2006) (Kraus et al., 2012).

We also undertook replication and meta-analyses in the variants identified when not using wear as a covariate. This identified 2 further independent replicating signals within or in the flanking region of *CNTN3*, *DOK2* which associated with time to prosthesis failure. *CNTN3* encodes the protein contactin 3, which mediates cell adhesion (Mock et al., 1996). It's role in bone turnover is previously undescribed. *DOK2*, which encodes docking protein 2 (Dok2) is involved in the regulation of TLR 2 and 4 (Shinohara et al., 2005). More recently Dok1 and Dok2 were found to be downstream adaptors of TLR-2 inflammatory signalling through regulation of Erk and NF-κB signalling (Downer et al., 2013) Kawamata et al demonstrated that Dok1/2 deficient mice have pre-osteoclast hypersensitivity to macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and increased numbers of TRAP positive osteoclasts and enhanced bone resorption (Kawamata et al., 2011).

Our discovery analysis had  $\geq$ 80% power to detect variants with a risk allele frequency of 0.35 and an allelic OR of 1.65. The replication analysis had  $\geq$ 80% power to detect variants with a risk allele frequency of 0.45 and an allelic OR of 1.45. We attempted to reduce the impact of modest power by looking only at common variants (MAF  $\geq$ 0.05) but consequently the study was insufficiently powered to detect modest effects associated with rarer variants.

In summary, we have carried out the first GWA study for osteolysis and time to prosthesis failure. We have identified some possible risk loci for susceptibility to osteolysis with nominal replication in an independent population. However, a larger study with substantially more cases and controls is required to better identify genetic association signals with osteolysis. In order to achieve 80% power for our observed most significant variants (risk allele frequency 0.1, OR 0.7) we would require 750 cases and 2000 controls. Table 7.10 shows sample size required to achieve 80% power for an osteolysis GWAS for varying allele frequency and effect size.
MAF	OR	Cases (n)	Controls (n)
0.3	1.5	600	1650
0.3	1.4	1000	1750
0.2	1.4	1350	2000
0.1	1.4	2000	5000
0.05	1.35	5000	10000

 Table 7.10 Sample size required for osteolysis GWAS at 80% power

# **CHAPTER 8**

# THESIS DISCUSSION

## 8.1 Overview

This chapter provides a summary of the studies presented in this thesis. A synopsis of the findings and significance in keeping with primary and secondary study aims will be discussed as well as study strengths, limitations and proposed future work.

#### 8.2 Summary

In this work I have explored the genetic contribution to two common conditions associated with adverse outcome in total hip arthroplasty: osteolysis and heterotopic ossification. As an investigative team, we have followed a systematic approach starting with a candidate gene study using previously recruited subjects and progressed to whole genome association studies which required large scale prospective recruitment. We have identified several putative novel associated loci which have the potential to further our understanding of the complex pathological processes involved. Throughout these processes we have demonstrated the feasibility of recruitment for large genetic epidemiological studies using a national joint register. We have demonstrated that postal collection of saliva provides adequate DNA suitable for these studies and can also be stored establishing a biological repository with linkage to the registry. This has significant potential for the study of a number of orthopaedic conditions and is especially useful when studying low incidence phenotypes where local recruitment is likely to yield insufficient subject numbers to achieve adequate power.

In the candidate gene study presented in chapter 4 we identified 4 SNPs within *TNFRSF11A*, (rs4524033, rs9960450, rs7226991, and rs4485469), and one each within *KREMEN2* (rs4786361), *SFRP1* (rs921142), *TIRAP* (rs8177375), and *TNFRSF11B* (rs11573847) that were associated with osteolysis susceptibility. Our finding of possible association of variation in KREMEN2 with osteolysis is novel. Kremen2 modulates Wnt signalling, and mice deficient in Kremen2 have increased bone formation. (Schulze et al., 2010) The variant rs8177375 lies in the 3' UTR of TIRAP associated with osteolysis susceptibility and showed a trend toward association with time to prosthesis failure. This variant has previously been associated with risk of sepsis-induced lung injury. (Song et al., 2010) Functional studies subsequent to this thesis within our group have shown that carriage of the 'G' allele may result in mRNA degradation and likely inhibition of translation (MacInnes et al., 2014).

183

Despite this being the largest candidate gene study for osteolysis to date, the main limitation was that the sample size was still small in genetic association study terms. We aimed to mitigate against this in part by using a 2-stage analysis, followed by metaanalysis. We also attempted to reduce confounding by studying a single ethnic group and using strict exclusion criteria. Candidate gene selection, however, relied on *apriori* knowledge of osteolysis pathogenesis and this hypothesis-driven approach may have led to potentially important genes not being investigated. This, therefore led to the hypothesis-free whole genome association analysis described in chapter 7.

We undertook the first GWAS of HO susceptibility and severity following THA, and identified promising novel loci within or in the flanking regions of the ARHGAP18, BMP2, LGI1 and KIF26B genes. GWAS are hypothesis-free studies, which reduces the bias afforded by candidate gene selection. As with the candidate gene study, the main limitation of this study was that sample size was very small in GWAS terms, with consequent limited power. We aimed to mitigate this to some degree by imposing strict phenotyping criteria, ensuring that all controls were free from HO using radiographs taken no earlier than 1 year post THA, by which time any HO development would have occurred. This created a group of "super-controls" which increased power compared to using a background population control group that is commonly used in GWAS. Because of the small sample size, we included only common variants with MAF>0.05. Although this method increases confidence in identified common variants, it reduces the chances of identifying associating rarer variants. As this was a single stage GWAS study some of the associated variants may represent false positives and recruitment is currently underway for a replication analysis. The use of the Brooker grading did not provide volumetric quantitation of HO but remains the accepted standard used in clinical practice. Although we did not undertake a repeatability study looking at inter and intra-observer reliability in our HO measurements, the Brooker grading has previously been shown to have good inter and intra-observer reliability with 77% and 86% agreement respectively (Wright et al., 1994).

The Norwegian Arthroplasty Register cohort study was the first demonstration of the possible extended role of national arthroplasty registries for large scale recruitment of subjects. We also showed that postal recruitment of subjects using this approach achieves reasonable response rates and postal self-collection saliva samples provide adequate DNA yield for high throughput genotyping and are therefore suitable for the establishment of a registry biobank. This strategy is scalable and potentially applicable across a range of common complex diseases where large-scale epidemiological datasets are held. The savings achieved due to lower personnel costs using saliva as a source of DNA compared to whole blood makes large scale postal collection of saliva a more cost-effective approach. Although most saliva samples provided adequate DNA concentration for whole genome analysis, we found that about a quarter of samples did not. These samples could either be amplified or used for replication analyses using other genotyping technologies. Compliance with providing adequate samples should be strongly encouraged in the information provided to patients to improve sample quality. Another limitation of postal collection of saliva was that, although unlikely, we were unable to confirm that the sample was provided by the study subject.

We conducted the first GWAS of osteolysis susceptibility and time to prosthesis failure following THA. Although a number of candidate genes studies for osteolysis have been carried out previously, the lack of a hypothesis-free whole genome scan led to the inception of this study with the aim of identifying novel genes not previously implicated in the pathogenesis. We identified possible associating signals within *CAMK4*, *FGL1* and *DEFB129*. Unfortunately, we failed to identify any signals at genome-wide significance and this is likely due to small sample size in the discovery cohort. The genetic architecture of osteolysis is complex and the genetic contribution likely consists of variants with modest allele frequency and small effect size. A larger study with substantially more cases and controls is required to robustly identify associated signals. A whole genome analysis of the Norway cohort is planned to improve study power. Having repeated the discovery analyses without polyethylene wear rate as a covariate we undertook a sensitivity analysis which confirmed wear rate as an important covariate in the study of osteolysis following THA. The advantage of the inclusion of wear rate was offset by a loss in number of study subjects. Wear rate

measurements for all study subjects would therefore be the ideal, to prevent this reduction in study sample size. As with the HO GWAS study described earlier, this study was strengthened by all subjects sharing ethnicity and the imposition of a strict inclusion/exclusion criteria with the aim of reducing confounding. This population matching is evidenced by similar allele frequencies in the discovery and replication cohorts. All subjects had undergone THA for a primary diagnosis of OA and implant type was accounted for as a covariate in analyses. By ensuring that controls were asymptomatic following THA and with no evidence of osteolysis on radiographs we again created a group of "super-controls" increasing power compared to using a background population. We undertook strict pre and post genotyping quality control measures as outlined by the WTSI. We conducted a replication study and metaanalysis to weed out false positives. We attempted to reduce the impact of modest power by looking only at common variants (MAF  $\geq 0.05$ ). We did not carry out a repeatability study for identification of osteolysis radiologically. There are no published studies exploring the inter and intra-observer reliability of the Harris and McGann and Harris and Penenberg classification. We acknowledge that this may have introduced a degree of error into our case and control definition, however, these are the standard classifications accepted in clinical practice and most of the cases underwent revision surgery where the presence of osteolysis was further confirmed.

### 8.3 Future work

The proof of concept of using a national arthroplasty registry for recruitment and the establishment of a linked biorepository has already been implemented in a further GWAS in the UK examining the genetic architecture of developmental dysplasia of the hip using the National Joint Registry of England, Wales, Northern Ireland and the Isle of Man.

The strongest signals identified in the HO GWAS have been taken forward for a replication study in a separately recruited population of patients who have undergone THA. The results from this study will be meta-analysed with the study in this thesis to examine for replicated association. The lack of stronger association in the osteolysis GWAS meta-analysis has led to a GWAS within the replication cohort. It is hoped that meta-analysis of 2 whole genome datasets will confirm signals with stronger association and improved power.

Following the identification of associations in populations of European ancestry these variants should then be further examined across other ethnic populations. Transethnic replicability of variants further reinforces the robustness of their association and reduces the problem of population stratification. This can also lead to larger transethnic GWAS providing larger study populations with improved power.

The GWAS described in this thesis have identified a number of associations with osteolysis and HO. Although GWAS demonstrate association they do not explain causation. Functional studies are therefore required to further investigate how the risk loci affect gene function thereby influencing the development of these conditions. Proven functional associations may then provide the basis for therapeutic target development for treatment or prevention. Further investigation may involve the study

of gene expression within the membrane surrounding loose prostheses. Common studies employed to examine gene function include knockout models and the more recently introduced gene silencing approaches. Unlike gene knockout modes where expression is completely repressed, gene silencing methods such as clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPr) and small interfering RNA (siRNA) reduce gene expression without completely eliminating it. These techniques have been used to correct the development of heritable conditions including age related macular degeneration (Kaiser et al., 2010) and muscular dystrophy (Long et al., 2014).

### 8.4 Conclusion

THA remains an extremely successful orthopaedic procedure. Periprosthetic osteolysis remains the leading cause of THA failure and is the result of an accumulation of complex steps which results in prosthetic loosening. Advances in the design and materials used in prostheses including improved wear profiles of bearing surfaces have led to substantial amelioration of this problem. This has resulted in reduced incidence of osteolysis and aseptic loosening, however with increasing numbers of THAs performed annually and with more active patients now undergoing arthroplasty, osteolysis will likely remain a major complication of THA for the foreseeable future. The incidence of other causes of failure of THA, such as infection, is increasing and may be a possible avenue for further whole genome study in the future.

Furthering our understanding of the biological processes involved in the pathogenesis of diseases such as osteolysis and HO is essential for forming prevention strategies and treatments. The studies described in this thesis are novel and comprise the largest genetic studies to date investigating osteolysis and HO. They have followed advances in genomic and bioinformatics technology and have provided valuable insight into the pathogenesis of these disorders following THA. The approaches taken for these studies are scalable and applicable across a range of common complex diseases that have a heritable component. This has the potential to facilitate the development of biological markers for prediction and early detection and the development of selective therapeutic agents for treatment and prophylaxis.

## REFERENCES

AARBIOU, J., VERHOOSEL, R. M., VAN WETERING, S., DE BOER, W. I., VAN KRIEKEN, J. H., LITVINOV, S. V., RABE, K. F. & HIEMSTRA, P. S. 2004. Neutrophil defensins enhance lung epithelial wound closure and mucin gene expression in vitro. American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology, 30, 193-201.

AHRENGART, L., LINDGREN, U. & REINHOLT, F. P. 1988. Comparative study of the effects of radiation, indomethacin, prednisolone, and ethane-1-hydroxy-1,1-diphosphonate (EHDP) in the prevention of ectopic bone formation. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 265-73.

AMBRUZOVA Z, G. J., MRAZEK F, KUBISTOVA Z, ONDERKOVA J, PETREK M 2006. Association of cytokine gene polymorphisms with expansile periprosthetic osteolysis in total hip arthroplasty. Tissue Antigens, 67, 528.

ARNSDORF, E. J., TUMMALA, P., KWON, R. Y. & JACOBS, C. R. 2009. Mechanically induced osteogenic differentiation--the role of RhoA, ROCKII and cytoskeletal dynamics. Journal of cell science, 122, 546-53.

ASHTON, L. A., BRUCE, W., GOLDBERG, J. & WALSH, W. 2000. Prevention of heterotopic bone formation in high risk patients post-total hip arthroplasty. Journal of orthopaedic surgery, 8, 53-57.

AUTON, A., BROOKS, L. D., DURBIN, R. M., GARRISON, E. P., KANG, H. M., KORBEL, J. O., MARCHINI, J. L., MCCARTHY, S., MCVEAN, G. A. & ABECASIS, G. R. 2015. A global reference for human genetic variation. Nature, 526, 68-74.

BAHLO, M., STANKOVICH, J., DANOY, P., HICKEY, P. F., TAYLOR, B. V., BROWNING, S. R., BROWN, M. A. & RUBIO, J. P. 2010. Saliva-derived DNA performs well in large-scale, high-density single-nucleotide polymorphism microarray studies. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention: a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology, 19, 794-8. BALBONI, T. A., GOBEZIE, R. & MAMON, H. J. 2006. Heterotopic ossification: Pathophysiology, clinical features, and the role of radiotherapy for prophylaxis. International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics, 65, 1289-99.

BALEMANS, W., EBELING, M., PATEL, N., VAN HUL, E., OLSON, P., DIOSZEGI, M., LACZA, C., WUYTS, W., VAN DEN ENDE, J., WILLEMS, P., PAES-ALVES, A. F., HILL, S., BUENO, M., RAMOS, F. J., TACCONI, P., DIKKERS, F. G., STRATAKIS, C., LINDPAINTNER, K., VICKERY, B., FOERNZLER, D. & VAN HUL, W. 2001. Increased bone density in sclerosteosis is due to the deficiency of a novel secreted protein (SOST). Hum Mol Genet, 10, 537-43.

BAUMAN, W. A., SPUNGEN, A. M., WANG, J., PIERSON, R. N., JR. & SCHWARTZ,E. 1999. Continuous loss of bone during chronic immobilization: a monozygotic twin study. Osteoporos Int, 10, 123-7.

BEAUDET, A. L., FELDMAN, G. L., FERNBACH, S. D., BUFFONE, G. J. & O'BRIEN, W. E. 1989. Linkage disequilibrium, cystic fibrosis, and genetic counseling. Am J Hum Genet, 44, 319-26.

BESKOW, L. M., SANDLER, R. S. & WEINBERGER, M. 2006. Research recruitment through US central cancer registries: balancing privacy and scientific issues. American journal of public health, 96, 1920-6.

BHUTTA, M. F., HOBSON, L., LAMBIE, J., SCAMAN, E. S., BURTON, M. J., GIELE, H., JAMIESON, S. E. & FURNISS, D. 2013. Alternative recruitment strategies influence saliva sample return rates in community-based genetic association studies. Annals of human genetics, 77, 244-50.

BISCHOFF, R., DUNLAP, J., CARPENTER, L., DEMOUY, E. & BARRACK, R. 1994. Heterotopic ossification following uncemented total hip arthroplasty. Effect of the operative approach. The Journal of arthroplasty, 9, 641-4.

BISLA, R. S., RANAWAT, C. S. & INGLIS, A. E. 1976. Total hip replacement in patients with ankylosing spondylitis with involvement of the hip. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 58, 233-8.

BLASINGAME, J. P., RESNICK, D., COUTTS, R. D. & DANZIG, L. A. 1981. Extensive spinal osteophytosis as a risk factor for heterotopic bone formation after total hip arthroplasty. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 191-7.

BLOTTA, I., PRESTINACI, F., MIRANTE, S. & CANTAFORA, A. 2005. Quantitative assay of total dsDNA with PicoGreen reagent and real-time fluorescent detection. Annali dell'Istituto superiore di sanita, 41, 119-23.

BOARD, T. N., KARVA, A., BOARD, R. E., GAMBHIR, A. K. & PORTER, M. L. 2007. The prophylaxis and treatment of heterotopic ossification following lower limb arthroplasty. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume, 89, 434-40.

BODINE, P. V., ZHAO, W., KHARODE, Y. P., BEX, F. J., LAMBERT, A. J., GOAD, M. B., GAUR, T., STEIN, G. S., LIAN, J. B. & KOMM, B. S. 2004. The Wnt antagonist secreted frizzled-related protein-1 is a negative regulator of trabecular bone formation in adult mice. Molecular endocrinology, 18, 1222-37.

BORDINI, B., STEA, S., DE CLERICO, M., STRAZZARI, S., SASDELLI, A. & TONI, A. 2007. Factors affecting aseptic loosening of 4750 total hip arthroplasties: multivariate survival analysis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord, 8, 69.

BOYDEN, L. M., MAO, J., BELSKY, J., MITZNER, L., FARHI, A., MITNICK, M. A., WU, D., INSOGNA, K. & LIFTON, R. P. 2002. High bone density due to a mutation in LDL-receptor-related protein 5. N Engl J Med, 346, 1513-21.

BOYLE WJ, S. W., LACEY DL 2003. Osteoclast differentation and activation. Nature, 423, 337-342.

BROOKE, M. M., HEARD, D. L., DE LATEUR, B. J., MOELLER, D. A. & ALQUIST, A.D. 1991. Heterotopic ossification and peripheral nerve entrapment: early diagnosis and excision. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 72, 425-9.

BROOKER, A. F., BOWERMAN, J. W., ROBINSON, R. A. & RILEY, L. H., JR. 1973. Ectopic ossification following total hip replacement. Incidence and a method of classification. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 55, 1629-32. BUGBEE, W. D., CULPEPPER, W. J., 2ND, ENGH, C. A., JR. & ENGH, C. A., SR. 1997. Long-term clinical consequences of stress-shielding after total hip arthroplasty without cement. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 79, 1007-12.

BURKUS, J. K., DRYER, R. F., ARNOLD, P. M. & FOLEY, K. T. 2016. Clinical and Radiographic Outcomes in Patients Undergoing Single-level Anterior Cervical Arthrodesis: A Prospective Trial Comparing Allograft to a Reduced Dose of rhBMP-2. Clinical spine surgery.

BURTON, P. R., TOBIN, M. D. & HOPPER, J. L. 2005. Key concepts in genetic epidemiology. Lancet, 366, 941-51.

CAICEDO, M. S., DESAI, R., MCALLISTER, K., REDDY, A., JACOBS, J. J. & HALLAB, N. J. 2009. Soluble and particulate Co-Cr-Mo alloy implant metals activate the inflammasome danger signaling pathway in human macrophages: a novel mechanism for implant debris reactivity. J Orthop Res, 27, 847-54.

CARLSON, C. S., EBERLE, M. A., RIEDER, M. J., SMITH, J. D., KRUGLYAK, L. & NICKERSON, D. A. 2003. Additional SNPs and linkage-disequilibrium analyses are necessary for whole-genome association studies in humans. Nat Genet, 33, 518-21.

CASSEL, S. L., JOLY, S. & SUTTERWALA, F. S. 2009. The NLRP3 inflammasome: a sensor of immune danger signals. Semin Immunol, 21, 194-8.

CHALMERS, J., GRAY, D. H. & RUSH, J. 1975. Observations on the induction of bone in soft tissues. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume, 57, 36-45.

CHARNLEY, J. 1972. The long-term results of low-friction arthroplasty of the hip performed as a primary intervention. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume, 54, 61-76.

CHARNLEY, J. & CUPIC, Z. 1973. The nine and ten year results of the low-friction arthroplasty of the hip. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 9-25.

CHARTIER, J. & BIRNBOIM, H. C. 2005. Bacterial DNA content with Oragene. DNA Genotek, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

CHELLAIAH, M., SOGA, N., SWANSON, S., MCALLISTER, S., ALVAREZ, U., WANG, D., DOWDY, S.F. & HRUSKA K.A. 2000. Rho-A Is Critical for Osteoclast Podosome

Organization, Motility, and Bone Resorption. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 16, 11993–12002.

CHEN, Z., WANG, X., SHAO, Y., SHI, D., CHEN, T., CUI, D. & JIANG, X. 2011. Synthetic osteogenic growth peptide promotes differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to osteoblasts via RhoA/ROCK pathway. Molecular and cellular biochemistry, 358, 221-7.

CHERNOVA, O. B., SOMERVILLE, R. P. & COWELL, J. K. 1998. A novel gene, LGI1, from 10q24 is rearranged and downregulated in malignant brain tumors. Oncogene, 17, 2873-81.

CLARKE, B. 2008. Normal bone anatomy and physiology. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 3 Suppl 3, S131-9.

CONVENTE, M. R., WANG, H., PIGNOLO, R. J., KAPLAN, F. S. & SHORE, E. M. 2015. The immunological contribution to heterotopic ossification disorders. Current osteoporosis reports, 13, 116-24.

CORDELL, H. 2005. Genetic association studies. The Lancet, 366, 1121-31.

CORRIGAN, C. M., GREENBERG, S. E., SATHIYAKUMAR, V., MITCHELL, P. M., FRANCIS, A., OMAR, A., THAKORE, R. V., OBREMSKEY, W. T. & SETHI, M. K. 2015. Heterotopic ossification after hemiarthroplasty of the hip - A comparison of three common approaches. Journal of clinical orthopaedics and trauma, 6, 1-5.

DEJERNE, A. & CEILLER, A. 1918. Para-osteo-arthropathies des paraplegiques par lesion medullaire:

etude clinique et radiographique. Ann Med, 5, 497.

DELEE, J., FERRARI, A. & CHARNLEY, J. 1976. Ectopic bone formation following low friction arthroplasty of the hip. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 53-9.

DEMPSEY KE, R. M., LENNON A, HANNAH VE, RAMAGE G, ALLAN D, BAGG J 2007. Dempsey KE, Riggio MP, Lennon A, Hannah VE, Ramage G, Allan D, Bagg J. Identification of bacteria on the surface of clinically infected and non-infected prosthetic hip joints removed during revision arthroplasties by 16S rRNA gene sequencing and by microbiological culture. Arthritis Res Ther 2007; 9:R46.

DIARRA, D., STOLINA, M., POLZER, K., ZWERINA, J., OMINSKY, M. S., DWYER, D., KORB, A., SMOLEN, J., HOFFMANN, M., SCHEINECKER, C., VAN DER HEIDE, D., LANDEWE, R., LACEY, D., RICHARDS, W. G. & SCHETT, G. 2007. Dickkopf-1 is a master regulator of joint remodeling. Nat Med, 13, 156-63.

DORO C, D. J., WAINESS R, UPCHURCH G, URQUHART A 2006. Doro C, Dimick J, Wainess R, Upchurch G, Urquhart A. Hospital volume and inpatient mortality outcomes of total hip arthroplasty in the United States. J Arthroplasty 2006 Sep;21(6 Suppl 2):10-6.

DOWNER, E. J., JOHNSTON, D. G. & LYNCH, M. A. 2013. Differential role of Dok1 and Dok2 in TLR2-induced inflammatory signaling in glia. Molecular and cellular neurosciences, 56, 148-58.

DUCY, P., DESBOIS, C., BOYCE, B., PINERO, G., STORY, B., DUNSTAN, C., SMITH, E., BONADIO, J., GOLDSTEIN, S., GUNDBERG, C., BRADLEY, A. & KARSENTY, G. 1996. Increased bone formation in osteocalcin-deficient mice. Nature, 382, 448-52.

DUCY, P., SCHINKE, T. & KARSENTY, G. 2000. The osteoblast: a sophisticated fibroblast under central surveillance. Science, 289, 1501-4.

EBERHARTER, A. & BECKER, P.B. 2002. Histone acetylation: a switch between repressive and permissive chromatin. EMBO Reports, 3, 224-9.

EDWARDS, D. & CLASPER, J. 2015. Heterotopic ossification: a systematic review. J R Army Med Corps, 161, 315 - 321.

EGGER, G., LIANG, G., APARICIO, A., JONES, P.A. 2004. Epigenetics in human disease and prospects for epigenetic therapy. Nature, 429, 457-63.

EKELUND, A., BROSJO, O. & NILSSON, O. S. 1991. Experimental induction of heterotopic bone. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 102-12.

ENGSTRAND, T., VELTHEIM, R., ARNANDER, C., DOCHERTY-SKOGH, A. C., WESTERMARK, A., OHLSSON, C., ADOLFSSON, L. & LARM, O. 2008. A novel biodegradable delivery system for bone morphogenetic protein-2. Plastic and reconstructive surgery, 121, 1920-8.

ESKELINEN, A., REMES, V., HELENIUS, I., PULKKINEN, P., NEVALAINEN, J. & PAAVOLAINEN, P. 2006. Uncemented total hip arthroplasty for primary osteoarthritis in young patients: a mid-to long-term follow-up study from the Finnish Arthroplasty Register. Acta Orthop, 77, 57-70.

ETIENNE-MANNEVILLE, S., HALL, A. 2002. Nature Rho GTPases in cell biology Nature, 420, 629-35.

EU\_WORKSHOP 2003. Biobanks for health: Optimising the use of European biobanks and health registries for research relevant to public health and combating disease. Report, 28-31.

EVANS, K. N., POTTER, B. K., BROWN, T. S., DAVIS, T. A., ELSTER, E. A. & FORSBERG, J. A. 2014. Osteogenic gene expression correlates with development of heterotopic ossification in war wounds. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 472, 396-404.

FAULKNER, A. 1998. Effectiveness of hip prosthesis in primary total hip replacement: acritical review of evidence and an economic model. Health Technology Assessment, 2, 1 - 133

FEUK, L., CARSON, A. R. & SCHERER, S. W. 2006. Structural variation in the human genome. Nat Rev Genet, 7, 85-97.

FISHER, R. 1918. The correlation between relatives on the supposition of Mendelian inheritance. Trans R Soc Edinburgh, 52, 399-433.

FORSBERG, J. A., PEPEK, J. M., WAGNER, S., WILSON, K., FLINT, J., ANDERSEN, R. C., TADAKI, D., GAGE, F. A., STOJADINOVIC, A. & ELSTER, E. A. 2009. Heterotopic ossification in high-energy wartime extremity injuries: prevalence and risk factors. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 91, 1084-91.

FRANZ-ODENDAAL, T. A., HALL, B. K. & WITTEN, P. E. 2006. Buried alive: how osteoblasts become osteocytes. Dev Dyn, 235, 176-90.

FRAZER, K. A., MURRAY, S. S., SCHORK, N. J. & TOPOL, E. J. 2009. Human genetic variation and its contribution to complex traits. Nat Rev Genet, 10, 241-51.

FREED, J. H., HAHN, H., MENTER, R. & DILLON, T. 1982. The use of the threephase bone scan in the early diagnosis of heterotopic ossification (HO) and in the evaluation of Didronel therapy. Paraplegia, 20, 208-16.

FROST, H. M. 1964. Bone Biodynamics. In: FROST, H. M. (ed.) Dynamics of bone remodelling. Boston: Littel, Brown.

FROST, H. M. 1990a. Skeletal structural adaptations to mechanical usage (SATMU):1. Redefining Wolff's law: the bone modeling problem. Anat Rec, 226, 403-13.

FROST, H. M. 1990b. Skeletal structural adaptations to mechanical usage (SATMU):2. Redefining Wolff's law: the remodeling problem. Anat Rec, 226, 414-22.

FUKATA, Y., LOVERO, K. L., IWANAGA, T., WATANABE, A., YOKOI, N., TABUCHI, K., SHIGEMOTO, R., NICOLL, R. A. & FUKATA, M. 2010. Disruption of LGI1-linked synaptic complex causes abnormal synaptic transmission and epilepsy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107, 3799-804.

FURNES, O., LIE, S. A., ESPEHAUG, B., VOLLSET, S. E., ENGESAETER, L. B. & HAVELIN, L. I. 2001. Hip disease and the prognosis of total hip replacements. A review of 53,698 primary total hip replacements reported to the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register 1987-99. J Bone Joint Surg Br, 83, 579-86.

GABRIEL, S., ZIAUGRA, L. & TABBAA, D. 2009. SNP genotyping using the Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX assay MassARRAY iPLEX platform. Current protocols in human genetics / editorial board, Jonathan L. Haines ... [et al.], Chapter 2, Unit 2 12.

GALEA, S. & TRACY, M. 2007. Participation rates in epidemiologic studies. Annals of epidemiology, 17, 643-53.

GALLO, J., MRAZEK, F, PETREK, M 2009. Variation in cytokine genes can contribute to severity of acetabular osteolysis and risk for revision in patients with ABG 1 total hip arthroplasty: a genetic association study. BMC Med Genet, 10, 109.

GALLO, J. & PETREK, M. 2009. Association of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and interleukin-6 polymorphisms with osteolysis after total hip arthroplasty: comment on the article by Gordon et al. Arthritis and rheumatism, 60, 1563-4.

GARLAND, D. E. 1991. A clinical perspective on common forms of acquired heterotopic ossification. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 13-29.

GARRIGUES GE, C. D., RUBASH HE, GOLDRING SR, HERNDON JH, SHANBHAG AS 2005. Garrigues GE, Cho DR, Rubash HE, Goldring SR, Herndon JH, Shanbhag AS. Gene expression clustering using self-organizing maps: analysis of the macrophage response to particulate biomaterials. Biomaterials 2005 Jun;26(16):2933-45.

GAUDERMAN, W. & MORRISON, J. 2006. A computer program for power and sample size calculations for genetic-epidemiology studies. http://hydra.usc.edu/gxe,.

GAUR, T., WIXTED, J. J., HUSSAIN, S., O'CONNELL, S. L., MORGAN, E. F., AYERS, D. C., KOMM, B. S., BODINE, P. V., STEIN, G. S. & LIAN, J. B. 2009. Secreted frizzled related protein 1 is a target to improve fracture healing. Journal of cellular physiology, 220, 174-81.

GOLDRING, S. R. & GOLDRING, M. B. 2007. Eating bone or adding it: the Wnt pathway decides. Nat Med, 13, 133-4.

GOLDRING SR, S. A., ROELKE M, ROURKE CM, O'NEILL DA, HARRIS WH 1983. The synovial-like membrane at the bone-cement interface in loose total hip replacements and its proposed role in bone lysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 65, 575 - 584.

GOODMAN, M. T. 2009. Establishing a population-based cancer registry DNA biorepository: the Hawai'i Tumor Registry's Sharing Ohana project. Hawaii medical journal, 68, 171.

GOODMAN SB, F. V., LEE J, KEI J 1990. Goodman SB, Fornasier VL, Lee J, Kei J. The histological effects of the implantation of different sizes of polyethylene particles in the rabbit tibia. J Biomed Mater Res. 1990; 24: 517 – 524.

GORDON A, KISS-TOTH E, STOCKLEY I, EASTELL R & JM, W. 2008. Polymorphisms in the Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist and Interleukin-6 Genes Affect Risk of Osteolysis in Patients with Total Hip Arthroplasty. Arthitis Rheum, 58, 3157-3165.

198

GORDON A, SOUTHAM L, LOUGHLIN J, WILSON AG, STOCKLEY I & HAMER AJ 2007. Variation in the secreted frizzled-related protein-3 gene and risk of osteolysis and heterotopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty. J Orthop Res 2007 Dec 12;25(12):1665-70. J Orthop Res, 25, 1665-1670.

GORDON, A., KISS-TOTH, E, GREENFIELD, E, EASTELL, R, WILKINSON, JM 2008. Differences in cytokine mRNA expression in stimulated mononuclear cells from subjects with previous osteolysis versus non-osteolysis subjects after total hip arthroplasty. Trans ORS, 33, 424.

GOVINDARAJU, D. R., CUPPLES, L. A., KANNEL, W. B., O'DONNELL, C. J., ATWOOD, L. D., D'AGOSTINO, R. B., SR., FOX, C. S., LARSON, M., LEVY, D., MURABITO, J., VASAN, R. S., SPLANSKY, G. L., WOLF, P. A. & BENJAMIN, E. J. 2008. Genetics of the Framingham Heart Study population. Advances in genetics, 62, 33-65.

GRECZ, N., HAMMER, T. L., ROBNETT, C. J. & LONG, M. D. 1980. Freeze-thaw injury: evidence for double strand breaks in Escherichia coli DNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 93, 1110-3.

GREENFIELD, E. M., BEIDELSCHIES, M. A., TATRO, J. M., GOLDBERG, V. M. & HISE, A. G. 2010. Bacterial pathogen-associated molecular patterns stimulate biological activity of orthopaedic wear particles by activating cognate Toll-like receptors. The Journal of biological chemistry, 285, 32378-84.

GREENFIELD EM, B. J. 2008. Greenfield EM, Bechtold J. What other biologic and mechanical factors might contribute to osteolysis? J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2008; 16 (suppl 1): S56-S62.

GUSELLA, J. F., WEXLER, N. S., CONNEALLY, P. M., NAYLOR, S. L., ANDERSON, M. A., TANZI, R. E., WATKINS, P. C., OTTINA, K., WALLACE, M. R., SAKAGUCHI, A. Y. & ET AL. 1983. A polymorphic DNA marker genetically linked to Huntington's disease. Nature, 306, 234-8.

HADJIDAKIS, D., ANDROULAKIS, II 2006. Bone Remodelling. Ann NY Acad Sci, 1092, 385-396.

HANSEN, T. V., SIMONSEN, M. K., NIELSEN, F. C. & HUNDRUP, Y. A. 2007. Collection of blood, saliva, and buccal cell samples in a pilot study on the Danish nurse cohort: comparison of the response rate and quality of genomic DNA. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology, 16, 2072-6.

HARDY, G. H. 1908. Mendelian Proportions in a Mixed Population. Science, 28, 49-50.

HARRIS, W. H. & MCGANN, W. A. 1986. Loosening of the femoral component after use of the medullary-plug cementing technique. Follow-up note with a minimum five-year follow-up. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 68, 1064-6.

HARRIS, W. H. & PENENBERG, B. L. 1987. Further follow-up on socket fixation using a metal-backed acetabular component for total hip replacement. A minimum ten-year follow-up study. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 69, 1140-3.

HARRIS WH, S. A., SCHOLLER J, FREIBERG RA, SCOTT R 1976. Harris WH, Schiller AL, Scholler J, Freiberg RA, Scott R. Extensive localized bone resorption in the femur following total hip replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1976; 58: 612-618.

HARRIS, W. H. & SLEDGE, C. B. 1990. Total hip and total knee replacement (1). N Engl J Med, 323, 725-31.

HATTERSLEY, A. 2005. What makes a good genetic association study. The Lancet, 366, 1315-23.

HATTON, A., NEVELOS, JE, MATTHEWS, JB, FISHER, J, INGHAM, E 2003. Effects of clinically relevant alumina ceramic wear particles on TNF-a production by human peripheral blood mononuclear phagocytes. Biomaterials, 24, 1193-1204.

HEINO, T. J. & HENTUNEN, T. A. 2008. Differentiation of osteoblasts and osteocytes from mesenchymal stem cells. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther, 3, 131-45.

HIERTON, C., BLOMGREN, G. & LINDGREN, U. 1983. Factors associated with heterotopic bone formation in cemented total hip prostheses. Acta orthopaedica Scandinavica, 54, 698-702.

HILL, P. 1998. Bone Remodelling. British Journal of Orthodontics, 25, 101-107.

HIROKAWA, N., NODA, Y., TANAKA, Y. & NIWA, S. 2009. Kinesin superfamily motor proteins and intracellular transport. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology, 10, 682-96.

HOLLAND, N. T., SMITH, M. T., ESKENAZI, B. & BASTAKI, M. 2003. Biological sample collection and processing for molecular epidemiological studies. Mutat Res, 543, 217-34.

IHGSC 2004. Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. Nature, 432, 931-945.

ILCHMANN, T., MJOBERG, B. & WINGSTRAND, H. 1995. Measurement accuracy in acetabular cup wear. Three retrospective methods compared with Roentgen stereophotogrammetry. J Arthroplasty, 10, 636-42.

JOHN, E. M., HOPPER, J. L., BECK, J. C., KNIGHT, J. A., NEUHAUSEN, S. L., SENIE, R. T., ZIOGAS, A., ANDRULIS, I. L., ANTON-CULVER, H., BOYD, N., BUYS, S. S., DALY, M. B., O'MALLEY, F. P., SANTELLA, R. M., SOUTHEY, M. C., VENNE, V. L., VENTER, D. J., WEST, D. W., WHITTEMORE, A. S. & SEMINARA, D. 2004. The Breast Cancer Family Registry: an infrastructure for cooperative multinational, interdisciplinary and translational studies of the genetic epidemiology of breast cancer. Breast cancer research : BCR, 6, R375-89.

JONES, P.A., TAKAI, D. 2001. The role of DNA methylation in mammalian epigenetics. Science, 293, 5532.

JORDE, L. B. 2000. Linkage disequilibrium and the search for complex disease genes. Genome Res, 10, 1435-44.

JORDE, L. B. & WOODING, S. P. 2004. Genetic variation, classification and 'race'. Nat Genet, 36, S28-33.

KAISER, P. K., SYMONS, R. C., SHAH, S. M., QUINLAN, E. J., TABANDEH, H., DO,
D. V., REISEN, G., LOCKRIDGE, J. A., SHORT, B., GUERCIOLINI, R., NGUYEN, Q.
D. 2010. RNAi-based treatment for neovascular age-related macular degeneration by
Sirna-027. Am J Ophthalmol, 150, 33-39.

KAPLAN, F. S., CHAKKALAKAL, S. A. & SHORE, E. M. 2012. Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva: mechanisms and models of skeletal metamorphosis. Disease models & mechanisms, 5, 756-62.

KAPLAN, F. S., CRAVER, R., MACEWEN, G. D., GANNON, F. H., FINKEL, G., HAHN, G., TABAS, J., GARDNER, R. J. & ZASLOFF, M. A. 1994. Progressive osseous heteroplasia: a distinct developmental disorder of heterotopic ossification. Two new case reports and follow-up of three previously reported cases. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 76, 425-36.

KAPLAN, F. S., GLASER, D. L., HEBELA, N. & SHORE, E. M. 2004. Heterotopic ossification. The Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 12, 116-25.

KAPLAN, F. S., GLASER, D. L., SHORE, E. M., PIGNOLO, R. J., XU, M., ZHANG, Y., SENITZER, D., FORMAN, S. J. & EMERSON, S. G. 2007. Hematopoietic stem-cell contribution to ectopic skeletogenesis. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 89, 347-57.

KAPLAN, F. S. & SHORE, E. M. 2000. Progressive osseous heteroplasia. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, 15, 2084-94.

KAPLAN, F. S., TABAS, J. A., GANNON, F. H., FINKEL, G., HAHN, G. V. & ZASLOFF, M. A. 1993. The histopathology of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. An endochondral process. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 75, 220-30.

KAWAMATA, A., INOUE, A., MIYAJIMA, D., HEMMI, H., MASHIMA, R., HAYATA, T., EZURA, Y., AMAGASA, T., YAMANASHI, Y. & NODA, M. 2011. Dok-1 and Dok-2 deficiency induces osteopenia via activation of osteoclasts. Journal of cellular physiology, 226, 3087-93.

KITSOS, C. M., SANKAR, U., ILLARIO, M., COLOMER-FONT, J. M., DUNCAN, A. W., RIBAR, T. J., REYA, T. & MEANS, A. R. 2005. Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV regulates hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. The Journal of biological chemistry, 280, 33101-8.

KNOTHE TATE, M. L., ADAMSON, J. R., TAMI, A. E. & BAUER, T. W. 2004. The osteocyte. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 36, 1-8.

KOBAYASHI, Y., MAEDA, K., TAKAHASHI, N. 2008. Roles of WnT signalling in bone formation and resorption. Japanese Dental Science Review, 44, 76-82.

KOLUNDZIC, R., ORLIC, D., TRKULJA, V., PAVELIC, K. & TROSELJ, K. G. 2006. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the interleukin-6 gene promoter, tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene promoter, and transforming growth factor-beta1 gene signal sequence as predictors of time to onset of aseptic loosening after total hip arthroplasty: preliminary study. Journal of orthopaedic science : official journal of the Japanese Orthopaedic Association, 11, 592-600.

KOLUNDZIC, R., ORLIC D, TRKULJA V, PAVELIC K, TROSELJ KG 2006. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the interleukin-6 gene promoter, tumour necrosis factoralpha gene promoter, and transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene signal sequence as predictors of time to onset of aseptic loosening after total hip arthrolasty: preliminary study. J Orthop Sci, 11, 592-600.

KOULOUVARIS P, L. K., IVASHKIV LB, BOSTROM MP, NESTOR BJ, SCULCO TP, ET AL 2008. Koulouvaris P, Ly K, Ivashkiv LB, Bostrom MP, Nestor BJ, Sculco TP, et al. Expression profiling reveals alternative macrophage activation and impaired osteogenesis in periprosthetic osteolysis. J Orthop Res 2008 Jan;26(1):106-16.

KRAUS, D., DESCHNER, J., JAGER, A., WENGHOEFER, M., BAYER, S., JEPSEN, S., ALLAM, J. P., NOVAK, N., MEYER, R. & WINTER, J. 2012. Human beta-defensins differently affect proliferation, differentiation, and mineralization of osteoblast-like MG63 cells. Journal of cellular physiology, 227, 994-1003.

KURTZ SM, O. K., SCHMIER J, MOWAT F, SALEH K, DYBVIK E, ET AL. 2007. Kurtz SM, Ong KL, Schmier J, Mowat F, Saleh K, Dybvik E, et al. Future clinical and economic impact of revision total hip and knee arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg 2007 Oct;89-A Suppl 3:144-51.

LARSON, J. M., MICHALSKI, J. P., COLLACOTT, E. A., ELTORAI, D., MCCOMBS, C. C. & MADORSKY, J. B. 1981. Increased prevalence of HLA-B27 in patients with

ectopic ossification following traumatic spinal cord injury. Rheumatology and rehabilitation, 20, 193-7.

LAWSON, N. D., ZAIN, M., ZIBELLO, T., PICCIOTTO, M. R., NAIRN, A. C. & BERLINER, N. 1999. Modulation of a calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase cascade by retinoic acid during neutrophil maturation. Experimental hematology, 27, 1682-90.

LAZARD, Z. W., OLMSTED-DAVIS, E. A., SALISBURY, E. A., GUGALA, Z., SONNET, C., DAVIS, E. L., BEAL, E., 2ND, UBOGU, E. E. & DAVIS, A. R. 2015. Osteoblasts Have a Neural Origin in Heterotopic Ossification. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 473, 2790-806.

LEE, S. B. 2010. Optimizing storage and handling of DNA extracts. Forensic Science Review, 22.

LI, M., LI, C. & GUAN, W. 2008. Evaluation of coverage variation of SNP chips for genome-wide association studies. Eur J Hum Genet, 16, 635-43.

LIN, C., JIANG, X., DAI, Z., GUO, X., WENG, T., WANG, J., LI, Y., FENG, G., GAO, X. & HE, L. 2009. Sclerostin mediates bone response to mechanical unloading through antagonizing Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. J Bone Miner Res, 24, 1651-61.

LIVERMORE, J., ILSTRUP, D. & MORREY, B. 1990. Effect of femoral head size on wear of the polyethylene acetabular component. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 72, 518-28.

LONG, C., MCANALLY, J. R., SHELTON, J. M., MIREAULT, A. A., BASSEL-DUBY, R., OLSON, E. N. 2014. Prevention of muscular dystrophy in mice by CRISPR/Cas9mediated editing of germline DNA. Science, 345, 1184–8.

LOUNEV, V. Y., RAMACHANDRAN, R., WOSCZYNA, M. N., YAMAMOTO, M., MAIDMENT, A. D., SHORE, E. M., GLASER, D. L., GOLDHAMER, D. J. & KAPLAN, F. S. 2009. Identification of progenitor cells that contribute to heterotopic skeletogenesis. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 91, 652-63.

MACDONALD, K. M., SWANSTROM, M. M., MCCARTHY, J. J., NEMETH, B. A., GULIANI, T. A. & NOONAN, K. J. 2010. Exaggerated inflammatory response after use

of recombinant bone morphogenetic protein in recurrent unicameral bone cysts. Journal of pediatric orthopedics, 30, 199-205.

MACFARLANE, R. J., NG, B. H., GAMIE, Z., EL MASRY, M. A., VELONIS, S., SCHIZAS, C. & TSIRIDIS, E. 2008. Pharmacological treatment of heterotopic ossification following hip and acetabular surgery. Expert opinion on pharmacotherapy, 9, 767-86.

MACINNES, S. J., VESCOVO, E. D., KISS-TOTH, E., OLLIER, W. E., KAY, P. R., GORDON, A., GREENFIELD, E. M. & WILKINSON, M. J. 2014. Genetic variation in inflammatory and bone turnover pathways and risk of osteolytic responses to prosthetic materials. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society.

MAEDA, K., KOBAYASHI, Y., UDAGAWA, N., UEHARA, S., ISHIHARA, A., MIZOGUCHI, T., KIKUCHI, Y., TAKADA, I., KATO, S., KANI, S. et al. 2012. Wnt5a-Ror2 signaling between osteoblast-lineage cells and osteoclast precursors enhances osteoclastogenesis. Nature Med, 18, 405–12

MAEDA, M., HASEGAWA, H., HYODO, T., ITO, S., ASANO, E., YUANG, H., FUNASAKA, K., SHIMOKATA, K., HASEGAWA, Y., HAMAGUCHI, M. & SENGA, T. 2011. ARHGAP18, a GTPase-activating protein for RhoA, controls cell shape, spreading, and motility. Molecular biology of the cell, 22, 3840-52.

MAGI, R. & MORRIS, A. P. 2010. GWAMA: software for genome-wide association meta-analysis. BMC bioinformatics, 11, 288.

MAHOMED NN, B. J., KATZ JN, PHILLIPS CB, LOSINA E, LEW RA, ET AL. 2003. Mahomed NN, Barrett JA, Katz JN, Phillips CB, Losina E, Lew RA, et al. Rates and outcomes of primary and revision total hip replacement in the United States medicare population. J Bone Joint Surg 2003 Jan;85-A(1):27-32.

MAITRA R, C. C., SCHARF B, CRISI GM, CHITTA S, PAGET D, PURDUE PE, COBELLI N, SANTAMBROGIO L 2009. Endosomal damage and TLR2 mediated inflammasome activation by alkane particles in the generation of aseptic osteolysis. Mol Immunol. 2009 Dec;47(2-3):175-84.

205

MALIK, M., JURY, F, BAYAT, A, OLLIER, WE, KAY, PR 2007. Genetic susceptibility to total hip arthroplasty failure: a preliminary study on the influence of matrix metalloproteinase 1, interleukin 6 polymorphisms and vitamin D receptor. Ann Rheum Dis, 66, 1116-1120.

MALIK MH, BAYAT A, JURY F, KAY PR & WE, O. 2007. Genetic susceptibility to total hip arthroplasty failure--positive association with mannose-binding lectin. J Arthroplasty 2007 Feb;22(2):265-70. J Arthroplasty, 22, 265-270.

MALIK MH, BAYAT A, JURY F, OLLIER WE & PR, K. 2006. Genetic susceptibility to hip arthroplasty failure--association with the RANK/OPG pathway. Int Orthop, 30, 177-181.

MANOJ KUMAR, R. 2009. The widely used diagnostics "DNA microarray" - A review. American Journal of Infectious Diseases, 5, 214-255.

MANOLIO, T. A., COLLINS, F. S., COX, N. J., GOLDSTEIN, D. B., HINDORFF, L. A., HUNTER, D. J., MCCARTHY, M. I., RAMOS, E. M., CARDON, L. R., CHAKRAVARTI, A., CHO, J. H., GUTTMACHER, A. E., KONG, A., KRUGLYAK, L., MARDIS, E., ROTIMI, C. N., SLATKIN, M., VALLE, D., WHITTEMORE, A. S., BOEHNKE, M., CLARK, A. G., EICHLER, E. E., GIBSON, G., HAINES, J. L., MACKAY, T. F., MCCARROLL, S. A. & VISSCHER, P. M. 2009. Finding the missing heritability of complex diseases. Nature, 461, 747-53.

MARCHINI, J. & HOWIE, B. 2010. Genotype imputation for genome-wide association studies. Nature reviews. Genetics, 11, 499-511.

MARCHINI, J., HOWIE, B., MYERS, S., MCVEAN, G. & DONNELLY, P. 2007. A new multipoint method for genome-wide association studies by imputation of genotypes. Nature genetics, 39, 906-13.

MARTIN, R., CLAYSON, P. E., TROUSSEL, S., FRASER, B. P. & DOCQUIER, P. L. 2011. Anterolateral minimally invasive total hip arthroplasty: a prospective randomized controlled study with a follow-up of 1 year. The Journal of arthroplasty, 26, 1362-72.

MARTIN TJ, S. N., NG KW 2008. Martin TJ, Sims NA, Ng KW. Regulatory pathways revealing new approaches to the devlopment of anabolic drugs for osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 2008; 19: 1125-1138.

MARTINON F, M. A., TSCHOPP J 2009. Martinon F, Mayor A, Tschopp J. The inflammasomes: guardians of the body. Annu Rev Immunol. 2009; 27: 229-65.

MATTHEWS JB, G. T., STONE MH, WROBLEWSKI BM, FISHER, J, ET AL 2000. Comparison of the response of primary human peripheral blood mononuclear phagocytes from different donors to challenge with model polyethylene particles of known size and dose. Biomaterials 2000 Oct;21(20):2033-44. Biomaterials, 21, 2033-2044.

MAVROGENIS, A. F., SOUCACOS, P. N. & PAPAGELOPOULOS, P. J. 2011. Heterotopic ossification revisited. Orthopedics, 34, 177.

MCCARTHY, C. K., STEINBERG, G. G., AGREN, M., LEAHEY, D., WYMAN, E. & BARAN, D. T. 1991. Quantifying bone loss from the proximal femur after total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Br, 73, 774-8.

MEULLER, R., YOUNG, ID (ed.) 2003. Emery's Elements of Medical Genetics: Churchill Livingstone.

MISCH EA, H. T. 2008. Misch EA, Hawn TR. Toll –like receptor polymorphisms and susceptibility to human disease. Clin Sci. 2008; 114: 347-360.

MITCHELL, E. J., CANTER, J., NORRIS, P., JENKINS, J. & MORRIS, J. 2010. The genetics of heterotopic ossification: insight into the bone remodeling pathway. Journal of orthopaedic trauma, 24, 530-3.

MOBASHERI, A., RICHARDSON, S., MOBASHERI, R., SHAKIBAEI, M. & HOYLAND, J. A. 2005. Hypoxia inducible factor-1 and facilitative glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT3: putative molecular components of the oxygen and glucose sensing apparatus in articular chondrocytes. Histology and histopathology, 20, 1327-38.

MOCK, B. A., CONNELLY, M. A., MCBRIDE, O. W., KOZAK, C. A. & MARCU, K. B. 1996. Plasmacytoma-associated neuronal glycoprotein, Pang, maps to mouse chromosome 6 and human chromosome 3. Genomics, 34, 226-8.

MORREY, B. F., ADAMS, R. A. & CABANELA, M. E. 1984. Comparison of heterotopic bone after anterolateral, transtrochanteric, and posterior approaches for total hip arthroplasty. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 160-7.

MORTON, N. 1982. Outline of genetic epidemiology. New York: Karger.

NAKASHIMA, K., ZHOU, X., KUNKEL, G., ZHANG, Z., DENG, J. M., BEHRINGER, R. R. & DE CROMBRUGGHE, B. 2002. The novel zinc finger-containing transcription factor osterix is required for osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. Cell, 108, 17-29.

NAKASHIMA, T., HAYASHI, M, FUKUNAGA, T, KURATA, K, MASATSUGU, O, ET AL 2011. Evidence for osteocyte regulation of bone homeostasis through RANKL expression. Nature Medicine, 17, 1231-1234.

NALEPKA JL, L. M., KRAAY MJ, MARCUS RE, GOLDBERG VM, CHEN X, GREENFIELD E 2006. Nalepka JL, Lee MJ, Kraay MJ, Marcus RE, Goldberg VM, Chen X, Greenfield E. Lipopolysaccharide found in aseptic loosening of patients with inflammatory arthritis. Clin Orthop Rel Res 2006; 451: 229-235.

NAYAK, K. N., MULLIKEN, B., RORABECK, C. H., BOURNE, R. B. & WOOLFREY, M. R. 1997. Prevalence of heterotopic ossification in cemented versus noncemented total hip joint replacement in patients with osteoarthrosis: a randomized clinical trial. Canadian journal of surgery. Journal canadien de chirurgie, 40, 368-74.

NEWMAN, E. A., HOLST, D. C., BRACEY, D. N., RUSSELL, G. B. & LANG, J. E. 2015. Incidence of heterotopic ossification in direct anterior vs posterior approach to total hip arthroplasty: a retrospective radiographic review. International orthopaedics.

NG, D. 2005. Saliva as a viable alternative source of human genomic DNA. Clinica Chimica Acta, 367, 81-85.

NISHISTA, D. 2009. Clinical trial participant chatacteristics and saliva and DNA metrics. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 9.

NOLLEN, A. J. & SLOOFF, T. J. 1973. Para-articular ossifications after total hip replacement. Acta orthopaedica Scandinavica, 44, 230-41.

OH, I. & HARRIS, W. H. 1978. Proximal strain distribution in the loaded femur. An in vitro comparison of the distributions in the intact femur and after insertion of different hip-replacement femoral components. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 60, 75-85.

OHNAKA, K., SHIMODA, S., NAWATA, H., SHIMOKAWA, H., KAIBUCHI, K., IWAMOTO, Y. & TAKAYANAGI, R. 2001. Pitavastatin Enhanced BMP-2 and Osteocalcin Expression by Inhibition of Rho-Associated Kinase in Human Osteoblasts. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 287, 337–342.

OLMSTED-DAVIS, E., GANNON, F. H., OZEN, M., ITTMANN, M. M., GUGALA, Z., HIPP, J. A., MORAN, K. M., FOULETIER-DILLING, C. M., SCHUMARA-MARTIN, S., LINDSEY, R. W., HEGGENESS, M. H., BRENNER, M. K. & DAVIS, A. R. 2007. Hypoxic adipocytes pattern early heterotopic bone formation. The American journal of pathology, 170, 620-32.

ORZEL, J. A. & RUDD, T. G. 1985. Heterotopic bone formation: clinical, laboratory, and imaging correlation. Journal of nuclear medicine : official publication, Society of Nuclear Medicine, 26, 125-32.

PALMER, L., CORDON, LR 2005. Shaking the tree: mapping complex disease genes with linkage disequilibrium. The Lancet, 366, 1223-34.

PARFITT, A. M. 1994. Osteonal and hemi-osteonal remodeling: the spatial and temporal framework for signal traffic in adult human bone. J Cell Biochem, 55, 273-86.

PASSARGE, E. 2007. Colour atlas of genetics, New York, Thieme.

PAVLOU, G., SALHAB, M., MURUGESAN, L., JALLAD, S., PETSATODIS, G., WEST, R. & TSIRIDIS, E. 2012. Risk factors for heterotopic ossification in primary total hip arthroplasty. Hip international : the journal of clinical and experimental research on hip pathology and therapy, 22, 50-5.

PAZGIER, M., HOOVER, D. M., YANG, D., LU, W. & LUBKOWSKI, J. 2006. Human beta-defensins. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS, 63, 1294-313.

PETRTYL, M. 1996. Spatial organization of the haversian bone in man. J Biomech, 29, 161-169.

PETTERSSON, F., MORRIS, A. P., BARNES, M. R. & CARDON, L. R. 2008. Goldsurfer2 (Gs2): a comprehensive tool for the analysis and visualization of genome wide association studies. BMC bioinformatics, 9, 138. PHILLIPS, T. 2008. Small non-coding RNA and gene expression. Nature Education, 1, 115.

PILETIC, K., & KUNEJ, T. 2016. MicroRNA epigenetic signatures in human disease. Archives of Toxicology, 90, 2405–2419.

POHL, F., SEUFERT, J., TAUSCHER, A., LEHMANN, H., SPRINGORUM, H. W., FLENTJE, M. & KOELBL, O. 2005. The influence of heterotopic ossification on functional status of hip joint following total hip arthroplasty. Strahlentherapie und Onkologie : Organ der Deutschen Rontgengesellschaft ... [et al], 181, 529-33.

POTTER, B. K., BURNS, T. C., LACAP, A. P., GRANVILLE, R. R. & GAJEWSKI, D. A. 2007. Heterotopic ossification following traumatic and combat-related amputations. Prevalence, risk factors, and preliminary results of excision. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 89, 476-86.

POZA, J. J., SAENZ, A., MARTINEZ-GIL, A., CHERON, N., COBO, A. M., URTASUN, M., MARTI-MASSO, J. F., GRID, D., BECKMANN, J. S., PRUD'HOMME, J. F. & LOPEZ DE MUNAIN, A. 1999. Autosomal dominant lateral temporal epilepsy: clinical and genetic study of a large Basque pedigree linked to chromosome 10q. Annals of neurology, 45, 182-8.

PURCELL, S., NEALE, B., TODD-BROWN, K., THOMAS, L., FERREIRA, M. A., BENDER, D., MALLER, J., SKLAR, P., DE BAKKER, P. I., DALY, M. J. & SHAM, P. C. 2007. PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. Am J Hum Genet, 81, 559-75.

PUZAS, J. E., MILLER, M. D. & ROSIER, R. N. 1989. Pathologic bone formation. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 269-81.

QUINQUE, D., KITTLER, R., KAYSER, M., STONEKING, M. & NASIDZE, I. 2006. Evaluation of saliva as a source of human DNA for population and association studies. Anal Biochem, 353, 272-7.

RAI, M. F., SCHMIDT, E. J., HASHIMOTO, S., CHEVERUD, J. M. & SANDELL, L. J. 2015. Genetic loci that regulate ectopic calcification in response to knee trauma in LG/J by SM/J advanced intercross mice. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society, 33, 1412-23.

RICHARDS, J. B., RIVADENEIRA, F., INOUYE, M., PASTINEN, T. M., SORANZO, N., WILSON, S. G., ANDREW, T., FALCHI, M., GWILLIAM, R., AHMADI, K. R., VALDES, A. M., ARP, P., WHITTAKER, P., VERLAAN, D. J., JHAMAI, M., KUMANDURI, V., MOORHOUSE, M., VAN MEURS, J. B., HOFMAN, A., POLS, H. A., HART, D., ZHAI, G., KATO, B. S., MULLIN, B. H., ZHANG, F., DELOUKAS, P., UITTERLINDEN, A. G. & SPECTOR, T. D. 2008. Bone mineral density, osteoporosis, and osteoporotic fractures: a genome-wide association study. Lancet, 371, 1505-12.

RISCH, N. & MERIKANGAS, K. 1996. The future of genetic studies of complex human diseases. Science, 273, 1516-7.

RITTER, M. A. & VAUGHAN, R. B. 1977. Ectopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty. Predisposing factors, frequency, and effect on results. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 59, 345-51.

ROBLING, A. G., CASTILLO, A. B. & TURNER, C. H. 2006. Biomechanical and molecular regulation of bone remodeling. Annu Rev Biomed Eng, 8, 455-98.

RODAN GA, M. T. 1981. Rodan GA, Martin TJ. Role of osteoblasts in hormonal control of bone resorption- A hypothesis. Calcif Tissue Int 1981;33: 349-351.

RODER, C., PARVIZI, J., EGGLI, S., BERRY, D. J., MULLER, M. E. & BUSATO, A. 2003. Demographic factors affecting long-term outcome of total hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 62-73.

ROGERS, N. L., COLE, S. A., LAN, H. C., CROSSA, A. & DEMERATH, E. W. 2007. New saliva DNA collection method compared to buccal cell collection techniques for epidemiological studies. Am J Hum Biol, 19, 319-26.

ROSENDAHL, S., CHRISTOFFERSEN, K. & NORGAARD, M. 1973. Para-articular ossification following total hip replacement. Acta Orthop Scand, 43, 400-4.

ROSSOL-ALLISON, J., STEMMLE, L.N., SWENSON-FIELDS, K.I., KELLY, P., FIELDS, P., MCCALL, S.J.,CASEY, P.J., FIELDS, T.A. Rho GTPase activity modulates Wnt3a/β-catenin signalling. 2009. Cellular Signalling, 21, 1559-68.

RYLANDER-RUDQVIST, T., HAKANSSON, N., TYBRING, G. & WOLK, A. 2006. Quality and quantity of saliva DNA obtained from the self-administrated Oragene method--a pilot study on the cohort of Swedish men. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 15, 1742-5.

SACCONE, S. PLoS 2009, 4, e5225.

SAKAI H, J. S., SHUTO T, URABE K, IKENOUE T, OKAZAKI K, KUKITA T 2002. Sakai H, Jingushi S, Shuto T, Urabe K, Ikenoue T, Okazaki K, Kukita T Fibroblasts from the inner granulation tissue of the pseudocapsule in hips at revision arthroplasty induce osteoclast differentiation, as do stromal cells. Ann Rheum Dis 2002;61:103-9).

SALISBURY, E., RODENBERG, E., SONNET, C., HIPP, J., GANNON, F. H., VADAKKAN, T. J., DICKINSON, M. E., OLMSTED-DAVIS, E. A. & DAVIS, A. R. 2011. Sensory nerve induced inflammation contributes to heterotopic ossification. Journal of cellular biochemistry, 112, 2748-58.

SATO, K., SUEMATSU, A., NAKASHIMA, T., TAKEMOTO-KIMURA, S., AOKI, K., MORISHITA, Y., ASAHARA, H., OHYA, K., YAMAGUCHI, A., TAKAI, T., KODAMA, T., CHATILA, T. A., BITO, H. & TAKAYANAGI, H. 2006. Regulation of osteoclast differentiation and function by the CaMK-CREB pathway. Nature Medicine, 12, 1410-6.

SAWYER, J. R., MYERS, M. A., ROSIER, R. N. & PUZAS, J. E. 1991. Heterotopic ossification: clinical and cellular aspects. Calcified tissue international, 49, 208-15.

SCHENA, M., SHALON, D., DAVIS, R. W. & BROWN, P. O. 1995. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. Science, 270, 467-70.

SCHIPANI, E., RYAN, H. E., DIDRICKSON, S., KOBAYASHI, T., KNIGHT, M. & JOHNSON, R. S. 2001. Hypoxia in cartilage: HIF-1alpha is essential for chondrocyte growth arrest and survival. Genes & development, 15, 2865-76.

SCHLESSINGER, K., HALL, A. & TOLWINSKI, N. 2009. WnT signalling pathways meet Rho GTPases. Genes & Development. 2009. 23: 265-77.

SCHMALZRIED TP, J. M., HARRIS WH 1992. Schmalzried TP, Jasty M, Harris WH. Periprosthetic bone loss in total hip arthroplasty. Polyethylene wear debris and the concept of the effective joint space. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1992a; 74: 849 – 63.

SCHULZE, J., SEITZ, S., SAITO, H., SCHNEEBAUER, M., MARSHALL, R. P., BARANOWSKY, A., BUSSE, B., SCHILLING, A. F., FRIEDRICH, F. W., ALBERS, J., SPIRO, A. S., ZUSTIN, J., STREICHERT, T., ELLWANGER, K., NIEHRS, C., AMLING, M., BARON, R. & SCHINKE, T. 2010. Negative regulation of bone formation by the transmembrane Wnt antagonist Kremen-2. PloS one, 5, e10309.

SEALES, E. C., MICOLI, K. J. & MCDONALD, J. M. 2006. Calmodulin is a critical regulator of osteoclastic differentiation, function, and survival. Journal of cellular biochemistry, 97, 45-55.

SEEMAN, E. & DELMAS, P. D. 2006. Bone quality--the material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. N Engl J Med, 354, 2250-61.

SELL, S. & SCHLEH, T. 1999. C-reactive protein as an early indicator of the formation of heterotopic ossifications after total hip replacement. Archives of orthopaedic and trauma surgery, 119, 205-7.

SHANBHAG AS, K. A., HAYATA K, RUBASH HE 2007. Shanbhag AS, Kaufman AM, Hayata K, Rubash HE. Assessing osteolysis with use of high-throughput protein chips. J Bone Joint Surg 2007 May;89-A(5):1081-9.

SHARP, P. A., SUGDEN, B. & SAMBROOK, J. 1973. Detection of two restriction endonuclease activities in Haemophilus parainfluenzae using analytical agarose-ethidium bromide electrophoresis. Biochemistry, 12, 3055-63.

SHINOHARA, H., INOUE, A., TOYAMA-SORIMACHI, N., NAGAI, Y., YASUDA, T., SUZUKI, H., HORAI, R., IWAKURA, Y., YAMAMOTO, T., KARASUYAMA, H., MIYAKE, K. & YAMANASHI, Y. 2005. Dok-1 and Dok-2 are negative regulators of lipopolysaccharide-induced signaling. The Journal of experimental medicine, 201, 333-9.

SHORE, E. M., AHN, J., JAN DE BEUR, S., LI, M., XU, M., GARDNER, R. J., ZASLOFF, M. A., WHYTE, M. P., LEVINE, M. A. & KAPLAN, F. S. 2002. Paternally inherited inactivating mutations of the GNAS1 gene in progressive osseous heteroplasia. The New England journal of medicine, 346, 99-106.

SHORE, E. M. & KAPLAN, F. S. 2010. Inherited human diseases of heterotopic bone formation. Nature reviews. Rheumatology, 6, 518-27.

SHORE, E. M., XU, M., FELDMAN, G. J., FENSTERMACHER, D. A., CHO, T. J., CHOI, I. H., CONNOR, J. M., DELAI, P., GLASER, D. L., LEMERRER, M., MORHART, R., ROGERS, J. G., SMITH, R., TRIFFITT, J. T., URTIZBEREA, J. A., ZASLOFF, M., BROWN, M. A. & KAPLAN, F. S. 2006. A recurrent mutation in the BMP type I receptor ACVR1 causes inherited and sporadic fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. Nature genetics, 38, 525-7.

SIBANDA, N., COPLEY, L. P., LEWSEY, J. D., BORROFF, M., GREGG, P., MACGREGOR, A. J., PICKFORD, M., PORTER, M., TUCKER, K. & VAN DER MEULEN, J. H. 2008. Revision rates after primary hip and knee replacement in England between 2003 and 2006. PLoS medicine, 5, e179.

SIMONET, W. S., LACEY, D. L., DUNSTAN, C. R., KELLEY, M., CHANG, M. S., LUTHY, R., NGUYEN, H. Q., WOODEN, S., BENNETT, L., BOONE, T., SHIMAMOTO, G., DEROSE, M., ELLIOTT, R., COLOMBERO, A., TAN, H. L., TRAIL, G., SULLIVAN, J., DAVY, E., BUCAY, N., RENSHAW-GEGG, L., HUGHES, T. M., HILL, D., PATTISON, W., CAMPBELL, P., SANDER, S., VAN, G., TARPLEY, J., DERBY, P., LEE, R. & BOYLE, W. J. 1997. Osteoprotegerin: a novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density. Cell, 89, 309-19.

SKOL, A. D., SCOTT, L. J., ABECASIS, G. R. & BOEHNKE, M. 2006. Joint analysis is more efficient than replication-based analysis for two-stage genome-wide association studies. Nat Genet, 38, 209-13.

SMITH, S. & MORIN, P. A. 2005. Optimal storage conditions for highly dilute DNA samples: a role for trehalose as a preserving agent. J Forensic Sci, 50, 1101-8.

SOLOVIEVA SA, C. A., KONTTINEN YT, TAKAGI M, SUDA A, EKLUND KK, SORSA T, SANTAVIRTA S 1996. Solovieva SA, Ceponis A, Konttinen YT, Takagi M, Suda A, Eklund KK, Sorsa T, Santavirta S. Mast cells in loosening of totally replaced hips. Clin Orthop Rel Res. 1996 Jan;(322): 158-165.

SONG, Z., TONG, C., SUN, Z., SHEN, Y., YAO, C., JIANG, J., YIN, J., GAO, L., SONG, Y. & BAI, C. 2010. Genetic variants in the TIRAP gene are associated with increased risk of sepsis-associated acute lung injury. BMC medical genetics, 11, 168.

SOUMINEN, H. 1993. An overview of cross sectional athlete studies. Sports Med, 16, 316-330.

SOUTHERN, E. M. 1979. Measurement of DNA length by gel electrophoresis. Anal Biochem, 100, 319-23.

SPENCER, C. C., SU, Z., DONNELLY, P. & MARCHINI, J. 2009. Designing genomewide association studies: sample size, power, imputation, and the choice of genotyping chip. PLoS Genet, 5, e1000477.

ST PIERRE CA, C. M., IWAKURA Y, AYERS DC, KURT-JONES EA, FINBERG RW 2010. Periprosthetic osteolysis: characterizing the innate immune response to titanium wear-particles. J Orthop Res, 28, 1418-1424.

STANKIEWICZ, P. & LUPSKI, J. R. 2010. Structural variation in the human genome and its role in disease. Annu Rev Med, 61, 437-55.

STERN C, S., E (ed.) 1966. The origin of genetics, San Francisco

Freeman.

STOVER, S. L., NIEMANN, K. M. & TULLOSS, J. R. 1991. Experience with surgical resection of heterotopic bone in spinal cord injury patients. Clinical orthopaedics and related research, 71-7.

SUDA, T., TAKAHASHI, N. & MARTIN, T. J. 1992. Modulation of osteoclast differentiation. Endocr Rev, 13, 66-80.

SYMONS, M. 1996. Rho family GTPases: the cytoskeleton and beyond. Trends in biochemical sciences, 21, 178-81.

TAKADA, I., MIHARA, M., SUZAWA, M., OHTAKE, F., KOBAYASHI, S., IGARASHI, M., YOUN, M.Y., TAKEYAMA, K., NAKAMURA, T., MEZAKIi, Y., et al. 2007. A histone lysine methyltransferase activated by non-canonical Wnt signalling suppresses PPAR-gamma transactivation Nat. Cell Biol. 9, 1273–1285.

TAKAGI, M., TAMAKI, Y., HASEGAWA, H., TAKAKUBO, Y., KONTTINEN, L., TIAINEN, V. M., LAPPALAINEN, R., KONTTINEN, Y. T. & SALO, J. 2007. Toll-like

receptors in the interface membrane around loosening total hip replacement implants. Journal of biomedical materials research. Part A, 81, 1017-26.

TAKAHASHI, N., AKATSU, T., UDAGAWA, N., SASAKI, T., YAMAGUCHI, A., MOSELEY, J. M., MARTIN, T. J. & SUDA, T. 1988. Osteoblastic cells are involved in osteoclast formation. Endocrinology, 123, 2600-2.

TAMAKI, Y., TAKAKUBO, Y., GOTO, K., HIRAYAMA, T., SASAKI, K., KONTTINEN, Y. T., GOODMAN, S. B. & TAKAGI, M. 2009. Increased expression of toll-like receptors in aseptic loose periprosthetic tissues and septic synovial membranes around total hip implants. The Journal of rheumatology, 36, 598-608.

TEARE, D. M. 2005. Genetic Linkage Studies. The lancet, 366, 1036-44.

TERMAAT, M. F., DEN BOER, F. C., BAKKER, F. C., PATKA, P. & HAARMAN, H. J. 2005. Bone morphogenetic proteins. Development and clinical efficacy in the treatment of fractures and bone defects. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 87, 1367-78.

THE\_INTERNATIONAL\_HAPMAP\_CONSORTIUM 2007. A second generation human haplotype map of over 3.1 million SNPs. Nature, 449, 851-862.

TOLLNER, T. L., VENNERS, S. A., HOLLOX, E. J., YUDIN, A. I., LIU, X., TANG, G., XING, H., KAYS, R. J., LAU, T., OVERSTREET, J. W., XU, X., BEVINS, C. L. & CHERR, G. N. 2011. A common mutation in the defensin DEFB126 causes impaired sperm function and subfertility. Science translational medicine, 3, 92ra65.

TU, X., JOENG, K.S., NAKAYAMA, K.I., NAKAYAMA, K., RAJAGOPAL, J., CARROLL, T.J., MCMAHON, A.P. & LONG, F. (2007). Noncanonical Wnt Signaling through G Protein-Linked PKCδ Activation Promotes Bone Formation Dev. Cell 12, 113–127.

TUAN RS, L. F., KONTTINEN YT, WILKINSON JM, SMITH RL 2008. What are the local and systemic biologic reactions and mediators to wear debris, and what host factors determine or modulate the biologic response to wear particles? J Am Acad Orthop Surg, 16 S42 - S48.

216
UDAGAWA, N., TAKAHASHI, N., YASUDA, H., MIZUNO, A., ITOH, K., UENO, Y., SHINKI, T., GILLESPIE, M. T., MARTIN, T. J., HIGASHIO, K. & SUDA, T. 2000. Osteoprotegerin produced by osteoblasts is an important regulator in osteoclast development and function. Endocrinology, 141, 3478-84.

URIST, M. R. 1965. Bone: formation by autoinduction. Science, 150, 893-9.

URIST, M. R. & STRATES, B. S. 1971. Bone morphogenetic protein. Journal of dental research, 50, 1392-406.

VAANANEN, H. K., ZHAO, H., MULARI, M. & HALLEEN, J. M. 2000. The cell biology of osteoclast function. J Cell Sci, 113 (Pt 3), 377-81.

VARINI, S., COLACINO, J.A., KIM, J.H., ROZEK, L.S. 2012. Cancer epigenetics: a brief review. ILAR J, 53, 359-69.

VICO, L., COLLET, P., GUIGNANDON, A., LAFAGE-PROUST, M. H., THOMAS, T., REHAILLIA, M. & ALEXANDRE, C. 2000. Effects of long-term microgravity exposure on cancellous and cortical weight-bearing bones of cosmonauts. Lancet, 355, 1607-11.

WANG, H., YANG, Z. H., LIU, D. M., WANG, L., MENG, X. L. & TIAN, B. P. 2008. Association between two polymorphisms of the bone morpho-genetic protein-2 gene with genetic susceptibility to ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the cervical spine and its severity. Chinese medical journal, 121, 1806-10.

WANG, L., CARROLL, D. O., LIU, X., ROTH, T., KIM, H., HALLORAN, B. & NISSENSON, R. A. 2015. Effects of blockade of endogenous Gi signaling in Tie2expressing cells on bone formation in a mouse model of heterotopic ossification. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society, 33, 1212-7.

WANG ML, T. R., MANNER PA, SHARKEY PF, HALL DJ, TUAN RS 2003. Wang ML, Tuli R, Manner PA, Sharkey PF, Hall DJ, Tuan RS. Direct and indirect induction of apoptosis in human mesenchymal stem cells in response to titanium particles. J Orthop Res 2003; 21: 697-707.

217

WANG, S. L., RIBAR, T. J. & MEANS, A. R. 2001. Expression of Ca(2+)/calmodulindependent protein kinase IV (caMKIV) messenger RNA during murine embryogenesis. Cell growth & differentiation : the molecular biology journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, 12, 351-61.

WANG, Y., YU, X., COHEN, D., WOZNIAK, M., YANG, M., GAO, L., EYCKMANS, J.,
& CHEN, C. 2012. Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2-Induced Signaling and
Osteogenesis Is Regulated by Cell Shape, RhoA/ROCK, and Cytoskeletal Tension.
Stem Cells Dev., 21, 1176–1186.

WARNKE, P. H., SPRINGER, I. N., RUSSO, P. A., WILTFANG, J., ESSIG, H., KOSMAHL, M., SHERRY, E. & ACIL, Y. 2006. Innate immunity in human bone. Bone, 38, 400-8.

WEI X, Z. X., ZUSCIK MJ, DRISSI MH, SCHWARZ EM, O'KEEFE RJ 2005. Wei X, Zhang X, Zuscik MJ, Drissi MH, Schwarz EM, O'Keefe RJ Fibroblasts express RANKL and support osteoclastogenesis in a COX-2-dependent manner after stimulation with titanium particles. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20:1136-48.

WHIFFIN, N., HOSKING, F. J., FARRINGTON, S. M., PALLES, C., DOBBINS, S. E., ZGAGA, L., LLOYD, A., KINNERSLEY, B., GORMAN, M., TENESA, A., BRODERICK, P., WANG, Y., BARCLAY, E., HAYWARD, C., MARTIN, L., BUCHANAN, D. D., WIN, A. K., HOPPER, J., JENKINS, M., LINDOR, N. M., NEWCOMB, P. A., GALLINGER, S., CONTI, D., SCHUMACHER, F., CASEY, G., LIU, T., CAMPBELL, H., LINDBLOM, A., HOULSTON, R. S., TOMLINSON, I. P. & DUNLOP, M. G. 2014. Identification of susceptibility loci for colorectal cancer in a genome-wide meta-analysis. Human molecular genetics, 23, 4729-37.

WIGGINTON, J. 2005. A note on exact tests of Hardy-Weinberg Wequilibrium. Am J Hum Genet, 76, 887-883.

WILKINSON, J., WILSON, AG, STOCKLEY, I, SCOTT, IR, MACDONALD, DA, HAMER, AJ, ET AL 2003. Variation in the TNF gene promoter and risk of osteolysis after total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Miner Res, 18, 1995-2001.

218

WILKINSON JM, H. A., STOCKLEY I, EASTELL R 2005. Wilkinson JM, Hamer AJ, Stockley I, Eastell R. Polyethylene wear rate and osteolysis: critical threshold versus continuous dose-response relationship. J Orthop Res 2005 May;23(3):520-5.

WILKINSON, J. M., HAMER, A. J., ELSON, R. A., STOCKLEY, I. & EASTELL, R. 2002. Precision of EBRA-Digital software for monitoring implant migration after total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty, 17, 910-6.

WILKINSON, J. M., HAMER, A. J., STOCKLEY, I. & EASTELL, R. 2005. Polyethylene wear rate and osteolysis: critical threshold versus continuous dose-response relationship. J Orthop Res, 23, 520-5.

WILKINSON, J. M., STOCKLEY, I., HAMER, A. J., BARRINGTON, N. A. & EASTELL, R. 2003. Biochemical markers of bone turnover and development of heterotopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society, 21, 529-34.

WILLERT HG, S. M. 1977. Willert HG, Semlich M. Reactions of the articular capsule to wear products of artificial joint prostheses. J Biomed Mater Res. 1977; 11:157-164.

WILLIAMS, M. A., CARSON, R., PASSMORE, P., SILVESTRI, G. & CRAIG, D. 2011. Introduction to genetic epidemiology. Optometry, 82, 83-91.

WINKLER, S., CRAIOVAN, B., WAGNER, F., WEBER, M., GRIFKA, J. & RENKAWITZ, T. 2015. Pathogenesis and prevention strategies of heterotopic ossification in total hip arthroplasty: a narrative literature review and results of a survey in Germany. Archives of orthopaedic and trauma surgery, 135, 481-9.

WOLFF, J. 1892. Das Gesetz der transformation der knochen. Berlin A Hirchwild.

WRIGHT, J., MORAN, E., BOGOSH, E. 1994. Reliability and validity of the grading of heterotopic ossification. The Journal of Arthroplasty, 9, 549-53.

WWW.NJRCENTRE.ORG.UK 2016. National joint registry for England and Wales. 13th annual report, 2016. Available from URL: www.njrreports.org.uk.

XIONG, J., ONA, LM, JILKA, RL, WEINSTEIN, RS, MANOLAGAS SC, O'BRIEN CA 2011. Matrix-embedded cells control osteoclast formation. Nature Medicine, 17, 1235-1241.

219

YAMAMOTO, T., GOTOH, M., SASAKI, H., TERADA, M., KITAJIMA, M. & HIROHASHI, S. 1993. Molecular cloning and initial characterization of a novel fibrinogen-related gene, HFREP-1. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 193, 681-7.

YASUDA, H., SHIMA, N., NAKAGAWA, N., MOCHIZUKI, S. I., YANO, K., FUJISE, N., SATO, Y., GOTO, M., YAMAGUCHI, K., KURIYAMA, M., KANNO, T., MURAKAMI, A., TSUDA, E., MORINAGA, T. & HIGASHIO, K. 1998. Identity of osteoclastogenesis inhibitory factor (OCIF) and osteoprotegerin (OPG): a mechanism by which OPG/OCIF inhibits osteoclastogenesis in vitro. Endocrinology, 139, 1329-37.

YOSHIDA, T., CLARK, M.F., STERN, P.H. 2009. The small GTPase RhoA is crucial for MC3T3-E1 osteoblastic cell survival. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 106, 896-902.

YU, Y. E., WEN, L., SILVA, J., LI, Z., HEAD, K., SOSSEY-ALAOUI, K., PAO, A., MEI, L. & COWELL, J. K. 2010. Lgi1 null mutant mice exhibit myoclonic seizures and CA1 neuronal hyperexcitability. Human molecular genetics, 19, 1702-11.

ZHAN C, K. R., LOYO-BERRIOS N, SANGL J, BRIGHT RA 2007. Zhan C, Kaczmarek R, Loyo-Berrios N, Sangl J, Bright RA. Incidence and short-term outcomes of primary and revision hip replacement in the United States. J Bone Joint Surg, Mar;89-A(3):526-33.

ZHU, S., LIU, H., WU, Y., HENG, B.C., CHEN, P., LIU, H. & OUYANG, H.W. 2013. Wnt and Rho GTPase signaling in osteoarthritis development and intervention: implications for diagnosis and therapy. Arthritis Research and Therapy, 2013 15:217.

ZHU, Y., ZHANG, F., CHEN, W., ZHANG, Q., LIU, S. & ZHANG, Y. 2015. Incidence and risk factors for heterotopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty: a meta-analysis. Archives of orthopaedic and trauma surgery, 135, 1307-14.

ZULIANI-ALVAREZ, L. & MIDWOOD, K. S. 2015. Fibrinogen-Related Proteins in Tissue Repair: How a Unique Domain with a Common Structure Controls Diverse Aspects of Wound Healing. Advances in wound care, 4, 273-285.

# **APPENDIX A**



The Committee questioned whether the rights would be retained to use the data from all users including commercial companies and that it would be available on the database, as stated in the application.

You replied that, if companies were to use samples from the bank they would have to comply with the RTB policy.

Members informed you that if this was insisted upon then companies may not deal with the BioBank. It was suggested that the wording was changed to '...all results may be available in the database...' to allow for leeway for commercial studies.

You were asked to confirm whether or not Hepatitis A or HIV samples would be accepted.

You replied that these samples would not be accepted only were known to be positive for Hepatitis A or HIV, and that there would be no testing of the samples for these diseases.

The Committee then discussed your responses further and felt that the you had addressed many of the ethical concerns adequately.

### Ethical opinion

The members of the Committee present gave a favourable ethical opinion of the above research tissue bank on the basis described in the application form and supporting documentation.

The following points are recommended changes only and are not mandatory:

- Amendment of the wording to '...all results may be available in the database...' to allow leeway for including commercial studies.
- Composition of the steering group to include a patient representative, service user or researcher representative, and member of the local HTA governance committee.
- Addition of information to the Participant Information Sheet regarding how the participant can withdraw at a later stage, if they wish to.
- Amendment of the Participant Information Sheet so that 'BioBank' is used instead of 'Research Project' to make it clear this is for multiple research projects.
- The use of Validated Questionnaires for the different participant populations this would constitute a substantial amendment to the study.

The Committee has also confirmed that the favourable ethical opinion applies to all research projects conducted in the UK using tissue or data supplied by the tissue bank, provided that the release of the tissue or data complies with the attached conditions. It will not be necessary for these researchers to make project-based applications for ethical approval. They will be deemed to have ethical approval from this committee. You should provide the researcher with a copy of this letter as confirmation of this. The Committee should be notified of all projects receiving tissue and data from the tissue bank by means of an annual report.

Duration of ethical opinion

The favourable opinion is given for a period of five years from the date of this letter and provided that you comply with the conditions set out in the attached document. You are advised to study the conditions carefully. The opinion may be renewed for a further period of up to five years on receipt of a fresh application. It is suggested that the fresh application is made 3-6 months before the 5 years expires, to ensure continuous approval for the research tissue bank.

# Approved documents

The documents reviewed and approved at the meeting were:

Document	Version	Date
Covering Letter	Stacy Young (Research Coordinator)	23 April 2010
REC application	IRAS Version 2.2 20923/114909/3/848	23 April 2010
Protocol for Management of the Tissue Bank	V1.0	20 April 2010
Participant Information Sheet: Participant Information Sheet - Metabolic Bone Centre Collection	v1.0	20 April 2010
Participant Information Sheet: Participant Information Sheet - Orthopaedic Collection	v1.0	20 April 2010
Participant Consent Form: Consent Form - MBC Patients	v1.0	20 April 2010
Participant Consent Form: Consent Form - Orthopaedic Patients	v1.0	20 April 2010
Human Tissue Authority Licence	Licensing Number: 12182	05 January 2010
MBC Questionnaire	v1.0	20 April 2010
Orthopaedic Questionnaire	v1.0	20 April 2010
EQ-5D Questionnaire	v1.0	20 April 2010
Oxford Hip Score	v1.0	20 April 2010
Oxford Knee Score	v1.0	20 April 2010
Withdrawal of Consent Letter	v1.0	20 April 2010
Confirmation of Destroyed Samples Letter	v1.0	20 April 2010

# Licence from the Human Tissue Authority

Thank you for providing a copy of the above licence.

# Research governance

A copy of this letter is being sent to the R&D office responsible for Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

Under the Research Governance Framework (RGF), there is no requirement for NHS research permission for the establishment of research tissue banks in the NHS. Applications to NHS R&D offices through IRAS are not required as all NHS organisations are expected to have included management review in the process of establishing the research tissue bank.

Research permission is also not required by collaborators at tissue collection centres (TCCs) who provide tissue or data under the terms of a supply agreement between the organisation and the research tissue bank. TCCs are not research sites for the purposes of the RGF.

Research tissue bank managers are advised to provide R&D offices at all TCCs with a copy of the REC application for information, together with a copy of the favourable opinion letter when available. All TCCs should be listed in Part C of the REC application.

NHS researchers undertaking specific research projects using tissue or data supplied by the research tissue bank must apply for permission to R&D offices at all organisations where the research is conducted, whether or not the research tissue bank has ethical approval.

Site-specific assessment (SSA) is not a requirement for ethical review of research tissue banks. There is no need to inform Local Research Ethics Committees.

#### Membership of the Committee

The members of the Ethics Committee who were present at the meeting are listed on the attached sheet.

# Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees (July 2001) and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

# After ethical review

Now that you have completed the application process please visit the National Research Ethics Service website > After Review

Here you will find links to the following:

- a) Providing feedback. You are invited to give your view of the service that you have received from the National Research Ethics Service and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the website.
- b) Annual Reports. Please refer to the attached conditions of approval.
- c) Amendments. Please refer to the attached conditions of approval.

We would also like to inform you that we consult regularly with stakeholders to improve our service. If you would like to join our Reference Group please email referencegroup@nres.npsa.nhs.uk

10/H0606/20

Please quote this number on all correspondence

Yours sincerely

Mr Robert West Chair

E-mail: laura.kirkbride@sotw.nhs.uk

# **APPENDIX B**

	Health Research Autho
	NRES Committee South Central - Oxf Level 3, Whitefriars I
	Lewin Telephone: 01173
29 April 2015	
Professor Mark Wilkinson Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NH Metabolic Bone Centre Sorby Wing, Northern General H Herries Road, Sheffield S5 7AU	IS Foundation Trust Hospital
Dear Professor Wilkinson	
Title of the Research Tissue E REC reference: Designated Individual: IRAS project ID:	3ank: SYNDMB renewal 2015 15/SC/0132 Professor Simon Heller 170670
The Research Ethics Committee 2015. Thank you for attending to	e reviewed the above application at the meeting held on 24 April o discuss the application.
We plan to publish your researc together with your contact detail of this favourable opinion letter. studies that receive an ethical o wish to make a request to defer Miss Lauren Allen, nrescommitt Under very limited circumstance unfavourable opinion), it may be study.	h summary wording for the above study on the HRA website, ls. Publication will be no earlier than three months from the date The expectation is that this information will be published for all pinion but should you wish to provide a substitute contact point, or require further information, please contact the REC Manager ee.southcentral-oxfordc@nhs.net. es (e.g. for student research which has received an e possible to grant an exemption to the publication of the
Ethical opinion	
The members of the Committee tissue bank on the basis descrik subject to the conditions specifie	present gave a favourable ethical opinion of the above research bed in the application form and supporting documentation, ed below.
The Committee has also confirm projects conducted in the UK us release of the tissue or data cor these researchers to make proje to have ethical approval from th this letter as confirmation of this tissue and data from the tissue	ned that the favourable ethical opinion applies to all research sing tissue or data supplied by the tissue bank, provided that the nplies with the attached conditions. It will not be necessary for ect-based applications for ethical approval. They will be deemed is committee. You should provide the researcher with a copy of . The Committee should be notified of all projects receiving bank by means of an annual report.

# Conditions of the favourable opinion

The favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the study.

 Please include the following sentence in the Participant Information Sheet. 'Samples may be used for laboratory research, if you wish to know more about this research then please ask a member of the study team.'

 Please insert the REC name 'South-Central Oxford C' in the section 'Who has reviewed the project?' in the PIS.

You should notify the REC in writing once all conditions have been met (except for site approvals from host organisations) and provide copies of any revised documentation with updated version numbers. The REC will acknowledge receipt and provide a final list of the approved documentation for the study, which can be made available to host organisations to facilitate their permission for the study. Failure to provide the final versions to the REC may cause delay in obtaining permissions.

## Research governance

Under the Research Governance Framework (RGF), there is no requirement for NHS research permission for the establishment of research tissue banks in the NHS. Applications to NHS R&D offices through IRAS are not required as all NHS organisations are expected to have included management review in the process of establishing the research tissue bank.

Research permission is also not required by collaborators at tissue collection centres (TCCs) who provide tissue or data under the terms of a supply agreement between the organisation and the research tissue bank. TCCs are not research sites for the purposes of the RGF.

Research tissue bank managers are advised to provide R&D offices at all TCCs with a copy of the REC application for information, together with a copy of the favourable opinion letter when available. All TCCs should be listed in Part C of the REC application.

NHS researchers undertaking specific research projects using tissue or data supplied by the research tissue bank must apply for permission to R&D offices at all organisations where the research is conducted, whether or not the research tissue bank has ethical approval.

Site-specific assessment (SSA) is not a requirement for ethical review of research tissue banks.

Summary of discussion at the meeting

Social or scientific value; scientific design and conduct of the study

The Committee asked how useful the tissue bank had been so far.

You responded that there were currently 30 studies using the blood, serum and urine samples as well as prospective collections of waste tissue from joint replacement surgery. You considered that the resource was critical in enabling researchers to be able to carry out their studies.

Recruitment arrangements and access to health information, and fair participant selection

The Committee was unclear whether any paediatric samples would be collected for the tissue bank.

You clarified that it was an adult only biobank. If there was a study involving children's bone disease that had obtained consent for tissue to be stored in a biobank after the research had been completed, then these samples would be considered for entry. You confirmed that there would not be any primary collection of samples from children.

Care and protection of research participants; respect for potential and enrolled participants' welfare and dignity

The Committee noted that the samples could be used for animal research; however, this was not made clear in the Participant Information Sheet or consent form.

You explained that the samples would not be used for cloning, only standard animal model work. You acknowledged that the current wording was subtle and this was approved as part of a Substantial Amendment to the Protocol three years ago. You further explained that you had been encouraged not to use the words animal testing as some people had strong views against this.

The Committee explained that there had historically been attacks on researchers in Oxford from animal rights campaigners, which was the reason why researchers were encouraged at the time not to mention animal research in documents that were in the public domain. However, the HRA's position now was for greater openness so that those who did not wish for their samples to be used for animal research could opt-out. The Committee advised that it would suggest a form of words that could be used.

You stated that you would be happy to incorporate the new wording. You informed the Committee that no-one had declined to enter the research so far because of an objection to animal research.

Informed consent process and the adequacy and completeness of participant information

The Committee was unclear why so many different Participant Information Sheets were needed. It was suggested that these could be reduced to 1 or 2 information sheets.

You answered that because the saliva sample was collected remotely the information sheet for this needed to be kept separate. You also needed the wording of the waste tissue information sheet to be slightly different to the information sheets for collection of blood, serum and urine samples.

The Committee was satisfied with this response.

The Committee noted that the REC name needed to be included in the information sheets.

Suitability of supporting information

The Committee commented that the letter for withdrawal of samples was very well-written and clear. You were asked if this had ever been used.

You confirmed that it had never been used, but the mechanism was there if needed.

The Committee requested confirmation of the composition of the steering committee and whether there were any lay members.

You responded that every application to use the resource needed to have lay approval and applicants to the tissue bank were required to provide a lay summary which would be available for public viewing. There was one lay member on the steering committee who reviewed the applications.

The Committee explained that it usually required there to be at least two lay members on the steering committee. The Committee asked whether it would cause any problems if it requested for there to be another lay member.

You replied that there were other lay people on the advisory panel who could fill in if needed. You agreed that a suggestion to add another lay member rather than a requirement would be helpful.

### Duration of ethical opinion

The favourable opinion is given for a period of five years from the date of this letter and provided that you comply with the standard conditions of ethical approval for Research Tissue Banks set out in the attached document. You are advised to study the conditions carefully. The opinion may be renewed for a further period of up to five years on receipt of a fresh application. It is suggested that the fresh application is made 3-6 months before the 5 years expires, to ensure continuous approval for the research tissue bank.

### Approved documents

The documents reviewed and approved at the meeting were:

Document	Version	Date
Human Tissue Authority licence		05 January 2010
IRAS Checklist XML [Checklist_19022015]		19 February 2015
Other [PIS Ortho]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [PIS saliva donation]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [Consent form Ortho]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [Consent postal saliva]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [EQ5D]	1.1	31 January 2015
Other [Oxford Hip Score]	1.0	31 January 2015

Other [Oxford Knee Score]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [Generic questionnaire]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [Invitation letter MBC]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [Invitation letter orthopaedics]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [Invitation letter postal saliva donation]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [invitation letter prev pts or res part]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [appointment letter]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [Withdrawal of consent]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [confirmation of destroyed samples]	1.0	31 January 2015
Other [Postal donation instructions letter]	1.0	31 January 2015
Participant consent form [Consent MBC]	1.0	31 January 2015
Participant information sheet (PIS) [PIS MBC]	1.0	31 January 2015
Protocol for management of the tissue bank	1.0	31 January 2015
REC Application Form [RTB_Form_19022015]		19 February 2015
Summary of research programme(s)	1.1	02 February 2015

Licence from the Human Tissue Authority

Thank you for providing a copy of the above licence.

Membership of the Committee

The members of the Ethics Committee who were present at the meeting are listed on the attached sheet. There were no declarations of interest.

### Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

# After ethical review

# Reporting requirements

The attached standard conditions give detailed guidance on reporting requirements for research tissue banks with a favourable opinion, including:

- Notifying substantial amendments
- Submitting Annual Progress reports

The HRA website also provides guidance on these topics, which is updated in the light of changes in reporting requirements or procedures.

User Feedback

The Health Research Authority is continually striving to provide a high quality service to all applicants and sponsors. You are invited to give your view of the service you have received and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the HRA website: http://www.hra.nhs.uk/about-the-hra/governance/guality-assurance/ **HRA Training** We are pleased to welcome researchers and R&D staff at our training days - see details at http://www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-training/ 15/SC/0132 Please quote this number on all correspondence Yours sincerely Henn PP Professor Nigel Wellman Chair E-mail: nrescommittee.southcentral-oxfordc@nhs.net List of names and professions of members who were present at Enclosures: the meeting and those who submitted written comments Standard approval conditions Professor Simon Heller, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Copy to: Foundation Trust A Research Ethics Committee established by the Health Research Authority

# NRES Committee South Central - Oxford C

# Attendance at Committee meeting on 24 April 2015

# Committee Members:

Name	Profession	Present	Notes
Dr Leonard Brookes	Consultant to the Pharmaceutical Industry	Yes	
Miss Gemma Davison	Solicitor	Yes	
Dr Avinash Gupta	Clinical Research Fellow	No	
Mrs Rebekah Howe	Farmer	Yes	
Mrs Vivienne Laurie	Barrister	Yes	
Mrs Susan Lousada	Company Director (Property) & Non-legal member of first-tier tax tribunal	Yes	
Mr Barry Muir	Retired NHS Management Consultant	No	
Dr Lee Potiphar	Clinical Trials Manager	Yes	
Professor David Scott	Pharmacist	Yes	
Dr Sabeena Sharma	Consultant Anaesthetist	Yes	
Dr Surjeet Singh	Clinical Trials Coordinator	Yes	
Ms Kayleigh Stanbury	Trial Coordinator and Developmental Assessor	Yes	
Professor Nigel Wellman (Chair)	Professor of Health and Human Sciences	Yes	

# Also in attendance:

Name	Position (or reason for attending)
Miss Lauren Allen	REC Manager
Miss Maria Ayeni	Observer
Dr Liesl Osman	Observer

# **APPENDIX C**



#### 07/H0606/150

# NHS

investigator CV	Dr A Carr	
Protocol	1	
Covering Letter		29 October 2007
Covering Letter		01 November 2007
Letter from Sponsor		25 October 2007
Peer Review		
Questionnaire: Data Collection Form	5	18 October 2007
Letter of invitation to participant	3	24 October 2007
GP/Consultant Information Sheets	2	24 October 2007
Participant Information Sheet	4	17 December 2007
Participant Consent Form	4	17 October 2007
Response to Request for Further Information		17 December 2007
Letter from Funder		01 October 2007

## R&D approval

All researchers and research collaborators who will be participating in the research at NHS sites should apply for R&D approval from the relevant care organisation, if they have not yet done so. R&D approval is required, whether or not the study is exempt from SSA. You should advise researchers and local collaborators accordingly.

Guidance on applying for R&D approval is available from http://www.rdforum.nhs.uk/rdform.htm.

## Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees (July 2001) and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

# After ethical review

Now that you have completed the application process please visit the National Research Ethics Website > After Review

Here you will find links to the following

- a) Providing feedback. You are invited to give your view of the service that you have received from the National Research Ethics Service on the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the website.
- b) Progress Reports. Please refer to the attached Standard conditions of approval by Research Ethics Committees.
- c) Safety Reports. Please refer to the attached Standard conditions of approval by Research Ethics Committees.
- d) Amendments. Please refer to the attached Standard conditions of approval by Research Ethics Committees.
- e) End of Study/Project. Please refer to the attached Standard conditions of approval by Research Ethics Committees.

We would also like to inform you that we consult regularly with stakeholders to improve our service. If you would like to join our Reference Group please email referencegroup@nationalres.org.uk.

This Research Ethics Committee is an advisory committee to South Central Strategic Health Authority The National Research Ethics Service (NRES) represents the NRES Directorate within the National Patient Safety Agency and Research Ethics Committees in England.

07/H0606/150	Please quote this number on all correspondence
With the Committe	ee's best wishes for the success of this project
Yours sincerely	
and.	0
Mrs Janet Burton	n
Chair	
Enclosures:	Standard approval conditions
	Site approval form
Copy to:	Ms Heather House, Clinical Trials Unit, Manor House, John Radcliffe Hospital
	852

LIST OF SITES WIT studies requiring site-specific assessment, this form is issued by 1 ing subsequent notifications from site assessors. For issue 2 anw eference number: 07/H0606/150 Issue number: investigator: Dr John Loughlin Investigator: The arc/OCEN Studu - A nonne with assessor	Oxfordshire REC C TH A FAVOURABLE ETHICAL OPI the main REC to the Chief Investiga ards, all sites with a favourable optin	NON	
I studies requiring site-specific assessment, this form is issued by t ing subsequent notifications from site assessors. For issue 2 aniw eference number: Investigator: Investigator: The arc/OCEN Studu - A nervone wite assess	the main REC to the Chief Investiga ards, all sites with a favourable opwi 		
eference number: 07/H0606/150 Issue number: Investigator: Dr John Loughlin The arcOCEN Stridu - A nervone with second		tor and sponsor with the favo on are listed, adding the new	urable opinion letter r sites approved.
Investigator: Dr John Loughlin Its of etudor: The archOEN Study - A nervore with second	-	Date of issue:	03 January 2008
Its of study. The proDGEN Study - A nanoma wide second			
see and - Chine and - Chine and - Chine and -	ciation study of osteoarthritis		
oal Investigator Post Research site	Site assessor	Date of favourable opinion for this site	Notes (1)
sor Andrew Carr Nutfield Professor of Nutfield Orthopa Orthopaedics Centre NHS Tru	edic Oxfordshire REC C st	03/01/2008	
ndrew McCaskie Professor of Orthopaedic The Newcastle u Surgery Surgery Foundation Trus	upon Newcastle & North VHS Tyneside 2 Research the Ethics Committee	03/01/2008	
ved by the Chair on behalf of the REC: a sapplicable) a sapplicable)	(Jag		

# **APPENDIX D**

Office use only: Study ID:	Initials:				
----------------------------	-----------	--	--	--	--

# Musculoskeletal BioBank Ethnicity Questionnaire (STH15691)

Please note we are not asking about citizenship or nationality but about the ethnic group to which you feel you belong. All information received will be used and treated in the strictest confidence. The level of care you will be offered at this hospital will not be affected by your decision to complete this form. If you have any queries please speak to a staff member. Otherwise please complete the form below by ticking the box of the ethnic group you feel you belong to. If you feel you are descended from more than one group **please tick** the one that you feel you belong to, or choose the 'any other group' option.

Wh	ite	
А	British	
В	Irish	
С	Any other white background	
Mix	ed	
D	White and Black Caribbean	
Е	White and Black African	
F	White and Asian	
G	Any other mixed background	
Asian or British Asian		
Н	Indian	
I	Pakistani	
J	Bangladeshi	
К	Any other Asian background	
Bla	ck or Black British	
L	Caribbean	
М	African	
Ν	Any other black background	
Oth	er ethnic groups	
0	Chinese	
Ρ	Any other ethnic group	

# Thank you for completing this questionnaire

# APPENDIX E

	SPØRRESKJEMA FØR STUDIEDELTAKELSE
	A
	Pasientens initialer og fødselsår.
	Pasient identitetsnummer.
	Data for utiviling date
	Earland country of birth
	Mothers - 11 -
	faithers - 11-
	Fars fadeland
	Etnisk gruppe: Etnisk norsk Norw Pgra-
	ethnic group I Annet (spesifiser) other Specify.
	(Spørsmålene over er tatt med fordi arvematerialet som vi samler inn skal sammenholdes med DNA fra en kaukasisk befolkning)
Smoking	Røyker du? 📩 Ja 🗋 Nei 📩 Har røkt tidligere
	Diabetes? Ja Nei Hours been Samaking.
	Din hayde? huci)+ri
	Din voko? weisht
51	Har du hanvar ka dan andra hofan?
21	Difficultures with other hup?
52	Er det andre årsaker bi at du har gangproblemer? 🛄 Ja 📋 Nei (For eksempel smerter fra andre ledd, ryggsmerter, hjerte-karsykdom eller andre sykdommer som påvirker gang-evnen din) Officier orans end for dufficiel try wolltage
	Nedenfor og på neste side er ytterligere spørsmål som angår din fornøydhet, ditt aktivitetsnivå og din arbeidssituasjon før og etter operasjonen(e). Spørsmålene i grått gjelder bare de som er operert mer enn én gang <u>Co. hig folkt frikon</u> ?
53	Kryss av for hvordan du i dag vurderer nytten av sktisfied with the prostiver?
VE	Meget god
G	Ged 2
£	Hverken god eller dårlig
3	Darlig U
VB	Meget dârig

# Tilleggsspørsmål

Det har vært mange som har kommet med ekstra opplysninger i forbindelse med spørreskjemaet som ble sendt ut i den første forsendelsen. Dette setter vi stor pris på. Det ville være til stor nytte for oss om de to ekstra spørsmålene under kunne bli besvart av alle.

 Vet du om du har søsken eller foreldre som har fått satt inn en primær totalprotese på grunn av artrose? Have Remely had THK for aller bis

Pla Mor	P22 Oppgi antali hvis du har flere: المعر المعربين
برین 2) Har du ha	had pailpables after newsian att senplager etter revisjonen?
P2Y Nei □ P25 Ja □	P26 Hvilke type senplager? What a the pattern

Kommentar

# **APPENDIX F**

Ove Furnes Ortopedisk avdeling Haukeland universitetssykehus	
5021 Bergen	
Deres ref Vár ref Dato 2008/10018-ØYSV 08.09.2008	
Ad. prosjekt: Arvelighet ved løsning av hofteproteser (188.08).	
Det vises til din søknad om godkjenning av forskningsprosjekt, datert 14.08.08 og søknad om opprettelse av forskningsbiobank, datert 14.08.08.	
Komiteen behandlet søknaden i møte den 28.08.08.	
De regionale komiteene for medisinsk og helsefaglig forskningsetikk foretar sin forskningsetis vurdering med hjemmel i Forskningsetikklovens § 4. Saker vedrørende forskningsbiobanker behandles i samsvar med Biobankloven. Saksbehandlingen følger Forvaltningsloven.	ke
Komiteen mener at dette er en uproblematisk studie. En har ingen merknader til forelagt protokoll.	
Spørreskjemaet til deltakerne er ikke lagt ved i søknaden. Komiteen ber om å få tilsendt spørreskjemaet.	
Vedtak:	
Prosjektet godkjennes i samsvar forelagt søknad. REK Vest forutsetter at søknad om opprette av forskningsbiobank godkjennes av Helsedirektoratet.	:/se
REK Vest tilrår at forskningsbiobanken blir opprettet.	
Komiteen ber om å få tilsendt sluttrapport evt. trykt publikasjon for studien.	
Komiteens vurdering av søknad om opprettelses av forskningsbiobank videresendes Helsedirektoratet for endelig vedtak der.	
Postadresse         rek-vest@uib.no         Regional komité for medisinsk.         Besøksadresse           Postboks 7804         www.et/kkom.no/REK         og helsefaglig forskningsetilik,         Haukeland Universitetss           5020 Bergen         Org no. 874 789 542         Vest-Norge         Des posiciones and posiciones an	ykehus
Leneton 25 31, 94 37, 138 1.38	e 1 av 2

side 2 av 2

Vennlig hilsen

aund Sust Arnold Berstad nestleder

Øystein Svindla førstekonsulent

Kopi: Hdir